“In addition to being thoroughly aware
of the work under one’s responsibility,
the governmental officials shall have a clear conscience
what is right or wrong and beneficial or non-beneficial.
Then, the government’s work which is the work
of the nation can correctly progress,
accomplish and truly achieve the desired benefits
of virtue and prosperity for the country and its people.”
The Royal Guidance of His Majesty the King
Maha Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun
on the Civil Service Day, March 24th, 2018
at the Amphorn Sathan Residential Hall, Dusit Palace

The portrait of His Majesty King Maha Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun,
which was granted royal permission to depict on the front side of the 17th series of
Thai banknote in all denominations.
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Promoting a stable financial environment to achieve sustainable
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Thailand’s sustainable economic well-being
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Message from the Chairman
of the Bank of Thailand Board
The year 2018 marked an important year of
the Bank of Thailand (BOT). It is with our utmost
gratitude to be granted the royal permission to
depict the royal portrait of His Majesty King Maha
Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun on all
denominations of the 17th series of Thai banknote the first banknote series in the reign of King Rama 10
and the greatest pride of the BOT. Furthermore, the
BOT continued carrying out its duties in response
to the royal guidance “continue, maintain, build
on and create happiness for the Thai people” to
press forward with the aspiration and works of His
Majesty the Late King Bhumibol Adulyadej.
Despite volatilities and uncertainties from
external factors, the BOT continued to pursue central
bank mission, especially in preserving sustainable
economic stability. The BOT enhanced its excellence
in knowledge, human resource, and various tools to
keep up with evolving changes, new technologies and
cyber threats, which were the global challenges. The
BOT also emphasized data transparency and good
governance to ensure public trust in maintaining
economic stability of the country.
Regarding the implementation of the BOT’s 3-year
Strategic Plan (2017 - 2019), the BOT Board, together
with three Policy Committees, namely the Monetary
Policy Committee (MPC), the Financial Institutions
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Policy Committee (FIPC) and the Payment Systems
Committee (PSC), focused on (1) creating a stable
economic and financial environment by developing
better comprehensive financial stability frameworks
and policy instruments as well as strengthening
the supervision of financial institutions to address
increasing risks; (2) promoting inclusive development
and sustainable economic growth towards digital
economy by revising regulations; and (3) enhancing
internal excellence by encouraging the utilization of
data analytics, the preparedness of human resource
and the effectiveness of work process that can be
readily applied for future challenges.
Overseeing the BOT’s overall activities and
operations, the BOT Board aimed to achieve
greater efficiency of official reserves management
in a cautious manner in this volatile and uncertain
global economic and financial situation. The BOT
also promoted cooperation among international
organizations and government agencies, for
example, the renewal of the 2nd Bilateral Swap
Agreement (BSA) with the People’s Bank of China
(PBC) and the revision of BSA between the BOT and
Japan’s Ministry of Finance.
Alongside the aforementioned achievements,
the BOT Board put emphasis on promoting good
governance. The operations over the past years
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focused on proactive risk management by escalating
balance sheet vulnerability to be an organizational
risk which required close monitoring. Moreover, the
BOT revised internal audit’s rules and regulations in
order to increase transparency of the procedure and
ensure that the BOT operated efficiently, effectively,
transparently and in line with the sufficiency
economy philosophy.
The BOT’s operations over the previous year
were considered a success. Overall, the Thai
economy achieved a satisfactory growth, amidst the
challenging political and global economic contexts as
well as rapid changes in technological advancements,
which had an impact on human behaviour and
business model.
Finally, on behalf of the BOT Board, I wish to thank
all BOT Board members, management and staff for
your commitment and dedication throughout 2018,
which resulted in the accomplishment of the Strategic
Plan and the BOT’s missions. These also contributed
towards a stable economic growth in pursuit of Thai
people’s sustainable economic well-being.

Mr. Porametee Vimolsiri
Chairman of the Bank of Thailand Board
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Message from the Governor
of the Bank of Thailand
The year 2018 was the year the BOT was
exceptionally proud of, as His Majesty King Maha
Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun granted
the royal permission to issue the 17th series banknotes
- the first series in the reign of King Rama 10, to
celebrate the monarchy of the Chakri Dynasty. It
was the first time in Thailand’s banknote production
history that every involved sector put great effort
and dedication resulted in the completion of the
entire production process and the circulation of all
denominations within a year. In addition, the 1000
baht banknote won the Best New Banknote award at
the High Security Printing forum.
T he year 2018 marked the second year of the
implementation of the 3-year Strategic Plan (2017 2019). I am pleased to announce that several aspects
of our duties flourished substantially and beneficially
to the Thai economy and society which can be divided
into the following three important areas.
(1) Preserving Thailand’s economic and financial
stability Despite extreme volatilities in the global
financial and capital markets throughout 2018,
Thailand’s economy was able to grow in line with
its potential. This was because Thailand possessed
economy stability, especially the strong external
stability, adequate international reserves, low external
debt, and the current account surplus. These were
considered to be important immunities that served as
a cushion against external volatilities. Going forward,
being aware that volatilities in the global financial
and capital markets were deemed persistent, the
BOT stressed on fostering an ecosystem that allowed
greater efficiency of foreign exchange mechanisms,
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increasing ease of doing business for business sector
together with continuing regulatory reform on foreign
exchange regulations to facilitate more balanced
capital flows.
P reserving economic stability, the BOT closely
monitored developments and various risks. In 2018,
Thailand’s overall financial stability remained sound.
The Thai baht was stable in comparison with other
major currencies. Inflation returned to the target
range and remained low. Thai people’s purchasing
power and asset value were not depreciated. However,
some signs of vulnerabilities were detected, for
instance, “search-for-yield” behavior in real estate
sector during the prolonged period of low interest rate,
the vulnerability in the mortgage loan market, the rise
of household debt, and the fall in saving. To maintain
economic stability, the BOT integrated various policy
tools, namely monetary policy, macroprudential,
and microprudential measures. In December 2018,
the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) raised the
policy interest rate by 0.25 percent for the first time
in seven years in view of the situation that low policy
interest rate became less necessary when Thailand’s
economic expansion aligned with its potential. The
BOT also improved the macroprudential measures on
the mortgage loan to match risks. These integrations
of policy tools would eliminate vulnerabilities in the
financial system, which, without preventive measures,
could create a burden to Thai people in the future.
 aintaining financial institutions and payment
M
system stability, the BOT strengthened supervision
measures in many aspects, for example, the ongoing
oversight of financial institutions, behaviors and
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organizational cultures, and financial institution
boards assessment. The BOT also enhanced the
readiness for coping with cyber and IT security, which
were the major threats to modern financial world, by
requiring IT experts in financial institutions’ board
committee, and information system examination to
be taken annually in order to support the great leap
in mobile payments, which rose from 21 million
accounts two years ago to 47 million accounts as of
the end of 2018.
(2) Promoting Thailand’s financial system
development towards a digital economy by
encouraging competitions, innovation, and
one-stop digital services to provide cost-effective,
inclusive, and fair services for Thai people The
BOT recognized the importance of building an
ecosystem that encouraged innovation and took
the initiative to reform outdated regulations, which
posed obstacles to development. The first was digital
banking regulations. The BOT revised supervision
measures from rule-based to principle-based to create
opportunities for financial institutions to initiate
innovation and be able to launch their products faster
under appropriate risk oversight. The second was
financial services for SME. Financial institutions were
allowed to utilize information apart from financial
statements for credit approval. This would help SMEs
to access to funding easier. Risk management would
be more efficient. In 2018, the BOT pushed forward
several Financial Technology (FinTech) cooperative
projects, namely Thailand Blockchain Community
Initiative, Scripless Bond Project that utilized
blockchain technology, Central Bank Digital Currency,
and Biometrics authentication.
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L ooking back to the beginning of the BOT’s
3-Year Strategic Plan, the project that accelerated
the development of Thailand’s financial system was
“PromptPay”, which was regarded as the money
transfer and payment system infrastructure. This
new payment platform boosted competition among
financial institutions and led to the exemption of
transaction fee. Consequently, the fee charge of Thai
payment systems became among the lowest in the
world. Currently, PromptPay account registration
numbered over 46 million. Furthermore, the BOT
and the financial sector developed “Thailand’s
Standardised QR Code Payment Platform.” More
than 3 million shops accepted payment via QR Code.
In 2018, the BOT supported further developments of
PromptPay and QR Code to benefit Thai businesses
and consumers in several ways. Notable examples
were the e-Donation project to promote good
governance in money donation and the “Request to
Pay” service to support e-Commerce businesses.
 eveloping sustainable and fair financial systems
D
The BOT witnessed more concrete results. The BOT
encouraged financial institutions to incorporate
the concept of “sustainability” in conducting their
businesses. As a “credit” provider, the financial
sector had a potential to improve the quality of Thai
society and mitigate their business risks, arising from
problems in the society, for instance, household debt
and good governance. In 2018, the BOT ensured good
market conduct for financial service consumers. In
other words, Thai consumers had the right to receive
fair service, sufficient information for decision making,
and not being required to purchase specific products,
wich are incompatible with their needs. In addition,
the BOT and financial institutions introduced the Basic
Banking Account project to reduce inequality and to
help unbanked low-income and senior citizen to open
bank accounts without fees. The BOT also hosted
Bangkok Sustainable Banking Forum for the first time
which allowed stakeholders to exchange their views
on sustainable banking.
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(3) Enhancing internal excellence Achieving the
BOT’s mission could be difficult if organisational
cultures and staff did not adapt themselves to keep
up with the rapidly-evolving world. One of the key
matters was creating a good-listener attitude among
staff. The BOT needed to sincerely listen to its
stakeholders since we were the public policy regulator.
Therefore, the BOT followed the Regulatory Impact
Assessment (RIA) framework to ensure that the policy
legislation was the optimal solution. Moreover, in
the era that information had a greater role, the BOT
stressed on data analytics, utilised data from every
available database, and collaborated with other related
agencies such as Customs Department, Ministry of
Labour, National Credit Bureau and Legal Execution
Department. These data were then incorporated to
analyse the overall economy and support policy
decisions.
L astly, the BOT is well aware that policy
implementation cannot be successful without
the public understanding of the BOT’s policies
and duties. Consequently, the BOT focused on
communication through simplified contents that
matched various target audiences as well as using
varieties of communication channels to keep up
with the changing behaviors of the public and new
technology. Furthermore, the opening of the BOT
Learning Center did transform a “restricted area” into
a “public area”. Now, this building have welcomed the
public to participate in activities and exchange various
fields of knowledge, including financial management,
economics, technology, art, religion, and history.
The year 2018 was another year the BOT took
pride in laying the foundation to preserve sustainable
well-being for Thai people, Thai businesses and Thai
society.

Mr. Veerathai Santiprabhob
Governor, Bank of Thailand
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Despite volatilities and uncertainties from external factors,
the BOT continued to pursue central bank mission,
especially in preserving sustainable economic stability.
Mr. Porametee Vimolsiri
Chairman of the Bank of Thailand Board
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Despite the global economic context, which is rapidly changing
and highly uncertain against external volatilities,
we have to be cautious and well-prepared.
The important immunity is to have adequate international reserves.
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Executive Summary*

Economic and Financial Development
T he year 2018 was another year that the economic
context appeared challenging. Overall, the world
economy kept expanding at a slower pace when
compared to the previous year. This was partly due
to US trade protectionist policies and its trading
partners’ responses, which began to affect the global
trade, rising uncertainty over Brexit and political
situations in the European Union, and China’s
economic restructuring, which caused Chinese
economic slowdown. Meanwhile, the US monetary
policy normalization brought about volatilities in
global financial and capital markets, especially
among emerging countries. Without strong financial
fundamentals, the impacts on Thailand’s economy
could be severe.

In 2018 the Thai economy showed a favorable
beginning and continually expanded at 4.1 percent
rate. Key growth drivers were private consumption,
which included expanding consumption and
investment. There was an improvement in private
investment attributed to boosting efficiency and
expanding production capacity. In addition, public
investment in rail infrastructure helped stimulate the
economy. On the other hand, exports were likely
to decelerate due to sluggish global trade and the
growth in tourism was lower than the previous year
because of a significant decrease in the number of
Chinese tourists.
P romoting economic recovery and inclusive
development, the BOT focused on creating stable
economic and financial environment, supporting
normal functioning of the market mechanism,

*The Bank of Thailand Annual Report 2018 is prepared and submitted to the Bank of Thailand Board, to serve as the report of the
Bank of Thailand Board to the Minister of Finance in accordance with Section 57 paragraph two of the Bank of Thailand Act. The
report outlines results of the BOT’s operations in the previous year along with the Audit Committee, auditor’s report and financial
statements as of 31 December 2018. According to Section 25 of the Bank of Thailand Act, the Bank of Thailand Board is authorized to
oversee the BOT’s overall activities and operations to achieve the objectives set forth in Section 7. An exception is made for activities
and operations of the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC), the Financial Institutions Policy Committee (FIPC) and the Payment Systems
Committee (PSC).
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improving Thai economic and financial systems by
using financial innovation to increase effectiveness
and accessibility to financial services for Thais, and
developing the organization and staff regularly to be
ready to face the challenges in the rapidly changing
economic and social contexts.

Monetary Policy
T hailand’s domestic economic stability remained
sound. The average annual headline inflation and
core inflation were 1.07 and 0.71 percent, respectively,
increasing from the previous year and moving toward
the target range. The unemployment rate declined
from last year because of increased employment
both in the agricultural and non-agricultural sectors.
In general, the stability of the corporate sector was
considered intact and aligned with the constantly
growing economy.
T he BOT maintained accommodative monetary
policy stance in 2018 to support Thai economy
expansion to be in line with its potential, to foster
headline inflation to move within the inflation target,
while also maintain the stability of the financial
system. Throughout the first seven meetings of the
year, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted
to maintain the policy interest rate at 1.50 percent.
At their eighth meeting, the MPC assessed that
there was the continuity of Thai economic expansion
around its potential on the back of domestic demand,
and that headline inflation would move toward the
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target range. Therefore, the policy rate was raised
to 1.75 percent in December 2018.
In addition, the BOT implemented macroprudential
measures in conjunction with the policy interest rate
adjustment to warrant financial stability. The BOT
also stressed on monitoring foreign exchange to
help business adjust to global economic volatilities.
Thailand’s external stability was strong, as
reflected by the current account surplus, which
decreased from last year according to the balance
of trade. In addition, the external debt to GDP ratio
stayed low, compared to international standard, and
the international reserves to short-term external debt
ratio stood high. These strong external stabilities
served as buffers that helped cushion the Thai
economy against volatilities and uncertainties as well
as reduced negative compared to other emerging
countries or neighboring countries.
ตัวเลขเงินส�ำรองระหว่างประเทศปี 2554-2561

Financial Institutions
The BOT aimed to strengthen the Thai financial
institutions’ system by supervising financial
institutions to address risks appropriately and
maintain their stable funds as well as encouraging
financial innovation for better services. In 2018,
credits and credit quality improved in line with the
gradual economic recovery. The financial institutions
system was stable with sufficiently high levels of
reserves, capital funds, and liquidity for the next
phase of credit expansion. In 2018, the BOT initiated
various key projects, for instance:
Bank of Thailand
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• The supervision of risk and stability of
financial institutions system, for example, issuing
regulations on corporate governance, which covered
qualifications and roles of the board members and
senior management, and mechanisms for operational
support and internal control, which helped Thai
financial institutions foster a corporate culture that
emphasizes risks, fairness, and transparency.
• The stability of the financial and macroeconomic
system, for example, amendment of regulations on
supervision of mortgage loans to enhance financial
institutions’ credit underwriting standards and
mitigate the speculation in the real estates, which
may lead to systemic risks.
• The efficiency of financial services, for example,
reforming the regulations of financial institutions
oversight to comply with the Regulatory Impact
Assessment (RIA) framework to promote the
utilization of technology for financial innovation
development, the efficiency in providing services
and cost-effective services for consumers.
• Financial inclusion, for example, revision of
regulations on personal loan under supervision to
improve public access to car title loans at affordable
prices and with fair service. In addition, the launch
of basic banking accounts encouraged low-income
earners and senior citizens to access financial services
at more reasonable and affordable prices.
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• The development of central infrastructure for
debt restructuring – Debt Clinic Project to solve
problems associated with credit card and personal
loan debts with many creditors, which were normally
difficult to negotiate.
• International cooperation, the BOT participated
in the Financial Sector Assessment Program
(FSAP) in order to ensure that the financial sector’s
development guidelines in Thailand were in line
with Thai financial and economic context, Thai
economy, and international standards. Moreover,
to promote international collaboration, the BOT
pushed forward the bilateral negotiations on the
establishment of Qualified ASEAN Banks to expand
business opportunities for Thai commercial banks
by leveraging the ASEAN economic and financial
interconnectedness.

Payment Systems


Another important policy directive of the BOT
is Payment Systems policy. The BOT aims to
improve the payment systems efficiency, reduce
risks associated, enhance user protection, and uplift
the supervisory standard to match international
standards. In 2018, the BOT has achieve numerous
significant progresses, as illustrated below:
• PromptPay and Card Usage Expansion Project
under the National e-Payment Master Plan – to
significantly reduced funds transfer cost for the Thai
people, particularly the exemption of some transfer
fees of banks.
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The opening of e-Donation project held in Bangkok Sustainable Forum on 23 July 2018

• Driving the use of Quick Response Code (QR
Code) - for payments and funds transfer. The BOT
fostered cooperation between international payment
card network providers, financial institutions, and
card network and payment services providers in
Thailand.
• Developing the use of Thai QR Code Payment
- Phase II - for credit and debit cards. The BOT
allowed additional seven QR Payment projects to exit
the Regulatory Sandbox* and launched to the public.
• Electronic donation system (or e-Donation) a joint project between the Revenue Department
Financial institutions, National ITMX Co., Ltd.
and the BOT. This project aimed to improve good
governance of money donation in Thailand, to
become more transparent, accurate and convenient
for tax deductions purpose.
• Promoting the use of Standard QR Code in the
CLMV and the ASEAN community – to strengthen
regional payment connectivity in line with the
EMVCo** standard.

• The BOT together with the ASEAN central
banks pushed forward international payment service
systems collaborations through banks and non-banks
by revising regulations to facilitate greater flows in
cross-border payments.
• Establishing the framework and direction for
the BAHTNET system development, which is a
payment system for high-value transactions within
a period of 3-5 years.
• Adjusting BAHTNET to support the SWIFT
standards release 2018 – to enable faster, more
transparent, and traceable cross-border payment
services provided by financial institutions.
• Truncation of special cheque exchange (eliminate
the need for physical cheques by using imaged
cheque clearing) for clearing via the ICAS to reduce
the country’s costs.
• Developing bond market infrastructure by
initiating the Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT)
Scripless Bond project to pilot the uses of blockchain
technology for the first time.

* Regulatory Sandbox is a financial service playground for testing financial innovation (FinTech) within the restricted business
scope while being monitored by the BOT
** EMVCo is a global technical body that oversees and supports international payment networks, which comprises American
Express, Discover, JCB, MasterCard, UnionPay, and Visa.

Bank of Thailand
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Press Conference on the Banknote Issuance on 3 July 2018

Banknote Issuance and Management
Even though electronic payments have increased
rapidly in Thailand, the usage of banknotes kept
increasing at a slower rate. In 2018, the BOT ensured
an adequate circulation of banknotes in the economic
system. One of the important duties was to print and
issue the new series of banknotes (series 17) in all five
denominations for the first time on 28 July 2018. This
series of banknotes was designed to commemorate
the monarchy of the Chakri Dynasty. It was a great
pleasure that the 1000-baht banknote in the 17th
series won the Regional Banknote award in the Best
New Banknote category, at the annual meeting of
High Security Printing Asia 2018 in Hanoi, Vietnam.
This award was given to banknotes with outstanding
design and innovative anti-counterfeit technology.
In addition, the BOT stressed on researches
and development of counterfeit deterrent features,
security inks, substrates, and substitute new
materials, taking into account resource saving and
environmental conservation. This included the
improvement of the banknote management process
to enhance the organization’s excellence. In 2018,
the result of the Thailand Quality Award (TQA)
assessment was higher than that of 2017.
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Improvement on
Official Reserve Management
 midst volatilities in the global economy, the
A
BOT administrated official reserves with caution to
safeguard the exchange rate stability. Meanwhile,
appropriate return and risk management will be
ensured. The BOT closely monitored and analyzed
economic and financial situations, foreign exchange
rates, interest rates, and asset prices to improve
reserve management efficiency. In addition,
quantitative and macroeconomic modeling were
adopted to achieve higher returns and lower reduce
financial risks.
Consumer Protection and Financial Literacy
The BOT recognized people’s basic right to receive
fair financial services. Therefore, the BOT’s key duties
in this aspect are as follows:
• Issuing market conduct regulations - to
improve the service quality which covered endto-end processes. Furthermore, the BOT published
information about financial products for retail
customers on the Financial Consumer Protection
Center website (www.1213.or.th) and on the Bank
of Thailand website (www.bot.or.th) to ensure that
people have enough information for decision making
when considering financial products and services.
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The MOU signing ceremony on Payment System and Financial Technology collaboration
between the Bank of Thailand and The National Bank of Cambodia

• Equipping public with financial literacy, such
as financial planning, financial threats both online
and offline. The BOT also partnered with several
partner organizations, aiming to broaden financial
literacy to a wider range of audiences through more
accessible channels.

• Promoting preventive financial literacy among
Gen Y by organizing the competition “Fin. Dee We
can do!!!” for teachers and vocational students to
propose and execute the financial knowledge in their
daily lives. The BOT also introduced the pilot project
“Salaryman Can Do” which covered knowledge in
personal financial planning, debt management, as
well as encouraging saving habits.

The MOU signing ceremony on the financial institution supervisions with Indonesian Financial Institution Supervisors

Bank of Thailand
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• Communicating the BOT’s policies using simple
languages, channels that matched with people and their
changing behaviors, such as digital media (the BOT’s
website), social media (Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter),
and other traditional media (BOT Magazine) to reach out
to stakeholders
• Organizing permanent exhibitions at the Bank
of Thailand Learning Center, namely H.H. Prince
Vivadhanajaya Memorial and BOT Money Terminal.
The learning center was awarded the 2018 Thailand’s
Best Economics Museum from the National Discovery
Museum Institute (Museum Siam).

International Economic
and Financial Cooperation
Amid the interconnected and complex global
economic and financial contexts, the BOT recognized
the importance of cooperation among central banks and
stakeholders at global, regional and bilateral levels. In
2018, the BOT involved in the Free Trade Agreements
(FTA), for example, the ASEAN Trade in Services
Agreement (ATISA) and the Regional Comprehensive
Economic Partnership (RCEP). Next, in order to support
the increasing transactions across Asia, the BOT launched
the local currencies settlement framework between Bank
Indonesia, Bank Negara Malaysia, and the BOT. This
helped lower foreign exchange costs. In addition, the BOT
cooperated with Japan’s Ministry of Finance to encourage
the use of local currencies to support commercial banks’
ability to manage foreign exchange costs.

Regional Economic and Financial Operations
The BOT’s offices are located in three regions of
Thailand, namely, the North, the Northeast, and the South,
to monitor and analyze regional economies, investigate
facts, conduct in-depth studies, exchange information with the business sector, and coordinate with government
and private agencies in the area. They also create understanding about the BOT’s policy implication, educate
and alert locals in the areas continuously about financial threats, as well as drive economic connectivity with
neighboring countries.

Policy Research Enhancement and Preparing for Change
The BOT focused on database generation, knowledge and research, particularly research which supported
evidence-based policy. Thus, the BOT hosted national academic forums to develop and disseminate interesting
academic works on policies, fostered networks of academics and thought leaders, as well as arranged press
16
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briefings to connect researchers to the public. The BOT continued to provide research grants, enhanced the
use of Big Data and data analytics for knowledge-based policy-making, for example, the behavioral analysis
on household debt. The BOT also supported cooperation on dissemination and exchange of information
among organizations using Open Data API (Application Program Interface) technology. Moreover, the BOT
prepared to tackle cyber threats and ensure the efficiency of the information technology system to support
the organization’s mission.
All these operations aimed to create a stable economic and financial environment that fosters inclusive
and sustainable development for the well-being of Thai people.
Bank of Thailand
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What the Thai people benefited from the BOT’s operations in 2018
• Stable growth
• Enabling financial development
Royal Decree
on Digital
Assets

Thai Economy

• Innovative solutions
to better serve
Payment
Macroprudential
cutomers – faster,
Systems Act policy on housing
more secured and
loans
lower costs
Financial Institutions
• Public confidence
from international
การประเมิน
best practices
ภาคการเงินไทย
Sustainable
(FSAP
in supervision
Banking
and regulation,
Regulatory
amid higher risk
Impact
environment
Assessment
(RIA)
• Sustainable banking
awareness
Data

Policy makers

Foreign
exchange
risk
management

SMEs
Local
currency
Financial
literacy
& warning

Website to
compare
financial
products

New banknotes Basic Banking
King Rama X
Account

นักเรียนอาชีวะ

analytics

• Policy coherence
• More holistic view of
linkages in the economy
• Better use of data and
research in policy
formulation

Request
to pay

Data API

Research

Financial
consumer
protection

• Greater convenience
and lower cost of
money transfer
• Better awareness
and access to FX risk
management tools
• Reduced cost and risk
in trade settlement

Debt Clinic

BOT
Symposium

International
Conferences
BOT’s 75th year
anniversary

BOT Learning
Center

Business Sector

Thai People

• Access to basic financial services and make
informed financial decision
• Convenient, fast, and lower-fee financial
services
• Improved financial literacy and immunity.
Better access to personal debt resolution
• Confidence in banknotes & financial service
transactions

In 2018, the Thai economy continued to face multiple challenges, which included fluctuations in the global
economy, international trade sentiments, record-high household debt across the world, policy normalization
and geopolitical risks. Financial and capital markets were volatile throughout the year driven by such
factors. Emerging markets whose economy remained fragile experienced large capital outflows and
sharp currency depreciation. Meanwhile, the leapfrog in technological advancement greatly impacted
the lifestyles of the people in the society and changed the business models in various industries, including
the financial services.
In such complex environment, the BOT, as the central bank, was determined to drive and establish strong
foundation for the Thai economy to achieve stable and inclusive economic growth in pursuit of Thailand’s
sustainable economic well-being.

Thai people and business sector
In 2018, the Thai people and business sectors were able to make plan and operate as planned due to
stability of the Thai economy, amid global volatilities and unpredictability. Compared to other emerging
countries’ currencies, “Thai Baht” remained stable. The purchasing power and real asset value of the Thai
people did not diminish as inflation rate stayed low and Thai baht remained firm against major currencies.
In addition, the Thai society benefited, in both short and long term, from the BOT’s actions to mitigate
risks and buildup of imbalances that could potentially pose problems in the future. Without prompt action,
such imbalances could build up to become a burden to the Thai society and undermine economic well-being
of the Thai people.
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The Thai people and business sector received better
financial services, i.e. more convenient, faster, and more
secured. They could access a payment system with one
of the lowest fees in the world, the “PromptPay.” Such
new choice of payment system opened up strong
competition among the service providers and eventually led
the industry to waive the transfer fees. Besides, PromptPay
allowed for better customer and business solutions, e.g.
interbank bill payment and request to pay.

In addition, the Thai people also received financial
services with more fairness as the BOT strengthened market
conduct supervision, making sure that information on
financial products were comprehensible, straightforward
and adequate enough for consumers to make appropriate
decision. At the same time, the Thai people aged over
65 years old and low-income people, who once had no
bank accounts, could now have access to the basic banking
accounts which had no fees. These accounts served as the
first step to access other financial products and services.
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The Thai people and business sector benefited from the Foreign Exchange Regulatory Reform, started
since 2017, which helped simplify business processes and reduce transaction costs. In addition, the
Thai SMEs could better access credit and other financial services as a result of the BOT’s regulatory reforms
on SME financing. Moreover, Thai small and medium-sized businesses had additional choice of FX hedging
instruments, for example, they could buy FX options (right to buy or sell foreign currency) to secure the
exchange rate with a sponsored option premium up to 50,000 baht per business entity. This would cover
import or export value of 4.75 million baht approximately.
The Thai society as a whole was able to leverage on BOT’s repository of knowledge. In 2018, various research
were conducted and many papers were published, contributing to explicit and effective policy formulation,
forefront of knowledge and stylized facts reflecting
the Thai economy in various aspects.
Financial literacy of the Thai people and business
sector was also improved as the BOT continued to
educate the people on financial literacy and provide
warnings on new forms of financial risks. For those
suffered from multiple credit card debts or personal
debts with various creditors which would normally
be difficult to negotiate, the Debt Clinic Project gave
them the chance to resolve their debt and start new
lives. Moreover, the Thai people were able to enjoy
the new BOT learning center, a public space designed
to inspire people to share knowledge through
various activities on diverse issues, including
personal finance, finance and economics, disruptive
technologies, arts, religions, and history.
The year of 2018 also marked a special occasion
in which the first series of Thai banknotes under the
reign of King Rama X were issued into circulation in
all 5 denominations. Also, it was the first time that all
denominations can be issued within the same year.
The 1000-Baht banknote was awarded “The Best
New Banknote Award” at an international forum for
its design and Counterfeit deterrent technologies.

Thai society and overall economy
In 2018, the Thai society and the overall Thai
economy were able to thrive due to a stable, wellfunctioned and immuned economic and financial
system, financial institution system and payment
system. Many policies were implemented and
20
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projects were initiated. The actions taken included, among others: elevation of cyber security standard,
macroprudential measures on housing loans, improvement of market conduct regulations on credit cards
and personal loans, and the extended coverage of The Debt Clinic Project. Moreover, financial institutions
were increasing awareness of the sustainable banking concept. Applying such concept would help improve
the sustainability of their business, reduce the strategic risks of public scrutiny, and prepare them for future
standards and regulations.

Moreover, in 2018, the Thai society and the overall Thai economy were able to enjoy less cost of cash
management and were simplified work process with less documentation as a result of the Regulatory Reforms
on SMEs financing and digital banking. Such regulatory reforms helped support innovation and new financial
services, shortened time-to-launch for new financial products and enabled banks to dynamically align their
business model with technology development and ongoing changes in customer needs.
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The First Series of Banknotes in the Reign of King Rama X
The ascension to the throne of King Maha Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun, King Rama X of the
Chakri Dynasty, marked as an important event in Thai history.
In this regard, the Bank of Thailand was granted the royal permission from His Majesty King Maha
Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun to print and issue the new series of Thai banknotes into circulation
as the circulating banknotes. This series of banknotes is designed to honor all Kings of the Chakri Dynasty.
The first series of banknote in the Reign of King Rama X or series 17 includes five denominations and all
denominations were completely issued on 28 July 2018.
The main portrait in the front of the banknotes depicts the portrait of His Majesty King Maha Vajiralongkorn
Bodindradebayavarangkun in the Royal Thai Air Force uniform. The reverse side of each denomination
depicts the portraits of two Kings per each denomination chronologically, along with their memorable royal
duties images as elements to honor the Kings of the Chakri Dynasty.
This new series of banknote was developed with aesthetic design together with state-of-art technology
for counterfeit deterrence. To ensure the smooth changeover, the size and color of banknotes remained the
same, whereas most security features were continually used in this current series. The advanced counterfeit
deterrent features were incorporated including the Optically Variable Magnetic Ink, firstly adopted in this
circulating Thai banknotes, along with the security thread creating a moving effect of geometric pattern and
changes color when tilting the banknote.

HM the King’s portrait watermark and the translucent denomination can be clearly observed
when viewing the note against the light.

The color-shifting security thread is embedded in the banknote, changes colors upon tilting. When held up against a light,
the whole thread becomes visible. It also contains numerals and letters denoting the banknote’s denomination.

With the outstanding design and counterfeit deterrent technologies, the new 1000 baht banknote has
won “The Best New Banknote Award” at the High Security Printing Asia 2018, the international conference
held in Hanoi, Vietnam. This 1000 baht banknote was awarded for its unique printing technology and that
was a great pride of the nation.
22
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Encouraging innovation and development is the best immunity
to safeguard economic stability in the long-term. Without a vigorous
process for innovation creation, Thailand’s economic system would not be
able to keep abreast with the rapidly evolving world.
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1. Overall Achievements and Corporate Governance
of the Bank of Thailand Board

The Bank of Thailand Annual Report 2018 serves as the report of the Bank of Thailand Board to the
Minister of Finance in accordance with Section 57 paragraph 2 of the Bank of Thailand Act (BOT Act).
The report outlines the results of the BOT’s operations in the previous year along with the Audit
Committee’s report, the auditor’s report and financial statements as of 31 December 2018. The Bank of
Thailand Board is authorized under Section 25 of the BOT Act to oversee the BOT’s overall activities
and operations to achieve the objectives set forth in Section 7 with the exception of activities and
operations under the purview of the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC), the Financial Institutions
Policy Committee (FIPC) and the Payment Systems Committee (PSC).
Volatile, uncertain, complex and
ambiguous environment in 2018
continued to pose challenges to the
Bank of Thailand in pursuing its
mission in promoting a stable financial
environment to achieve sustainable
and inclusive economic development.
These challenges, stemmed mostly
from external factors, included the
U.S. trade protectionism, uncertainties
in monetary policy of major advanced
economies (G3), and changes in
human behavior, business model and
economic system as a result of rapid
technological advancement
1
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The Bank of Thailand Board (the BOT Board)
focused on the central bank’s mission to maintain
a stable financial environment and lay foundations
for the Thai economy that would help promote
a sustainable and inclusive development while
transitioning to the digital economy. In addition,
the BOT Board placed emphasis on fostering
internal excellence and improving communication to
enhance stakeholders’ understanding on the BOT’s
policy implementation under the BOT’s three-year
Strategic Plan (2017 - 2019). Furthermore, the BOT
Board continued to underscore the importance
of strengthening the BOT’s risk management and
promoting good governance within the organization.

1.1 Implementation of the Bank of Thailand’s
3-year Strategic Plan (2017 - 2019)
The BOT Board, together with the three Policy
Committees, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Oversight Committee reviewed the BOT’s threeyear Strategic Plan with an aim to ensure that the
Plan was in line with the Thailand 20-year National
Strategic Plan and Reforms, and remained relevant
under current economic and social context, as well
as the rapid changes in technology.
Stability: the BOT Board focused on developing a
comprehensive framework and policy toolkit that can
be readily and effectively deployed in maintaining
financial stability. In addition, the BOT Board placed
emphasis on upgrading the supervision of financial
institutions in response to new forms of risks, e.g.
cyber threats in financial sector, and ensuring the
security and continuity of payment systems.
Development: the BOT Board promoted
competition and innovations to help reduce costs
in the financial system and facilitate the transition
towards digital economy. In this connection, the BOT
Board underscored the importance for the BOT to
reduce and modernize regulations while increasing
financial access with strengthened consumer
protection.
Internal Excellence: the BOT Board acknowledged
the importance of enhancing capacity on data
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analytics to support evidence-based policy. As
such, the Board recognized the need to prepare
human resource to meet future challenges with more
efficient, and modern work processes.
Moreover, the BOT Board placed emphasis
on putting in place a more systemic stakeholders
engagement along with effective communication
to develop better understanding and greater
collaboration with strategic stakeholders.

1.2 Enterprise Risk Management
Amid the highly uncertain financial and economic
context, the BOT Board managed risks proactively
in particular on risks that may affect the BOT’s
operation in the future. In this connection, the
BOT Board approved the establishment of a risk
management policy framework, comprising risk
policy statement, and risk appetite, together with
greater clarity on roles and responsibilities of the
Risk Oversight Committee.
The BOT Board reviewed an enterprise risk
assessment for 2018. While the BOT’s balance
sheet vulnerability has not affected the central
bank’s credibility, the BOT Board escalated such
vulnerability to be an organizational risk that
required close monitoring. To this end, a working
group was established to monitor and evaluate
the impact from balance sheet vulnerability, as
well as consider appropriate approach to reduce
vulnerability in the BOT’s balance sheet and enhance
public understanding on this issue.

1.3 Reserve Management
In addition to a rigorous risk management
mechanism, the BOT Board remained committed
to managing the official reserve in a prudent and
cautious manner, especially under rapid changes
in global financial and economic conditions. In
this regard, the BOT Board reviewed institutional
benchmark and approved country allocation
strategies with a phase-in approach to facilitate
risk diversification and more efficient reserves
management.
Bank of Thailand
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Seminar on Promoting the use of Local Currency

1.4 Supporting the Implementation
of Foreign Policies
The BOT Board promoted collaboration with
international organizations. In 2018, the BOT
continuously worked together with foreign
government agencies, resulting in the second renewal
of the Bilateral Swap Agreement (BSA) with the
People’s Bank of China. Furthermore, the BOT also
revised the BSA with the Minister of Finance of Japan
which would help strengthen the regional financial
arrangements and promote the use of local currencies
to reduce the costs of international transaction.
Moreover, the BOT transferred its deposit at the
International Monetary Fund to assist eligible lowincome countries affected by catastrophes.
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1.5 Promoting Good Governance
The BOT Board continuously promoted good
governance within the organization. In 2018, the
approval of the revised rules and regulations related
to internal audit provided greater transparency in
internal audit procedure.
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2. Overall Achievements in 2018

In 2018, the BOT invested efforts in implementing the 3-year Strategic Plan (2017 – 2019) which could
be divided into three areas, namely Stability, Development and Internal Excellence. The key milestones
can be summarized below.

2.1 Preserving Economic Stablilty
through three key policies - monetary policy, financial institutions policy and payment systems policy

Monetary Policy
The cabinet approved the annual average headline inflation of 2.5 ± 1.5 percent as the monetary policy
target for the medium-term and for 2018, as jointly agreed between the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)
and the Minister of Finance. The MPC conducts monetary policy under the flexible inflation targeting
framework which aims to maintain medium-term price stability and promote economic growth, as well as
to preserve financial stability. In 2018, the annual average headline inflation was 1.07 percent moving toward
the inflation target owing to higher energy prices in tandem with global crude oil prices and higher demand
for goods and services following gradual expansion of the Thai economy.
The BOT maintained accommodative monetary policy stance in 2018 to support the Thai economy and
to foster inflation to move within the target, while also preserved financial stability. The MPC voted to
maintain the policy rate at 1.50 percent throughout the first seven meetings in 2018. In the eighth meeting, the
MPC voted to raise the policy rate to 1.75 percent with on assessment that the Thai economy would continue
to grow at the level consistent with its potential on the back of domestic demand and that headline inflation
moved toward the target. Most members viewed that the need for extra accommodative monetary policy as
in the previous period had reduced. A slight reduction in the degree of monetary policy accommodation
would not hinder economic and inflation outlook in the period ahead, but would help curb financial stability
risks and adjust consumption, saving, borrowing, and investment behavior, which would support long-term
economic sustainability. Moreover, the policy rate increase would also help build up policy space.
Bank of Thailand
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Challenges and rationale for raising the policy interest rate in 2018
In deliberating appropriate monetary policy, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) considers various
factors thoroughly including policy trade-offs between economic growth, inflation, and financial stability
as well as other risks comprehensively. More importantly, the trade-off between short-term and longterm impacts must also be considered. In addition to stabilizing the business cycles in the short term,
the key mandate of the central bank is to preserve macroeconomic stability in the long run.

Thailand’s business cycle over the past
During the global financial crisis in 2009, the Thai
economy contracted by 0.7 percent. As a result, the MPC
decided to cut the policy rate to 1.25 percent, the lowest in
the Thai economic history, to help support the economy.
When the economy started to recover, the MPC gradually
increased the policy rate to 3.5 percent in 2011 until the
great flood hit the economy, causing the economy to grow
that year at only 0.8 percent. At the same time, political
conflict had yet to resolve. Fiscal policy was softened since
the government budget could not be disbursed as usual.
The MPC deemed that monetary policy should play a role
in supporting the economy and thus decided to cut the policy rate. The MPC continued to reduce the policy
rate gradually until the rate reached 1.5 percent in 2015. The policy rate, then, had been held at 1.5 percent
for more than three years afterwards with an assessment that accommodative monetary policy was necessary
to support economic growth and to allow headline inflation to move toward the target.

The Thai economy strengthened from the past, growing around potential with inflation
moving toward target
Economic condition and outlook at the current juncture is different from the past. During 2017 - 2018,
the economy continued to grow consistent with its potential and headline inflation moved toward the target
(within the 1-4 percent target range). Consequently, in the last meeting of 2018, the MPC decided to raise
the policy rate by 0.25 percent to 1.75 percent - the first rate hike in seven years. This also marked the end
of the historically longest down cycle of the policy rate.

The MPC assessed economic conditions and rationale behind this policy rate hike as follows.
First, the continuity of economic expansion was sufficiently strong consistent with its potential and was
able to withstand a 0.25 percent increase in the policy rate. Despite the policy rate hike to 1.75 percent,
the present level was quite low compared with the past and those of other countries. Meanwhile, headline
inflation had returned to the target range.
Thus, the MPC viewed that the need for extra-accommodative monetary policy had reduced and a less
accommodative monetary policy stance to some extent would help curb financial stability risks. Such risks
30
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were due to the ultra-low interest rate for a prolonged period which induced economic agents to search
for higher yields and could underprice risks. In addition, the policy rate increase would help rebalance the
financial system by generating more appropriate return for savers and support the Thai economy to expand
with a transition toward aging society in a sustainable manner.
Second, some aspects of financial stability risks warranted monitoring in the current context such as
loosening credit standards, household debt vulnerability, and a low level of savings. The use of monetary
policy in conjunction with implementation of some macroprudential measures, for example the revision in
mortgage-lending regulation, would help preserve financial stability more effectively.
Third, a policy rate increase, when appropriate, would help build policy space amid rising uncertainties
in the economic and financial systems in the period ahead especially on the external front. In the case of an
economic crisis, the policy rate can be cut to an ultra-low level to help stimulate the economy.

External stability allowed Thailand some room to hike the policy rate later than neighbors
There is a question whether the policy rate hike by the MPC was early or late compared with other
central banks.
Over the past three to four years, the global economy showed clear signs of recovery. Many central banks
started to “normalize” their policy rates toward their normal levels. The Fed’s policy rate normalization
since December 2015, three years prior to the MPC’s first hike, had called global attention with worldwide
impacts on the back of strong economic recovery and healthy employment conditions. Meanwhile, among
Asian countries, South Korea was the first nation to start raising its policy rate in the late 2017, followed by
Malaysia and the Philippines.
In case of Thailand, the MPC
could hike the policy rate later
than other countries partly due to
Thailand’s macroeconomic stability—
in particular, the strong external
stability. This was reflected in a
sufficiently high level of international
reserves, sustained current account
surplus, and a manageable level of
external debt. These factors served as a cushion for Thailand against external shocks and allowed Thailand’s
monetary autonomy to emphasize on domestic needs. On the other hand, many countries, especially those
in emerging markets, needed to raise their interest rates early for certain reasons. For example, Indonesia
raised its interest rate due to rapid currency depreciation and concerns about capital outflows after the Fed’s
four-time rate hikes in 2018.
Looking ahead, the MPC viewed that the accommodative monetary policy would remain appropriate for
supporting economic growth. Moreover, the policy rate increase would be gradual and not in a continuous
manner as in the past. The MPC would follow a data-dependent approach and closely monitor Thai and global
economic developments in heightened uncertainties, financial stability, and associated risks in deliberating
appropriate monetary policy in the period ahead.
Bank of Thailand
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The Bank of Thailand and the Solution
to Household Debt Problem
Last year, despite the stable expansion in Thailand’s household debt, the rate was considered at a high
level of 77.8 percent of GDP or 114.6 percent of national income (as of the 3rd quarter of year 2018),
which was in the top ranks among the regional peers. It is even more worth-worrying after the study of
Puey Ungphakorn Institute for Economic Research revealed that, according to the information from the
National Credit Bureau (NCB), “Thai people were in debt at younger age, for longer period of time, and
in a larger amount than before.”
(1) Thai people were in debt at younger age and
have the NPL since young. Half of the population in
the age of 30 had debts from personal and/or credit
card loans while one -fifth of the people with NPLs
were first-jobbers in the age of 29.
(2) Thai people were in debt for a prolonged
period. The size of debt per capita tended to surge
from the age of late 20s to 30 years old and remained
high throughout the working age and did not
subside when they were about to retire.
(3) Thai people had a larger amount of debts
than before. The median size of debt per capita
had doubly increased from 70,000 Baht at the end
of year 2010 to approximately 150,000 Baht at the
end of year 2016.
In addition, the vulnerability of Thai household
sector was also reflected by the proportion of a
number of people trapped in the NPL circle. More
than 16 percent or approximately 3 million people
faced the 90+ day delinquency status and were in
debt collection or legal process.
T he BOT realized the importance of household
debt and considered it as a structural problem that
needed to be taken care of. The economy system
driven by debt, especially personal debt, might
help stimulate the economic growth in the short
term, however, it led to higher risks on long-term
sustainability. The high levels of debts hold back
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consumer spending, affected purchasing power,
and, on the individual level, caused distress and
difficulty in focusing on working. As a result, these
issues could lead to productivity failure on the
organizational and national level.
T herefore, the household debt problem is
the crucial complication which cannot be solely
solved by macroeconomic approaches such as debt
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reduction, debt extension, and suspension of debt repayment. People should also change their spending
and borrowing behaviors. In view of these concerns, the BOT has implemented measures in the following
3 dimensions.
T he 1st dimension: Encouraging responsible lending among financial institutions. Financial institutions
must consider the borrower’s level of debt as well as ability to repay, without forcing them to buy products
or extending unnecessary credit in a way to create higher debt, which can become their own NPL. Thus,
the BOT introduced regulations on financial institutions supervision for credit card loans, personal loans,
mortgage loans, and auto loans and tightened the supervision of financial products marketing. Customers
had the right to receive adequate and accurate information about their financial products. Besides, the interest
rates must not be too high to ensure fair treatment for customers.
In addition, the financial institutions’ underpricing risks in loans led to the loosening of credit underwriting
standards on mortgage loans, i.e. discounted mortgages, top-up loans. Stimulating excessive liquidity in real
estate created misunderstanding on the gradual rise in the housing price. This artificial demand affected the
affordability of people who really want
to own a house. In order to cope with
these issues, the revisions of supervision
regulations on mortgage loans were
introduced at the end of 2018 (effective
in April 2019). In this light, the BOT also
focuses on communicating with general
public, entrepreneurs, and financial
institutions.
T he 2nd dimension: Creating
opportunities for debtors to exit bad
debt cycle. The BOT cooperated with
The Thai Bankers’ Association, the
Association of International Banks, and
the Sukhumvit Asset Management Co.
Ltd. (SAM) to establish “Debt Clinic
Project”, a one-stop-service national
infrastructure to assist debtors with credit
card and unsecured personal loans with
multi-creditors to pay off debts. SAM is
responsible for debt restructuring, which
normally is difficult to negotiate because
of different criteria among lenders.
As of December 2018, the Debt Clinic
has accomplished 1,087 cases of debt
restructuring.
Bank of Thailand
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T he scheme’s second phase will expand to cover credit card and personal loans from non-bank lenders
to improve the project efficiency. This is because over 70 percent of debtors have credit card and personal
loans. Several non-bank financial institutions are also aware of the importance of the Debt Clinic Project in
helping troubled debtors. It is expected that the debtors of non-banks will be able to join the scheme by the
2nd quarter of 2019.
T he 3rd Dimension: Promoting financial literacy and financial discipline to encourage proper financial
planning and prevent overspending. It is widely accepted that financial literacy is one of crucial skills among
other life skills, especially for younger generations. It is no less important than technology literacy, linguistic,
and other necessary skills. Enhancing financial literacy goes beyond providing knowledge. It requires lifelong
learning to enable capability to manage financial affairs in accordance with needs in each life stage and to
make sound decisions when choosing financial products.
T he BOT has been proactively promoting financial literacy to general public through various measures.
However, in 2018, its primary target was younger financial consumers in Generation Y. Vocational college
students and first jobbers were 2 main target groups as they play an important role in Thailand’s economic
development. Besides, they also have the potential to become ‘Change Agents’ or role models of the community
in which they can influence proper financial behavior. Cultivating appropriate financial behavior also includes
building personal financial resilience which allows ones to be able to soundly handle unexpected financial
difficulties. To accomplish this mission, the BOT has collaborated with the Thai Bankers’ Association (TBA),
Office of the Vocational Education Commission, Foundation of Virtuous Youth, and other strategic partners.
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In addition to the policy rate
increase in 2018, the BOT implemented
several macroprudential measures
to promote sound economic and
financial systems. Those measures
were, for example, the revised
mortgage-lending regulation, which
aimed to address and prevent buildup of vulnerabilities in the real estate
sector resulting from competition
in mortgage loan extension, and
collaboration with other regulatory
agencies to enhance supervision
and regulation standards for saving
cooperatives. Some pockets of
risks in the financial system were
addressed to a certain extent by
the implemented macroprudential
measures. Nevertheless, developments in the mortgage loan market, adjustments in the real estate sector,
household debt accumulation, and the continued search-for-yield behavior under the prolonged low interest
rate environment could lead to underpricing of risks.
Under rising volatilities in the financial and capital markets, the BOT monitored and ensured that the
baht movement would be in line with economic fundamentals and business operation would not be
hindered by excessive volatility. Moreover, the BOT regularly communicated to the private sector, especially
SMEs, to raise awareness of appropriate foreign exchange rate (FX) risk management. The BOT also promoted
businesses to better understand how to use FX hedging tools and to access such tools at a reasonable cost.
In 2018, the BOT continued to pursue the second phase of FX risk management project for SMEs from
the previous year, with government subsidy for hedging fees. In addition, the BOT also continued the FX
regulation reform project from the previous year to facilitate ease of doing business and to encourage more
balance of capital inflows and outflows.

Product Champion Seminar, the second phase of FX risk management project for SMEs
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Regulatory Adjustment on Mortgage Loan
to prevent Systemic Risks
Intensifying competition in Thai residential mortgage market has increased the willingness of financial
institutions to accept higher risks and to loosen their credit underwriting standards, for example, by
granting mortgages without requiring down payments and by offering cashback loans to borrowers.
Amidst the recent prolonged periods of low interest rate environment, “search for yield” behavior has
surged prominently among individual investors, who seek to generate additional returns by investing in
real estate properties (artificial demand), however, such behavior could be seen as a sign of “underpricing
of risks” among investors in residential real estate market.
Recent data suggested that the share of borrowers with two or more outstanding mortgages has risen
significantly, and which currently stands at approximately 20 percent of new mortgages granted in the same
period. Loosened underwriting standards have caused the quality of residential mortgage loans to deteriorate,
reflected by the ratio of gross non-performing loan (NPLs) to total residential mortgage loans that had showed
a substantial increase from 2.19 percent in 2014 to 3.25 percent at the end of 2018.
Demand from investors was the key
catalyst behind the recent price increase in
่ผ่อนบ้าน คอนโด
รู้หรือไม่? จ�พร้ำนวนคนที
the Thai residential real estate market, which
อมกันหลายหลัง เพิ่มขึ้นต่อเนื่อง
inevitably led to lower housing affordability,
especially, among first-time homebuyers
who failed to keep up with pace of rising
22%
house prices. However, similar dilemma
were evident across other jurisdictions,
where authorities in charge decided to
deploy several macroprudential policy
responses to prevent any further negative
externalities and to curb down vulnerabilities
in their domestic property markets. It could
be observed that special attention from regulators have been directed towards the real estate sector as there
has been a record from the IMF that more than fifty crises over the last ten years, including the Subprime
Crisis, stemmed from the real estate sector.
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As a result, the BOT had introduced a revision to its existing Macroprudential policy tools, with the
primary aim of preventing risk buildups in the real estate sector from spreading to the wider economy.
In light of the current revision, the BOT employed the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) framework to
ensure an appropriate policy formulation process, including risk identification, policy designation, and public
consultation engaging with various stakeholders such as consumers, financial institutions, and property
developers. The BOT then took into consideration the public consultation comments and suggestions mostly
issued on effective date, definition of the second mortgage, and a minimum down payment for the second
and the third contract, and implemented final version of the new measures summarized as follows;
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1. A minimum down payment or loan-to-value ratio
(LTV ratio) for second and above mortgage contracts and
for residential properties with values equivalent to or
above 10 million baht has been imposed. For the second
mortgage with values below 10 million baht, a minimum
of 10 percent down payment will be required given the
previous outstanding mortgage has been active and installed
for at least three years. If the previous outstanding mortgage
has been active and installed for less than three years, a
minimum of 20 percent will be applied. A minimum of 20
percent also applies to the first and second mortgage of
properties with values equal to or above 10 million baht.
For third and above mortgages, regardless of the property
values, a minimum of 30 down payment must be provided.
2. Apart from mortgage loan, top-up loans are also
considered in the LTV ratio calculation to reflect total
exposures of the same collateral. However, two types of
top-up loans are exempted: (1) Mortgage Reducing Term
Assurance (MRTA) and non-life insurance related to
mortgages, which are applied to mitigate risks for both
borrower and lender, and (2) business loan to support
financial access of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs).
3. The new macroprudential measures are effective on
April 1, 2019. A waiver will be granted to a mortgage with
sales and purchase agreement signed before October 15,
2018 when the measures are publicly announced.
In conjunction with these new macroprudential measure
on residential mortgages, the Monetary Policy Committee
(MPC), in December 2018, raised the policy rate by 0.25
percentage point from 1.50 to 1.75 percent. The MPC
viewed that increase in rate would help in containing the
accumulation of risks within the financial system after a
prolonged period of low interest rate, which probably induces the search for yield behavior and underpricing
of risks among market participants.
To conclude, the macroprudential measure on residential mortgage loans aims at enhancing credit standards,
reducing investor demand, and supporting homeownership among first-time homebuyers. This would lead
to a good credit culture and help contain systemic risk buildups in residential real estate market. However,
the BOT would continue to monitor the adjustment of the market and to assess policy effectiveness in order
to ensure a smooth transition. The impact study indicates that the short-term impact would be limited while
the new macroprudential measures would strengthen the resilience of the financial system and support
long-term economic development.
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Financial Institutions System
The BOT strives for a robust, resilient, and competitive financial institution system that operates with
good governance and sound risk management. The BOT has also promoted competition and adoption of
new technologies in the financial system to improve efficiency and meet customers’ varying needs in a more
timely and cost effective manner. In addition, the BOT has set the priority on the rights of all individuals
to access to fair financial services.
Ensuring Resilience and Sound Risk Management of Financial Institutions
The Thai financial system remained sound and continued to effectively help in financial resources allocation
in the real sector, which should help facilitate a healthy pace of economic growth. External stability remained
strong, supported by high levels of international reserves, low external debt, and sustained current account
surplus. While these factors should provide a strong buffer for the economy to weather volatile capital flows
and external shocks, specific areas of risks remained, and warranted a close monitoring. These risk areas
include speculation in the real estate sector and the rise in search for yield behavior, as well as volatility in
the global financial markets that owed to uncertainty in industrial economies’ monetary policy and more
pronounced effects of trade wars.
In order to enhance risk management and internal control of financial institutions, the BOT strengthened
the regulations on corporate governance in several dimensions, for example, the BOT specified the
qualifications of directors and senior management, including their roles and responsibilities, and encouraged
for improvement in the internal control mechanism of financial institutions in accordance with the changing
environment. Moreover, the BOT enhanced IT risk management of financial institutions and cyber resilience
readiness supervision through ongoing collaboration with related organizations, as well as expanding the
collaboration with region regulators. The BOT also built capability of cybersecurity taskforce and awareness
of all related persons in Thai financial sector.
To strengthen IT Risk Supervision, in 2018, the BOT had thematic examination on mobile banking security
of financial institutions and e-payment service providers since the mobile banking became a major banking
and payment channel with dramatically growing number of accounts and transactions. Those would help
to ensure the security of mobile banking service and increase the confidence of users. On the other hand,
Bank of Thailand prepared for the FSAP assessment that aimed to help the Thai financial sector be able to
develop as far as the economic context changes and to comply with international standards.

Bangkok Sustainable Banking Forum 2018 to support Financial Sector
to promote sustainable banking in Thai financial sector

38

Bank of Thailand

Annual Report 2018

Bank of Thailand

Ensuring Financial Institutions System and Economic Stability
The BOT enhanced credit underwriting standards in order to prevent build-up of systemic risks and
increase resilience of the financial system. In 2018, the BOT tightened existing lending rules on residential
mortgages to enhance credit culture, to prevent speculative demand in the residential property market, and
to ensure that the loan valuation did not exceed the value of its collateral. Moreover, these measures would
also help to boost housing affordability among first-time homebuyers who failed to keep up with the rising
pace of housing prices as a result of the speculative demand that flooded the residential property market.
Nevertheless, the BOT, the Securities and Exchange Commission Thailand (SEC) and the Office of Insurance
Commission Thailand (OIC) were working in a close collaboration to assess and monitor risk developments
in the Thai financial system.
Promoting the efficiency of financial services
To improve the regulatory decision-making process, and to ensure that the regulations are consistent
with the changing environment, the BOT has adopted the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) during the
policy implementation process. Recent application of RIA focused on promoting digital financial services
and financial services for SMEs so that individuals and SMEs can benefit from greater variety of financial
services, innovative products and ease of financial access. The BOT also implemented key initiatives under
the Financial Sector Master Plan 3, including supporting the expansion of maximum transfer limits via
electronic channels, and organizing the Bangkok Sustainable Banking Forum 2018 to promote sustainable
banking in Thai financial sector.
Promoting Greater Financial Access
The BOT recently expanded the supervisory scope of personal loan regulations to include car title
loans, in order to enable low income earners an access to financial services at a fair and reasonable price.
Furthermore, The BOT encouraged 14 commercial banks under the Thai Bankers Association, Government
Saving Bank, and Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives to launch the introduction of “basic
banking account,” which aimed to provide affordable financial services across the board, particularly to low
income earners and elderly individuals. In addition, the BOT joined the eighth round of negotiations on
financial services liberalization under the ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services (AFAS) and concluded
the negotiation of Qualified ASEAN Banks (QABs) with Malaysia. To pursue greater opportunities for Thai
commercial banks and seek support for the growing economic and financial linkages across the ASEAN
region, the BOT is under ongoing negotiations with Indonesia, Myanmar and the Philippines.

Payment Systems
• Main activities under the National e-Payment Master Plan: The progress of the project is as follows:
PromptPay: In 2018, PromptPay usage increased by 20% per month. As of 31 December 2018, the number
of registrations stood at 46.5 million registrants with the average volume at 4.5 million transactions per day and
average value at 5,000 Baht per transaction. Accumulated transactions were 1.1 billion transactions, equivalent to
5.8 trillion Baht. In this connection, the number of mobile banking account increased from 32 million accounts
in 2017 to 47 million accounts at the end of 2018
Card usage expansion project: the Electronic Data Capture (EDC) installation service providers already
completed installations for government agencies and private sectors, with a total of 523,000 EDCs at the end of
the project (March 2018), resulting in widespread EDCs throughout the country. The number of EDCs per one
million capita increased from 6,336 machines in 2015 (prior to the project) to 10,745 machines at the end of the
project.
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Thai Standardized QR Code for payments and transfers development and promotion : Currently, more
than 3 million online and offline merchants nationwide have placed and accepted payment via QR Code in their
stores. Thai Standardized QR Code helps Small-and-Medium-sized merchants to have an easier and cheaper
method of receiving payments.

• Cross-border Payment Systems and Services Linkage: The BOT, in collaboration with other central
banks, private sector, as well as international organizations, has driven the adoption of interoperable QR
Code for payments which is compliance with the EMV standard. The progresses have been activated both
from banks and non-banks. For example, interoperable QR Code for payments between Thailand-Lao PDR
and Thailand-Singapore were established. In addition, the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between
Thailand-Cambodia and Thailand-Vietnam were initiated to strengthen the central bank collaboration in
payment systems. Moreover, knowledge sharing on the technical skills for system development and supervision
was provided for National Bank of Cambodia, and Central Bank of Myanmar as well.
• Oversight of Payment Systems under Payment Systems Act B.E. 2560 (2017) which has come into force
on 16 April 2018. The Ministry of Finance (MOF) and the BOT announced relevant rules and regulations,
which consisted of supervision of highly important payment systems, designated payment systems, designated
payment services and other relevant regulations. In 2018, the MOF issued the licenses for 105 service providers
(232 licenses) and the BOT issued the registration certificates for 3 service providers (3 registration certificates).
• Oversight of Important Payment Systems the BOT revised the BAHTNET’s risk management framework
following the guideline on risk management and oversight of payment systems according to international
standards namely Principles for Financial Market Infrastructures (PFMI), and participated in an assessment
under the Financial Sector Assessment Program (FSAP) conducted by International Monetary Fund (IMF)
and World Bank.
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2.2 Development
The BOT has driven many significant initiatives to support the development of Thai financial system.
Particularly, the BOT supports the use of innovations and financial technology to address the needs of Thai
businesses and individuals with cheaper, better-targeted, and more convenient financial services.
• Regulatory Sandbox policy has been adopted to promote financial innovations by allowing FinTech
providers, both banks and nonbanks, to test innovations that would address the needs of consumers while at
the same time limit associated risks and reduce regulatory limitation. Various types of technologies are being
tested in the Regulatory Sandbox, namely, Blockchain, Biometrics, QR Code Payment, Machine Learning,
and Application Programming Interfaces (APIs). Fifteen innovative projects such as QR Payment through
PromptPay and QR Payment through credit cards have exited the Regulatory Sandbox and have launched
in a full scale.
The BOT has revised the Guideline for Regulatory Sandbox Participation to be clearer, more flexible, and
efficient as well as to further reduce time to market of any given products and services. With the new guideline,
projects to be tested in the BOT Regulatory Sandbox will involve common standard or infrastructure that
requires joint testing across many counterparties, or there is a legal requirement for said innovation to be
tested in the BOT Regulatory Sandbox. Otherwise, financial service providers could establish “Own Sandbox”
to test financial innovations under appropriate risks management and customer protection framework within
the relevant laws and regulations.
• Foster the collaboration for the development of Blockchain technology to serve as an infrastructure in
financial sector through Thailand Blockchain Community Initiative (BCI). This aims to reduce duplication,
lower costs, and enhance operational efficiency. At the present, the BCI has 18 commercial bank members
and 7 state-owned enterprises and large corporate members. The first developing use case is electronic letter
of guarantee (LG) which is expected to go live in the 2nd Quarter of 2019.

Dialogue on Thailand Blockchain Community Initiative during the Bangkok FinTech Fair 2018

• Promote the collaboration among public sector and financial institutions in developing the National
Digital Identity (NDID) and e-KYC project. This will serve as an infrastructure for electronic identity
verification and authentication which will complement online financial transactions.
• In order to resolve the household debt problem which is a part of the important structural problems
of the country, the BOT has taken actions in 3 primary areas as follows:
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(1) Promoting financial literacy to general public through various measures such as organizing financial
literacy projects for Generation Y (vocational college students and first jobbers). These projects were based on
preventive approach. Those young adults would be equipped with necessary financial skills which, in turn,
enhanced their proper financial behavior before entering the labor market or drowning into over indebtedness.
For instance, the financial literacy competition project ‘Fin. Dee We can do!!!’ aimed to create a group of role
models who could inspire vocational college students nationwide to apply Sufficiency Economy Philosophy
and financial management concept to their personal and future work life. Moreover, the BOT promoted
other aspects of financial literacy, including financial frauds and warnings through various communication
channels. Apart from the BOT’s own platform, cooperation with strategic partners is the key to effectively
reach the public at large.
(2) Promote responsible lending among financial institutions.
(3) Establish central infrastructure to help solve debt problems such as the Debt Clinic Project.
2.3Internal Excellence
In 2018, the BOT continued to focus on effective data utilization. The BOT signed Memorandums of
Understanding (MOUs) on academic and data collaboration with related organizations, including the
Metropolitan Electricity Authority (MEA), Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA), Thai Customs Department,
Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Labor, Trade Policy and Strategy Office, Ministry of Commerce, and the
National Credit Bureau. In addition, the BOT applied data analytics to policies formulation processes in
order to widen as well as deepen analysis. This was evident in new economic indicators using new sources
of data, and evidence-based research that can support policy decisions.
To promote research excellence, especially economics and finance research, the BOT encouraged
research collaboration with external researchers in order to increase exposure of the BOT researchers to the
public. Furthermore, the BOT also enhanced research communication by using digital communications and
social media to reach new target groups and respond to changing demands. In 2018, the BOT held an annual
symposium under the theme of “The Future of Money, Finance, and Central Banking”.
The BOT has conducted training and non-training programs such as mobility, secondment, and crossfunctional assignments, focusing on building knowledge and skills that were necessary to drive the BOT’s
strategic plans and to cope with the global economy and financial change. Additionally, the BOT continued
to provide scholarships to outstanding students deemed necessary for development of the country.

The Award Ceremony of the
Digital Government Award 2018
at Tokyo, Japan
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Regarding internal excellence programs, the BOT adopted Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA)
principles in order to assess the quality of regulations and to seek comments from relevant stakeholders. A
performance audit and value for money techniques were also introduced for internal audit and budgeting
processes to ensure effectiveness and efficiency of the BOT operations. In addition, the BOT adopted new
technologies to enhance operational efficiency and risk management, such as the application of the Distributed
Ledger Technology (DLT) to improve work processes in scripless bonds sales, whereby investors will be
able to receive their bonds within 2 working days, compared to the current standard of 15 working days. As
a result, the BOT won the Digital Government Award 2018 from the Asian-Oceanian Computing Industry
Organization (ASOCIO). The BOT also improved cyber security standards, raised awareness among staff to
enhance their readiness to cyber threats, as well as prepared for continuous internal communication.
The BOT aims to ensure that the management system meets the quality required by international standards.
In 2018, the BOT was successfully certified in accordance with ISO 9001: 2015 for the quality management
system from Thailand Institute of Scientific and Technological Research (TISTR). Furthermore, the BOT received
ISO 50001: 2011 or Energy Management System Certification from the Management System Certification
Institute (Thailand) (MASCI). The BOT was the first central bank to receive Carbon Neutral Certification
from the Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (Public Organization) as the BOT continued
reducing energy consumption and carbon emission. These certifications are a confirmation of the BOT’s
achievements in better understanding and fulfilling stakeholder’s expectations which leads to a sustainable
organization, good corporate governance, and especially energy and environment management.

For banknote issuance and management, the BOT was granted royal permission from His Majesty King
Maha Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun to print and issue the new series of Thai banknotes (Series
17) into circulation. The front side of the banknote in all denominations depicts His Majesty King Maha
Vajiralongkorn Bodindradebayavarangkun as the main portrait. The reverse side of each denomination depicts
the portraits of two Kings in order of reign. Furthermore, this banknote series were produced with advanced
technology aimed at counterfeit deterrence. The 1000 baht denomination of this series won the Best New
Banknote Award at the High Security Printing Asia 2018.
The BOT acknowledges the importance of people’s understanding and support the success of policy
implementation, thus, the BOT has continuously improved policy communications in three key dimensions.
1. Listen more to the stakeholders: This is apparent in wider and more extensive public consultations
with relevant stakeholders before making policy decisions or issuing important regulations, in the conducting
of hundreds of meetings annually with business operators across the country, and thru operation of the
Financial Consumer Protection Center (FCC) 1213 which assists in financial planning and imparts financial
knowledge to consumers. The BOT also has a social monitoring system in order to respond in a timely manner
to public interests.
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2. Policy communication through continuous improvement of communication content to be simpler and
easy to understand. Using various communication channels and methods such as multimedia, VDO clips,
and infographics to respond to the change in people’s behavior. Digital media such as Facebook, Instagram
and Twitter, which have exponentially gained numbers of new followers, was also utilized more. The BOT
website was in the top third ranks among the most visited government websites in 2018. In addition, the
BOT magazine, which was previously used internally, was improved as a policy communication platform
both for the BOT’s and country’s policies such as structural economics, education, and regulation and law
reforms, and was used as a stakeholder engagement platform. The BOT disseminated the magazine to the
public through various channels.
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The Bank of Thailand Learning Center was awarded
the Economy Museum Thailand Awards 2018

Engagement with various groups of people: Each year, the BOT meets with different groups of
stakeholders, to enhance policy in collaboration with government organizations and the private sector, to share
knowledge with academic groups, to improve the communication with the press and bloggers to promote
better understanding of the BOT’s policies and to provide economics and financial literacy, and to conduct
various activities for students to better understand the BOT’s roles and responsibilities. Additionally, the BOT
opened the Bank of Thailand Learning Center, consisting of a museum, a library and various exhibitions
such as the International Art Exhibition, Thai Currency, Prince Vivadhanajaya Exhibition, and Banknote
Production and Management Exhibition. This Learning Center is aimed to be a public space for the general
public to come to seek knowledge, create inspiration and meet others to share experiences. As a result, the
Bank of Thailand Learning Center was awarded the Economy Museum Thailand awards 2018 at the National
Discovery Museum Institute.
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One Year of the Bank of Thailand Learning Center
On the occasion of 75th anniversary of the Bank of Thailand in 2018, one of the Thai historic buildings
previously functioned as Thailand’s first Note Printing Works was transformed into an economic and
financial learning center opened to the public for the first time at the beginning of 2018, with the positioning
as the living learning-hub. Students, scholars, entrepreneurs and general public are welcome to visit the
center in order to search for knowledge, share experiences, and do various activities to inspire learning
and knowledge sharing which become essential skills in this modern world.

The opening Bank of Thailand Learning Center (BOTLC) also implies devoting a formerly restricted area
to be utilized as a public place to benefit the society in terms of a range of disciplines such as personal
financial management, monetary economics, technology, art and culture, as well as history. The Center
welcomed more than 80,000 visitors last year to the library, exhibitions, conferences, and activities, which
can be summarized as follows:
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Prince Vivadhanajaya library collects more than 95,000 items of economic and financial learning media,
as well as provides Online Computer Library Center (OCLC) service which enables users to have an access
to books and research papers from 7,000 libraries worldwide. Moreover, Idea Boxes, the library’s co-working
space, are available in many sizes in order to meet users’ different needs. The library offers a special reading
area exclusively for BOTLC members. Having served the public for one year, Prince Vivadhanajaya library
has been recognized as one of the libraries with the most beautiful view in Thailand.
\

The Bank of Thailand Museum exhibits economic and financial history through ages where visitors have
experience as if time were turned back for them to learn about the evolution of money; and Bank of Thailand
Experience where visitors gain information about the BOT’s history as well as roles and responsibilities of
the central bank, in form of guided tour led by voluntary BOT officials or self-learning. In addition, the Bank
of Thailand Museum was awarded the 2018 Thailand’s Best Economic Museum from National Discovery
Museum Institute.
The latest two permanent exhibitions opened in 2018 are H.H. Prince Vivadhanajaya Memorial and the
BOT Money Terminal. The H.H. Prince Vivadhanajaya Memorial presents the story of the prince as the first
BOT governor who played vital roles in establishing the BOT and laying the foundation of the country’s
financial stability system during World War II to safeguard the Thai economic and monetary sovereignty.
BOT Money Terminal serves the BOT’s important mission of promoting financial literacy to the public. It
aims to create awareness of the importance of financial planning in order to achieve financial goals in life,
have better financial discipline, and to be aware of frauds. Moreover, visitors can check their own financial
health in this interactive exhibition.
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In the past year, the space of BOTLC was used to organize a variety of events and activities. For instance,
Bangkok FinTech Fair 2018 was held to promote Thailand’s financial technology innovation. There were
approximately 900 participants during the event. In addition, there were semi-academic seminars, such as
Book Talk that encouraged idea and knowledge exchanges among writers and readers, and Inspirational
Talk where well-known people were invited to share their worthwhile expertise and experiences that the
participants might consider to adapt into their work and personal life.

The BOTLC also hosted two art exhibitions that enabled the Center to welcome a new group of visitors.

It was the Center’s great honor to be given an opportunity to be part of Bangkok Art Biennale 2018, a
world-class event of contemporary art in which 33 artists around the world took part. Art pieces from Huang
Yong Ping (Chinese-French artist) and Souled Out Studios were exhibited here.
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The second one was 75 Botanical Beauties Celebrating the 75th Anniversary of the BOT, an exhibition
of 75 botanical watercolor artworks by one of Thailand’s most admired artists, Phansakdi Chakkaphak.
His paintings have been displayed at museums all over the world, such as Kew Gardens Museum, London.
The BOTLC is ready to welcome visitors with the highest hope to inspire a passion for life-long learning.
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3. Action plans for next phase of BOT’s 3-year
Strategic Plan (2017 - 2019)
In 2019, which marks the last year of the BOT’s current medium strategic plan (2017 - 2019), the BOT
continues to implement the plan in three key areas: Stability, Development and Internal Excellence. The
BOT is aware of challenges from uncertainties in global trade, geopolitics, monetary policy normalization
in advanced economies as well as technological disruptions, coupled with intensified public expectations,
and has set out directions and action plans for the implementation of the strategic plan that could be
summarized as follows.

3.1 Stability
• Balancing an appropriate mix of different policy instruments: interest rate, exchange rate,
macroprudential policies and structural policies. The BOT continues to incorporate financial stability into
monetary policy decision to address risks in the economy. Surveillance of risks buildup in the financial system
would be strengthened and more emphasis would be placed on large corporate that could potentially pose
systemic risks. At the same time, the BOT would embed the right ecosystem that fosters the development
of foreign exchange market, reduces regulatory burdens and allows greater role of market mechanisms.
Finally, the BOT would continue to make policy recommendations on other areas of public policy to address
different structural issues relating to competitiveness, inequality and economic resiliency.
• Supervision of financial institutions and payment service providers to promote prudence, efficiency
and adaptability in a changing financial landscape The BOT would continue to focus on ongoing supervision,
in proportion to risks and significance of each financial institution and payment service provider. To timely
monitor emerging risks, the BOT would also rely more on in-depth analysis and supervisory technology. At
the same time, the BOT would promote heightened governance and good risk culture and would also ensure
that users of financial services are protected and treated fairly. In addition, financial institutions are expected
to better manage risks from technologies and cyber threats, given a more concise and comprehensive BOT’s
regulation, and they are also encouraged to enhance their readiness to cope with cyber threats. The BOT
would collaborate with both domestic and international agencies to promote cybersecurity.

3.2 Development
• A financial ecosystem that fosters technology adoption The BOT continues to embrace financial
innovations to help improve the quality of the financial services in four areas (1) speed (2) scope of the
financial services (3) scale of customers and (4) sharing of resources among financial service providers that
ultimately lead to better financial services. In doing so, the BOT would promote: a more principle-based
approach to regulations, information-based lending, greater flexibility in testing new financial innovations in
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regulatory sandbox, holistic use of technology such as public cloud, promoting management of e-documents,
and greater efficiency and capacity of the payment system infrastructures, e.g. upgrading standard messaging
for QR code and bulk payment.
• Promoting consumer protection and sustainable banking The BOT focuses on four key areas
(1) financial access by encouraging more basic banking account services (2) fair treatment of customers by
extending market conduct regulation to include other key financial service providers (3) sustainable financial
system by means of greater collaboration and building business awareness of the environment, social and
governance issues and (4) creating financial immunity for financial consumers by equipping them with life
skills regarding personal finance and enabling them to use digital banking and electronic payment services
efficiently and safely.
• Regional connectivity As Thailand takes on the chair of ASEAN for the year 2019 under the theme
“Advancing Partnership for Sustainability,” the BOT would use the opportunity to strengthen regional
collaborations in the different areas of financial sector. These include, among others, promoting the use of
local currencies to facilitate trade and investment and to minimize exchange rate risks, and fostering payment
system connectivity as well as cyber resilience as means to achieve sustainable development of the regional
financial system.

3.3 Internal excellence
• Evidence-based decision making The framework of regulatory impact assessment (RIA) would
continue to be applied across different areas of works: regulation and supervision, policy-making and
internal work process. In doing so, the BOT would make sure that decision-makings are based on problem
identification, concrete evidences, diverse and comprehensive points of views, and mitigation of unintended
consequences on stakeholders. The BOT would also continue to pursue research excellence, promote the use
of micro data for in-depth analysis and conduct policy-based researches that could help steer financial and
economic system development. At the same time, the BOT would ensure good data governance framework
and establish guidelines on confidentiality and security that are in line with modern international standard.
• Strategic stakeholders’ engagement The BOT would promote engagement and mutual understandings
with key stakeholders in 4 areas (1) communication channels that are more timely and accessible by a diverse
targeted group (2) expanded coordination with new strategic stakeholders such as non-profit organizations
dedicated to consumer protection as well as representatives from different economic sectors to exchange
ideas and build network of collaborations (3) a more effective channel for public hearings, e.g. to support
stakeholder engagements in the issuance of policy and regulations and (4) capacity building for media,
especially those in the fields of finance and economics, to promote good understandings of BOT’s policies.
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4. Organizational Structure, Working System and Work Process

The BOT Governor and staff met quarterly at the Townhall meeting

In response to an ever-changing social context and an increasingly complex financial environment, the BOT
has continued to improve its work processes and to make appropriate changes to its organizational structure
in order to accomplish its mission of financial stability and to create a payment system capable of coping with
today’s rapidly changing world. In the year 2018, the BOT made the following major changes:

4.1 Uplifting the Stability of Payment Systems
Payment Systems Policy and Financial Technology Group
The Payment Systems Policy Department uplifted the supervisory payment systems practices in accordance
with the new Payment System Act, B.E. 2560, effective 16 April 2018. The scope of payment supervision was
extended to safeguard the payment system under new cyber security risks environment.
The Information System Examination Department strengthened the IT examination of financial institutions
by adjusting the examination method to be ongoing supervision and expediting the network to be the safety net
in the Thailand Banking Sector Computer Emergency Response (TB-CERT) to response to the crisis in a timely
manner in case cyber incident will occur in the future.
The Financial Technology Department supported the expansion of the Regulatory Sandbox Innovation
and promoted financial technology infrastructures and standards. Consequently, the Financial Technology
Department prepared staff employees to meet these future innovation developments. Collaboration between
Financial Technology organizations and government has been furthered.

4.2 Uplifting Economic Capacity
Monetary Policy Group
The BOT has established a new department in charge of the task focusing on in-depth data analysis pertinent
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to changes in Thailand’s economic structure. This new department, the Structural Economic Policy Department,
focused on economic research and supply side, in order to forecast a multi-dimension overall perspective of
Thailand’s economic structure. Additionally, the new department, the Economic and Policy Department, has
fostered the collection of overall macroeconomic data, which was previously performed by the Economic Statistic
formulation office.
Financial Markets Operation Group
With the new FX landscape and in response to the new FX direction and policy, the Foreign Exchange
Administration and Policy Department adjusted its supervisory functions and policies in major areas as follows:
First, the Monetary Exchange Rate Policy Division focused on money exchange rate strategy and the prevention
of Thai baht speculation. Second, the Supervision and FX analyst Division 1-2 focused on supervising, analyzing,
and examining all Banking Institutions, Financial Service Institutions, and Non-Bank groups.

4.3 The Preparation for Bank Re-solvency of Financial Solvency Crisis
The FIDF Management Department was transferred to the Financial Institutions Policy Group in order to
consolidate the oversight of Financial Institutions into a unified system. This was in accordance with the BOT’s
preparation for bank re-solvency in the event of a financial solvency crisis, which was a new mission of the Bank
of Thailand act (Issue 7) B.E. 2561.

4.4 Uplifting Organization and Work Process Capacity
The Data Analytics Unit enhanced capacity and readiness for the development as a data-driven organization.
The staff has been provided and trained for more in-depth and multi-dimensional data analysis in both internal
and external collaboration. Moreover, the BOT strived to increase the bank-wide usage of Knowledge Management
(KM) of Data Analytics for the highest efficiency in the BOT.
The Data Management Department has extended the scope of data governance and strategy to cover the
BOT’s policy and standard of data protection, in accordance with the Thailand’s law. Moreover, linkage between
the economic data management and government data has been improved and extended. The data management
and service for internal user was also centralized.
In order to prevent and detect both internal and external cyber-attacks, the Information Technology
Department’s scope and preparedness in tracking cyber-attacks was extended. In addition, the BOT has introduced
two new units responsible for cyber-attacks and cybersecurity.
To promote a dynamic organization, the BOT has empowered Assistant Governors to restructure and
streamline the organization within each group using squad teams. In addition, the cross-functional team
collaboration boosted efficiency of working processes and job standards in the areas of Human Resources and
Organization Development Group, Information Technology Group, Planning and Budgeting Group, Management
Assistance Group, Corporate Strategy and Relations Group, Supervision Group and Banknote Management
Group.
In conclusion, to uplift the BOT‘s capability and work process throughout year B.E. 2561, the BOT has
promoted and provided financial stability to the Thai economy to ensure the sustainable economic growth
which will navigate the Thai economy during the transformation to a digital economy era.

Bank of Thailand

53

Bank of Thailand Organization Chart
The Bank of
Thailand Board
Financial
Institutions Policy
Committee

Monetary Policy
Committee

Puey Ungphakorn
Institute for Economic
Research Committee

Payment Systems
Committee

Governor

Puey Ungphakorn
Institute for Economic
Research

Subcommittee
on Financial Stability

Financial Institutions
Stability

Monetary Stability

Financial Markets
Operations Group

Monetary Policy Group

Financial Institutions
Policy Group

Supervision Group

Reserve Management
Department

Economic and Policy
Department

Financial Institutions
Strategy Department

Banking Supervision
Department 1

Payment Systems
Policy and Financial
Technology Group
Payment Systems
Policy Department

Banking Supervision
Department 2
Financial Markets
Department

Foreign Exchange
Administration and
PolicyDepartment

Monetary Policy
Department

Structural
Economic Policy
Department

Regulatory Policy
Department

Financial Institution
Business Supervision
Department

Banking Supervision
Department 3
Specialized
Financial Institutions
Supervision and
Examination Department
Financial
Consumer Protection
and Market Conduct
Department

FIDF Management
Department

Risk Assessment
and Modeling
Department

Financial Stability Unit

Line of Command
Specific Reporting Line
December 31,2018

54

Bank of Thailand

Planning
and Examiner
Development
Department

Financial Technology
Department

Information System
Examination Department

Annual Report 2018

Financial Institutions
Development Fund
Committee

Banknote Management
Committee

Bank of Thailand

Risk Oversight
Committee

Audit Committee

Corporate Strategy and Relations Group

Internal Audit Group

Corporate
Communications
Department

Internal Audit
Department

Office of Corporate
Strategy

International
Department

Corporate Support
Service And
Banknote Management

Enterprise Risk
Management Department

Human Resources
and Organization
Development Group

Information Technology
Group

Banknote Management
Group

Planning and
Budgeting Group

Management
Assistance Group

Human Resources
Department

Information Technology
Department

Banknote Operation
Department

Finance and Accounting
Department

Legal Department

Payment and Bond
Department

Note Printing Works

Financial Literacy
Department

Corporate Services
Department

Data Management
System Department

Banknote Strategic
Planning Department

Corporate Planning
Department

Security Department

Data Analytics Unit

Accounting and Supply
Department

Northern Region Office

Human Resource
Management and
Development
Department

Northeastern
Region Office

Banknote Research
Department

Southern Region Office

Learning and
Development Institute

Organization
Development Department

Bank of Thailand

55

5. Corporate Governance and Risk Management
The BOT’s corporate governance and risk management incorporate and comply with related business
laws and regulations, and the amended BOT Act, as follows:

The Financial Institutions Policy Committee (FIPC) Meeting

5.1 Corporate Governance
According to the BOT Act B.E. 2485 as amended by the BOT Act (Issue 4) B.E. 2551, roles and
responsibilities of the BOT and the BOT Board are indicated as supervising overall activities of the BOT,
with the objectives of maintaining monetary stability, financial institutions system stability and payment
system stability, including planning, budgeting and asset management. The BOT is also responsible for the
formulation and implementation of monetary policy, financial institution policy and payment system policy
under the boards having authorities and responsibilities for specific policy lines such as the Monetary Policy
Committee, the Financial Institutions Policy Committee and the Payment Systems Committee. Further, in
order to help coordinate policy issues among different committees, the sub-committees are set up accordingly
to collaborate among inter-committees such as Financial System Stability Sub-Committee.
In addition, several committees assist the BOT Board in ensuring that the BOT adheres to good corporate
governance practices. The Audit Committee helps supervising the Bank’s operations to ensure effectiveness
of internal control and internal auditing processes. The Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) provides advice on
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the Bank’s overall risk management framework and key risk issues. The Corporate Governance Committee
provides guidance on good corporate governance policies and practices. The Appeal and Complaint Committee
reviews and makes recommendations regarding those appeals and complaints filed against the BOT staff.

5.2 Enterprise Risk Management
Oversight of the BOT risk management is undertaken by two main risk management committees, for
which the Enterprise Risk Management Department is the secretariat.
(1) The Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) consisted mainly of non-executive directors and external
qualified experts, assists the BOT Board in reviewing overall risk management policies and framework as
well as adequacy of the Bank’s risk control systems.
(2) The Risk Management Committee (RMC) comprising of selected Executive Committee members,
assists the BOT Executive Committee to determine and review overall risk management policies and framework
in complying with best practices and international standards.
The scope of BOT risk management can be summarized into 3 aspects as follows:
(1) Integrated Risk Management
The integrated risk management focuses on proper management of key enterprise risks and its
interrelationship. In 2018, the BOT Board approved the Bank’s risk management policy laying out risk
management framework in congruence with international standard and the Bank’s risk appetite describing
the BOT acceptable risk levels. Further, enterprise risk assessment was made in order to cover major risks
that could directly or indirectly affect the BOT’s operations including the mitigation plans and controls. This
risk management framework is crucial to ensure that all BOT staff are aware of and able to operate and handle
effectively with all aspects of risk involved.
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Seminar on Criteria for the Specialized Financial Institutions’ Composite Rating

(2) Financial Risk Management
Financial risk management focuses on the risk associated with the management of international reserves.
Key financial risks are market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk, whereby these risks are being managed
and monitored by the following committees and sub-committees: the Bank of Thailand Board, the Audit
Committee, the Risk Oversight Committee (ROC), the Risk Management Committee (RMC), and the Financial
Risk Management Sub-Committee (FRMC).
In 2018, the BOT carried out the implementation of investment in foreign equity. The implementation
included the selection and hiring of external fund managers together with a global custodian for the equity
portion of the foreign currency reserves. Investment benchmarks were also established, as part of the
implementation, for the monitoring of the portfolios’ performance and compliance to investment guidelines
set under the amended Bank of Thailand Act B.E. 2560. The main objective of equity investment is to increase
the overall efficiency of international reserves risk management which will also contribute to an enhanced
efficiency of reserve’s value preservation as well as liquidity management, thus increasing BOT’s ability to
cope with volatility and dynamic landscape of world economy and global financial markets.
(3) Operational Risk Management
Operational risks encompass risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people,
and systems or from external events. To ensure effective management of operational risk, the BOT has
employed a combination of risk management tools. All departments in the BOT annually conduct the ControlSelf Assessment (CSA) to review and self-controlled their own work processes. The Loss Incident Reporting
system, Key Risk Indicators and Risk Dashboard have been used to enhance the monitoring of key risks and
facilitate risk reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC). Further, the BOT has continually revised
its Business Continuity Management (BCM) framework in accordance with generally accepted international
standards to handle against disruption of BOT’s critical functions in emergency situations.
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In 2018, the BOT enhanced the Bank’s BCM framework in consistent with the ISO 22301:2012 (BCMS)
standard by establishing the BCM policy laying out systematic framework for improving the Bank’s BCM
efforts. In addition, the BOT conducted Business Continuity Plan (BCP) drills for IT disruptions by operating
from the back-up site and for other emergency responses such as bombing threat exercise and fire drill at
the BOT Learning Center with the aim to ensure operational readiness and to enhance the bank’s resilience
in case of crisis.
Furthermore, the BOT improved its compliance risk management tools by establishing compliance risk
policy, developing laws and regulation database, launching key compliance risk indicators, and expanding
financial compliance coverage in reserve management and financial markets operations. Similarly, the BOT
IT risk management tools were enhanced by the issuance of the Bank’s data governance framework, the
implementation of data leak prevention system, and the Cyber Security Incident Response Plan (CSIRP) drill
which expanded the scope to include the financial sector.

5.3 The Amendment of the Bank of Thailand Act
The Bank of Thailand Act (No. 7), B.E. 2561 was enacted to establish a new resolution framework for
resolving problem of financial institutions effectively in a timely manner in case the failure of the financial
institutions will pose a threat to stability of financial system. The principles of the resolution framework
align with the recognized international standard. The Act also clearly sets out the power of the Financial
Institutions Development Fund (FIDF) to implement a plan for resolving such problems.
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Finance and banking sectors allocate “capital” – the most important
financial resource in the economic system. They are thus
the potential leader who creates impacts on the fabric of society.
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1. Summary of Global and Thai Economies in 2018

The overall global economy in 2018 expanded at a slower rate after an acceleration in the
previous year, especially in the second half of the year. This was due partly to impacts of the U.S. trade
protectionism measures and retaliatory measures by its trading partners. The euro area economic
growth slowed down mainly from slower private consumption due to concerns on political
uncertainties in various countries. The Japanese economy expanded at a slower rate pertaining to
natural disaster. The Chinese economy expanded at a slower pace as financial conditions were tightened
because banks tightened credit standards according to a series of the Chinese government’s financial
stability measures to curb debt levels in the economy. Moreover, the Chinese economic slowdown
was attributable to increasingly prominent U.S. trade protectionism measures, especially in the end
of the year. Asian economies, excluding China and Japan, expanded at a slower rate. This was due to
impacts from tightening financial conditions in some countries, slumping confidence following the
U.S. trade protectionism measures, and lower fiscal stimulus in some countries. However, the U.S.
economy continued to expand in line with economic fundamentals as reflected by robust labor market
and continued fiscal stimulus. On the monetary policy front, 2018 was a year of policy rate normalization
for a number of central banks, especially the U.S. Federal Reserve (FED).
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Looking ahead, the pace of the global economic
expansion was expected further moderate to
potential growth. Risks that would warrant
monitoring included (1) the uncertainty of the U.S. trade
protectionism measures and retaliatory measures
by its trading partners, (2) the uncertainty of Brexit,
and (3) geopolitical risks that might affect the global
economic growth.
The Thai economy in 2018 expanded around its
potential at 4.1 percent growth, mainly driven by an
expansion in private spending, both consumption
and investment. Private consumption continued to

expand thanks to the fading effect of the first-car
scheme with its five-year car holding requirement,
more broad-based improvement in non-farm
income, high consumer confidence, and supportive
government policies. Private investment increased in
order to improve efficiency and increase production
capacity. The investment growth was also supported
by high business confidence and relocation of
production base of certain industries to Thailand in
late 2018. Government spending continued to boost
the economy, especially investment in rail system
development projects, although some projects faced
delays.

Figure 1 Thailand’s GDP Growth1/
(Change compared to the same period last year)
Percent
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Note : 1/ GDP calculated by Chain Volume Measure (CVM) approach

Source: Office of the National Economic and Social Development Council,
calculations by Bank of Thailand

Merchandise exports expanded supported by
a continued growth of external demand, and were
not significantly affected by a change in exchange
rate. However, export volume slightly slowed down
from last year, in line with slower trading partners’
economic growth and global trade volume which
experienced some impacts from trade disputes
between the U.S. and China and the down cycle
of electronic products. Moreover, exports of some
products, such as washing machines, solar
cell panels and integrated circuit boards, were
affected directly and indirectly from the U.S. trade
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protectionism measures. However, exporters of
some products, such as electrical appliances and
vehicle tires, benefitted from an increase in redirected
orders to Thailand. Exports of services growth
decelerated mainly due to the number of Chinese
tourists, whose confidence in safety standards was
lowered after Phuket tour boat sinking incident in
July. Moreover, Chinese tourists were additionally
affected by China’s economic slowdown. Nonetheless,
tourist arrivals from other countries continued to
expand well.
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Figure 2 Thailand’s Export and Trading Partners’ Demand
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Economic and Financial Stability
Headline and core inflation in 2018 averaged
at 1.07 and 0.71 percent, respectively, increased
from the previous year but remained low. Headline
inflation trended up in line with energy price, while
raw food prices still declined owing to excessive
vegetables, fruits, and meats outputs from favorable
weather condition. Core inflation edged up slightly
from the effect of excise tax increases on tobacco
and alcoholic beverages that has been enforced
since the end of 2017. Prices of other items trended
up in line with the continued economic expansion.
Nonetheless, the prices increased in a gradual pace
due to structural factors such as higher business
competition that led to difficulty in raising prices.
Unemployment rate declined from the previous
year as employment picked up in agricultural and
non-agricultural sectors. However, there remained
issues that warranted monitoring including skill
mismatch in the labor market and automation adoption
trend. Overall stability of the corporate sector
remained sound in line with continued economic
growth. However, stability of small and medium
enterprises remained fragile partly due to structural

factors such as impact of e-commerce on trade sector.
Stability of household still required close monitor
as the household debt to GDP ratio remained high,
though a small deleverage from previous year. Also
household debt serviceability slightly deteriorated,
especially in mortgage loan of which new entry NPL
rate continued to grow. The stability of financial
institutions stayed sound with high levels of loan
loss provisions and capital buffers. In addition,
non-performing loans remained low.
In 2018, Thai baht against U.S. dollar moved in
two-way direction mainly due to movements of the
U.S. dollar. At the end of the year, the rate closed at
32.56, close to the end of previous year. Comparing
to regional currency, Thai baht appreciated
more than its trading partners and competitors.
The baht’s relative strength was supported by
Thailand’s external stability which continued to be
strong, as indicated by the current account surplus,
though lower than last year due to decreased trade
balance, low external debt to GDP ratio compared to
an international benchmark, and a high level of
foreign exchange reserves relative to short-term debt.
The strong external stability helped Thai economy
Bank of Thailand
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to be more resilient than other emerging countries
against uncertainties in the global economy, such
as a currency crisis in emerging market economies.
Consequently, the real effective exchange rate
(REER) at the end of a year appreciated from the
previous year. The capital and financial accounts
posted a deficit mainly from direct investments
abroad by Thai corporates. However, there were
still inflows in direct investment and portfolio
investment in debt securities, by foreign investors.

Financial conditions remained
accommodative and conducive to
economic growth.
Throughout the year, policy interest rate stayed
at a low level and was conducive to continuous
economic growth. The policy interest rate was also
lower than neighbor countries’ rates, although the
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) raised the policy
rate by 0.25 percentage point to 1.75 percent in the last
meeting of the year to curb financial stability risks
and to start building policy space. The Committee
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viewed the need for extra accommodative
monetary policy as in the previous period had
reduced. Corporate’s financing costs remained low
although government bond yields, particularly
short-term government bond yield and corporate
bond yields, increased slightly. In addition, cost
of financing through commercial banks, reflected
by the new loan rate (NLR), also remained low.
This low cost of financing facilitated continuity of
private sector financing. On the deposit side, some
commercial banks gradually raised fixed deposit
interest rates to promote retail deposit and support
the economic growth.
Looking ahead in 2019, the Thai economy
was projected to record slower growth but
remained close to the potential growth. Exports of
some merchandises could be affected by further
global economic slowdown due to the impact from
the greater clarity on U.S.-China trade dispute.
However, continued domestic demand expansion
from private and public spending would cushion
the fall in external demand. Headline inflation would
slow down following the downward trend of global
crude oil prices.

Annual Report 2018

Bank of Thailand

2. Maintaining Economic and Financial Stability
In pursuit of the monetary policy objective of maintaining economic and financial stability, the BOT
conducts multiple operations in the financial market, including monetary operations, financial market
development, reserve management, and foreign exchange control relaxation. In 2018, the developments
of BOT’s operations were as follows:

2.1 Monetary Operations
The BOT’s monetary operations are designed to
maintain an appropriate liquidity condition under
which the banking system can meet their liquidity
demand, both for the maintenance of required
reserves and for settlement balances. This is to ensure
that the prevailing money market rates are in line with
the rate set by the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC).
In 2018, excess liquidity in the Thai banking
system declined slightly mainly due to an
increase in government deposits at the BOT and an
expansion in demand for currency. As a result, the
BOT absorbed 92.7 billion baht less excess liquidity
compared to the previous year. Liquidity absorption
was carried out through 4 open market operations
tools, namely the Bank of Thailand bonds and bills
issuance, the Bilateral repurchase transactions,
the Foreign exchange swap transactions, and the
Outright purchases and sales of public sector debt
securities. Details regarding liquidity management
via each absorption instrument were as follows:
(1) Bank of Thailand bonds and bills issuance
The issuance of BOT bonds and bills is the
principal channel used to absorb structural liquidity
surplus in the system. In addition, it contributes

to the development of Thailand’s bond market by
enhancing liquidity and efficiency in the market.
In planning bond issuance strategy, the BOT takes
into consideration prevailing market and liquidity
conditions, as well as the government’s funding
plans.
In the first half of 2018, the BOT continued to
limit the supply of BOT bills with maturities of less
than 1 year, in a measure aimed at curbing shortterm speculations of the Thai baht. However, the
conditions in the financial market changed in the
second half of the year, following the increase in
policy rates of the developed economies and periods
of heightened volatilities in the financial market.
Such global conditions rendered the Thai shortterm bills less attractive for foreign investors. As a
result, in May 2018, the BOT deemed it appropriate
to relax the aforementioned measure by gradually
raising the supply of short-term bills. Overall, in
2018 the net BOT bonds and bills outstanding rose
434.9 billion baht, totaling 3,476.7 billion baht at the
end of the year, (65.5 billion baht of which was held
by the BOT through bond buyback operations.) In
summary, BOT bonds and bills outstanding
accounted for approximately 56 percent of the total
absorption outstanding2 , and in that share around 45
percent were BOT bills of less than 1 year maturities.

2

Total absorption outstanding includes the outstanding of BOT bonds and bills (excluding BOT bonds held by the BOT),
Bilateral Repurchase transactions, Foreign exchange swap transactions, and End-of-day deposit facility.
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In October 2018, the BOT raised the cap for the
Post-Auction Options (PAO), which was available
for BOT bonds with maturities of 1 year and above,
from 10% to 20% of the amount allocated in the
competitive auctions. This enhanced flexibility in
BOT bond issuance, allowing it to better respond
to volatile demand in the bond market, especially
amidst heightened financial market volatility in
recent periods.

BRP transactions are carried out with BRP PDs in
the morning of every business day4. These BRP PDs
serve as liquidity adjustment intermediaries between
the BOT and other financial institutions, through the
use of Private Repo transactions or Uncollateralized
Interbank markets. This BRP PDs scheme helps
support financial market development by fostering
an adoption among interbank participants of market
practices that are in line with international standards.

With regard to the BOT bonds and bills
issuance plan for 20193 , the BOT eliminated reopenings for 1-year bills. Instead, a new issue will be
auctioned every month. As a result, the outstanding
size of 1-year bills will be smaller than in previous
years, which will help avoid heightened volatilities in
short-term bond yields at the time of their maturities.
Moreover, the BOT plans to reduce the issuance size
of the 3-year bonds, but increase that of the 3-year
floating-rate bonds. This is in order to accommodate
the liquidity and market conditions, as well as
the government’s funding plans going forward.

In 2018, net liquidity absorption through BRP
transactions decreased by 344.8 billion baht. At yearend, it totaled 1,713.9 billion baht, over 70 percent
of which was 1-day and 7-day transactions. Overall,
BRP transactions accounted for approximately 27
percent of the total absorption outstanding.

(2) Bilateral Repurchase transactions with
Primary Dealers
The BOT uses Bilateral Repurchase (BRP)
transactions with appointed BRP Primary Dealers
(BRP PDs) to manage short-term liquidity
fluctuations, particularly those resulting from
government cash flows and seasonal factors, such
as demand for currency. To enhance the signaling of
MPC stance, the 1-day BRP transactions are conducted
as fixed rate tender at the policy rate. Meanwhile,
Term BRP transactions (7-day, 14-day, and 1-month
tenors) are executed as variable rate tender, in the
form of spreads over the policy rate (Indexed BRP).
Thus, the interest rates earned on these Term BRP
transactions will vary with changes in the policy rate
over the duration of the transactions.
3

(3) Foreign exchange swap transactions
The Foreign exchange swap (FX swap) transactions
are used as a supplementary absorption tool, as they
can be adjusted fairly flexibly according to BOT’s
liquidity absorption needs and market conditions. In
2018, FX swap outstanding fell by 121.3 billion baht,
totaling 1,064.3 billion baht, or 32.5 billion USD, at
year-end. In sum, FX swap transactions constituted
approximately 17 percent of the total absorption
outstanding.
(4) Outright purchases and sales of public
sector debt securities
The BOT can permanently inject liquidity into or
drain liquidity from the banking system by purchasing
or selling outright public sector debt securities with
appointed e-Outright counterparties. Generally,
the BOT conducts outright purchase operations on
government securities, because they are highly liquid
in the secondary market. In 2018, 82.5 billion baht of
government securities and 62.2 billion baht of BOT
bonds were purchased, while some securities held in

For more details on BOT bonds and bills issuance plan for 2019, please refer to
https://www.bot.or.th/Thai/PressandSpeeches/Press/News2562/n0262e.pdf
4
This is except for days of MPC meetings, in which BRP transactions are carried out in the afternoon after the release of MPC
press statement, instead of in the morning.
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the BOT’s portfolio matured. In sum, the amount of
securities in the BOT portfolio rose by 111.3 billion
baht.
In addition to open market operations outlined
above, the BOT also operates end-of-day liquidity
adjustment windows in the form of overnight
standing facilities, which include the Lending and
Deposit Facilities. Through these windows, financial
institutions with liquidity deficit or surplus
at end-of-day can borrow or deposit funds
overnight at policy rate plus or minus 50 basis points,
respectively. The interest rates on the Deposit and
Lending Facilities together form an interest rate
corridor that helps limit short-term volatility in the
money market interest rates. In 2018, the majority of
transactions in the end-of-day liquidity adjustment
windows were deposits, which averaged at around
6.3 billion baht per day.

2.2 Financial Markets Development
The BOT continues to foster an awareness
among small and medium enterprises (SMEs) of the
importance of foreign exchange hedging. This
is to ensure their resilience in times of exchange
rate volatility. In 2018, the BOT emphasized
promoting literacy with regard to foreign exchange
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risk management through informational video clips
and websites. Also, to ensure that SMEs had sufficient
information for their hedging decisions, the BOT
published pricing for various hedging instruments,
including 1) indicative forward points used in FX
forward contracts for SMEs, and 2) deposit rates and
transaction fees for foreign currency deposits (FCD)
accounts at each commercial bank, which allowed for
more convenient price comparisons across banks.
Apart from providing knowledge and
information, the BOT, in collaboration with the
Ministry of Industry, the Office of Small and
Medium Enterprises Promotion, the Export-Import
Bank of Thailand, the Thai Bankers’ Association,
and eight partner commercial banks, launched
the second phase of the Foreign Exchange Risk
Management Program for SMEs, following the
launch of the first phase last year. The objective of the
program was to raise SMEs’ awareness and provide
comprehensive understanding of foreign exchange
risk management through seminars and hands-on
experience in using FX options. In addition, SMEs
participating in this program would receive a
sponsored premium of 50,000 baht per business entity
for the purchase of FX options from partner banks.
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2.3 Reserve Management and Operations5
Reserves management by the Bank of Thailand (BOT) is based on the principle of prudence, investing in
safe and high liquidity assets that provide a reasonable return within the investment and risk guidelines. The
BOT has closely monitored and analyzed economies together with financial developments of the invested
countries, anticipated the movement of foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and asset prices, as well as,
assessed the risk environment to enhance returns and lower overall financial risk. In addition, the BOT aims
to diversify investment risk in the portfolio by increasing both number of countries and types of asset classes
in the investment universe. Therefore, in 2018, the BOT started to invest in foreign equity securities
according to the Bank of Thailand Act (the sixth edition) B.E. 2560, which amended the foreign asset investment
to include the Exchange-Traded Funds (ETFs) or foreign equity securities issued by foreign juristic persons,
and the investment guidelines approved subsequently by the Bank of Thailand Board on 22 March 2017.
To strengthen reserve management efficiency, the BOT adopted various types of analytic tools such
as quantitative and macroeconomic modeling to contemplate and assess structural changes in invested
assets and countries, as well as, to broaden the asset universe under both internal and external management.
Moreover, the BOT also developed reserve management practice and continually explored investment
instruments to enhance returns, reduce risk, and minimize operating expenses corresponding to the Bank
of Thailand Board’s guidelines.

2.4 Foreign Exchange Control
The Bank of Thailand (BOT) has been entrusted by the Minister of Finance with the responsibility of
administering foreign exchange and has prescribed rules and regulations regarding foreign exchange
transactions to maintain stability of the Thai financial system.
In 2018, The BOT continued to implement the foreign exchange regulation reform under which rules and
regulations were relaxed so that they became in line with the constantly changing economic and financial
context and to enhance ease of doing business.
The foreign exchange regulation reform in 2018 can be summarized as follows;
1. Relaxation on Portfolio Investment Abroad
- Allowed Thai investors who had financial assets of THB 50 million but less than THB 100 million
(Qualified Investor) to invest in foreign securities without going through domestic investment agents up to
the investment limit of USD 1 million per person per year.
- Allowed securities companies to apply for foreign exchange licenses to buy, sell, or exchange foreign
currencies with their customers for investment in securities under the scope of securities brokerage business. This
relaxation aimed to increase the number of foreign exchange service providers and offer choices to customers.
In 2018, six securities companies were granted foreign exchange licenses by the Minister of Finance.
2. Relaxation on Regulations Regarding Authorized Money Transfer Agents
- Increased the limit that authorized money transfer agents could remit foreign currencies overseas
as requested by customers to THB 800,000 per day per customer to facilitate SMEs businesses and retail
5

Major portfolios under BOT management include liquidity portfolio and long-term investment portfolio.
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customers. In 2019, the BOT will relax on the qualifications of those applying for a money transfer agent
license by lowering the Thai-resident shareholding requirement from at least three-fourths to only one-fourths
of paid-up registered capital to allow higher participation of international money transfer service providers
and encourage competition which will help lower transfer fees.
2. การผ่อนคลายการทาธุรกรรมเงิ นตราต่างประเทศของ Qualified Company
บริ ษทั ทั ่วไป

กรอกคาขอโอนเงิน
ตามขัน้ ตอนของ ธพ.

ยื่นเอกสารแสดงภาระ ทุกครัง้
หรือยื่นหนังสืออนุญาตหลายฉบับ

ธนาคารพาณิ ชย์

Qualified Company

กรอกคาขอโอนเงิน
ตามขันตอนของ
้
ธพ.

เพียงยื่นหนังสือ
ให้ความเห็นชอบจาก ธปท.
และแจ้งวัตถุประสงค์/
รายละเอียดธุรกรรม

ไม่ต้องยื่นเอกสารแสดงภาระ

การผ่อนคลายการท�ำธุรกรรมเงินตราต่างประเทศของ Qualified Company

ธนาคารพาณิ ชย์
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Building an ecosystem to cope with exchange rate volatilities
Given an increasingly volatile global financial markets, the BOT has emphasized promoting more balanced
capital inflows and outflows, as well as developing an ecosystem to support the private sector’s ability to
manage FX risks. For SMEs, in particular, the BOT has continued to raise their awareness to hedge FX risks
regularly in both directions. There are various alternatives to help manage FX risks:
1. The use of local currencies can help private
sector reduce their FX rate variation risks by using
Thai Baht or local currency of trading partner’s for
invoicing currency instead of the US dollar which
has been more volatile partly due to the trade war.
Nevertheless, the Thai entrepreneurs still quote
prices in terms of USD almost 80 percent, even
though the trade with US enterprises are merely
over 10 percent.
The BOT has been promoting the use of local
currencies in recent years. The BOT has signed
agreements with China and Japan, which are major
trading partners, to promote the use of direct
quotation between the Chinese Renminbi and the
Thai Baht as well as between the Japanese Yen
and the Thai Baht for invoicing. This aims to bring
down FX spreads and lower businesses’ transaction
costs. Furthermore, the BOT has also expanded its
collaboration to other countries in the region such as
Malaysia, Indonesia, and CLMV countries.
These initiatives have helped reduce exchange rate
cost and more businesses in the region have shifted
to use local currencies for their trade transactions.
Recent data shows less reliance on the US dollar,
particularly for exports within ASEAN, especially
Myanmar and Lao PDR. As Thailand chairs ASEAN
in 2019, the BOT will use this opportunity to further
promote the use of local currencies among ASEAN
members, which will further enhance our regional
trade and strengthen our regional cooperation.

สกุลเงินที่ ใช้ ในการก�ำหนดราคาค่าสินค้า
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ผู้ประกอบการมีสัดส่วนการใช้บัญชี FCD เพื่อช�ำระค่าสินค้าเพิ่มขึ้น
2. Foreign currency deposits (FCD) Firms with
โครงสร้างการช�ำระเงินค่าสินค้าออก
โครงสร้างการช�ำระเงินค่าสินค้าเข้า
foreign exchange obligations in the future can
deposit their foreign currencies in FCD accounts in
order to reduce risks from exchange
rate volatilities.
หยวน และบาท-เยน โดยตรง (direct
The BOT has published the deposit rates and
transaction fees of FCD accounts of each commercial
bank on its website, so that firms can conveniently
compare information across banks. According to
the latest data, Thai firms have relied increasingly
on FCD accounts for the payment of goods and
services. Based on the latest information, the number
In addition to supporting Thai firms to be
of Thai firms that use FCD accounts for payment and immuned from exchange rate volatilities, the BOT
receipt of goods and services has increased from the also recognizes the importance of facilitating more
previous year.
balanced capital flows. The BOT has continuously
driven the Foreign Exchange Regulation Reform
3. Foreign exchange hedging instruments such in order to facilitate the private firms for doing
as FX options. Starting in November 2018, the BOT, business. These are, for example, streamlining
in collaboration with government agencies and procedures and reducing documents required for
commercial banks, has launched the second phase transferring money abroad. Moreover, firms under
of FX Options project to enable SMEs to purchase specified qualifications can apply as a qualified
options to mitigate foreign exchange risks. In the company (QC), which allows them to conduct
second phase of the project, the sponsored premium foreign exchange transactions with the commercial
for the purchase of FX options has been raised bank without any underlying documents for more
from 30,000 baht to 50,000 baht per business entity. convenience in foreign currency management.
Furthermore, the BOT has published the average Meanwhile, Thai investors with more than 50 million
forward points quoted by commercial banks on baht in total assets can apply as a qualified investor
BOT website. This will enhance transparency and (QI), which enables them to directly invest in
provide useful information for firms that consider offshore securities without a need to invest through
engaging in FX forward contracts with commercial local investment agents, expanding their options in
banks. Overall, the effort will facilitate Thai firms foreign investment.
by offering a greater variety of foreign exchange
hedging instruments.
ขาย FX

รับช�ำระเป็นเงินบาทผ่านบัญชี NRBA

ถอนบัญชี FCD

กู้เงินสกุลต่างประเทศ ธพ.

คืนหนี้สกุลต่างประเทศแก่ ธพ.

ฝากบัญชี FCD

จ่ายช�ำระเป็นเงินบาทผ่านบัญชี NRBA
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The distribution of economic growth is a structural problem
which the BOT put emphasis on and monitor closely.
Such a problem cannot be solved by one organization.
It requires cooperation between several sectors.
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3. Maintaining Financial Institutions System Stability
3.1 Issuance of regulations for financial
institutions
The BOT issued and amended regulatory
notifications in order to ensure resilience and sound
risk management among financial institutions in
accordance with the international standards, and
also to promote financial inclusion and operational
efficiency of financial institutions in response to the
changing business landscape.
(1) Ensuring Resilience and Sound Risk
Management of Financial Institutions
(1.1) Participation in the Financial Sector
Assessment Program (FSAP) The BOT and other
pertinent regulators put a priority on the FSAP
assessment, as it would help identify strengths and
weaknesses in the Thai financial system and enhance
the developments in the financial sector to be in
line with international standards. The preliminary
assessment results of the First Mission showed that
Thailand’s financial sector remained resilient and
displayed a high-level of compliance with international
standards for the banking supervision and financial
market infrastructure. Moreover, much progress
has been made in the area of crisis management,
safety nets, and resolution framework, Financial
Technology (Fintech), and private funded pension
system. The Second Mission would take place during
February 2019.
(1.2) Regulation on Corporate Governance
The BOT placed emphasis on good corporate
governance practices which financial institutions
and financial business groups should embed into
their business practices by strengthening Regulation
on Corporate Governance. The practices included
fit and proper criteria of the directors and senior
management, role and responsibilities of the board
and senior management, control mechanism that
facilitate effective internal control and enable financial
institutions and financial business groups to run their
business soundly in the changing risk environment

Media briefing on uplifting Corporate Governance and
Strengthen Financial Institutions’ Risk Management, 21 June
2018

including IT risk, as well as encouraging this to
improve their culture and behavior by taking into
account risks, fairness, transparency and interests
of stakeholders. This would enable financial
institutions to operate soundly, as well as manage risk
and create value appropriate and ultimately support
long-term sustainable growth of the economy.
(1.3) Regulations on Information Technology
(IT) Risk of Financial Institutions The BOT issued IT Risk Management Regulation and IT Risk
Management Implementation Guideline for
Financial Institutions to enhance IT governance,
IT security, IT risk management, IT compliance,
IT audit, and IT project management of financial
institutions. The regulations and guideline are in
accordance with the IT risk management principles,
namely (1) confidentiality of system and information
(2) integrity of system and information and (3)
availability of IT. The regulation came into effect on
1 April 2018.
(1.4) Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
disclosure standards The BOT prescribed LCR
disclosure standards to help stakeholders in assessing
the liquidity risk of the financial institutions,
enhance market discipline, and achieve alignment with
international standards. The standards require
financial institutions to disclose LCR information
on their websites from the first half of 2018 onward.
Bank of Thailand
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(1.5) Regulation on the Net Stable Funding
Ratio (NSFR) As banks have crucial role in financial
resource allocation to support economic growth, it is
necessary that banks must have ability to manage and
withstand unforeseen circumstances, such as liquidity
stress. The BOT, therefore, issued the Regulation on
NSFR, a measure of a bank’s liquidity adequacy over
one year period, aiming to ensure that banks manage
their sources of funds (i.e. deposits, borrowings, and
equity) to better match with their uses of funds (i.e.
investments, loans, and other obligations) and hence
can better withstand a longer period of liquidity stress.
This regulation complements the Regulation on LCR,
which aims to address banks’ short-term liquidity
stress. The Regulation on NSFR came into force since
1 July 2018.
(1.6) Adoption of Thai Financial Reporting
Standard 9: Financial Instruments (TFRS 9) As the
Accounting Professions Supervision Commission
agreed on the adoption of TFRS 9 and relevant
accounting standards for the financial statements
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, the BOT revised
all relevant regulations such as asset classification
and provisioning, debt restructuring, accounting
requirements, and presentation and disclosure
of financial statements. In addition, the BOT is
in the process of revising regulations on capital
maintenance of financial institutions to lessen
impacts of TFRS 9 adoption on capital and to be in
line with foreign regulators.
(1.7) Regulations on the approval of an auditor of a financial institution The BOT revised the
regulations regarding the rotation of an auditor to
ensure auditor independence which has implications
on the quality of financial statements, and to align
with international standards. The regulations require
financial institutions to apply for approval in the
case where the auditor has performed an audit of
financial statements of that financial institution for 7
cumulative accounting years, after the cooling-off
period of 5 consecutive accounting years. The
regulation will be effective from 1 January 2019.
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(1.8) Regulations on Capital Supervision of
Financial Business Groups The BOT revised the
Regulations on Capital Supervision of Financial
Business Groups to add exemption from the
deduction of the financial business group’s capital
in the case where the life insurance company within
the financial business group holds or invests in
securities that are counted as capital of other financial
institutions or other financial business groups.
(1.9) Regulations on Structure and Scope of
Business of Financial Business Groups The BOT
revised the Regulations on Structure and Scope
of Business of Financial Business Groups to allow
financial business groups of Thai financial
institutions to expand their business overseas and to
support the business networks consistent with the
ASEAN Economic Community (AEC). The parent
company is permitted to hold or possess shares in
offshore financial institutions in excess of 10% of
total distributed shares of such financial institution,
without having control over the financial institutions
with prior approval from the BOT on case-by-case
basis.
(1.10) Progress on legislative revisions in
areas concerning the BOT’s operations as follows :
			 1) The Amendment of the Bank of
Thailand Act, B.E. 2485 : the BOT proposed an
amendment to the BOT Act which came into
effect on 28 July 2018 to further strengthen the bank
resolution framework for dealing with a distressed
bank with potential impacts on financial stability.
Having an effective resolution framework would
reduce potential impacts of a bank in distress on the
economic and financial stability and promote public
confidence that continuity of critical services would
be maintained.
			 2) Emergency Decree on Asset
Management Company B.E. 2541 : The Ministry
of Finance and the BOT proposed to the Cabinet
an amendment of the Emergency Decree on Asset
Management Company B.E. 2541 to enhance the
effectiveness of household debt resolution including
those originated by banks and non-banks especially
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in the case of several creditors. The amendment
covered (1) broadening the scope of asset management
company (AMC)’s business to cover purchase,
acceptance of transfer, and provide management
service of non-performing assets of a non-bank
financial service provider and provide advisory
services on debt restructuring and (2) empowering
authority of the BOT to regulate AMC‘s
corporate governance. Regarding current status, the
proposed Draft Act has been approved by the National
Legislative Assembly.
(2) Ensuring financial institutions system and
economic stability
(2.1) 3-Regulator Steering Committee To
foster collaboration between financial regulators
and enhance the country’s financial stability, the
BOT together with the SEC and the OIC regularly
hosted 3-Regulator Steering Committee meetings.
The meetings were conducted on a quarterly
basis to formulate a clear and concrete framework
for collaboration and facilitate supervision of
interconnected issues, for instance, participation
of the FSAP, financial stability institutional
arrangement and policy related to market conduct,
and to monitor the progress on work plan of working
groups established under 3-Regulator Steering
Committee.
(2.2) Guideline on businesses and transactions
related to digital assets of financial institutions and
companies within the financial business group On
1 August 2018, the BOT allowed security companies
and insurance companies in financial business
groups to have transactions or conduct businesses relating to digital assets in compliance with
regulations of their respective lead regulators.
Meanwhile, financial institutions could invest or
hold digital assets only for encouraging financial
innovations and expanding financial services to the
customer. Currently the BOT is in the process of
considering appropriate regulations.

(2.3) Regulation to support the government’s
‘single account’ policy The BOT revised policy
statements on credit transactions, investments,
and asset disposals by requiring both financial
institutions and Specialized Financial Institutions
(SFIs) to consider the actual business condition and
performance, incorporate quality of client’s financial
statement as factors of assessing client’s risk rating,
loan pricing, and credit line which will encourage
clients to prepare reliable financial statement which
also support the government’s ‘single account’
policy. This regulation will be applicable to credit
review and credit approval starting from 1 January
2019 onwards.

Financial Stability Networking Seminar, 30 October 2018
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Financial Institutions Regulation Reform
Technological advancement has led to a transformation of Thailand’s financial landscape in several dimensions,
including the emergence of new market players, the development of new financial products and services, and
the increasing importance of stakeholders’ relationship. Therefore, the BOT has highlighted the need to foster
a transition towards the digital era. This is to enable the financial system to operate at its full potential by
leveraging the use of technology that would continuously encourage innovation, improve service efficiency
and decrease consumer burden.

The BOT role as a financial institutions
supervisor and consumer protector must be
adjusted to allow for technological development and
changing operating environment. The aim is to
strike the right balance between financial system
stability and innovation which could help increase
competitiveness and finally benefit both individual
and business customers, particularly SMEs.
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As a result, The BOT has applied the Regulatory
Impact Assessment (RIA) principle, a widely
accepted best practice in terms of regulatory issuance
process, on existing regulations in order to revamp
unnecessary regulations (Regulatory Guillotine) and
revise the outdated ones. It is done as a continuous
work following the implementation of the previous
project, FX Regulatory Guillotine, in 2017.

Annual Report 2018

In 2018, the BOT emphasized the adoption
of technology in financial services, therefore the
regulatory revision was focused on two specific
areas (1) the promotion of digital financial services
and (2) the accommodation of SMEs financing. For
example, the BOT has lifted its approval requirement
when using new technology and service as well as
rules regarding regulatory sandbox to facilitate the
development of innovations and increase efficiency.
In addition, the BOT allows the use of alternative data
when determining ability to pay of the borrowers
(information-based lending), as well as relaxes the
collateral valuation requirement to reduce cost for
customer and increase efficiency for financial institutions.
The goal of the reform is to create agility in operating
environment for financial institutions and other
financial service providers by deploying technology
as a means to achieve four areas;
(1) To increase the speed of financial services and
innovations (speed),
(2) To widen the scope of services in multiple
forms (scope),
(3) To be able to serve the demand of different
customer segments (scale),
(4) To improve potential of financial institutions
and other financial service providers by way of
integration and collaboration (sharing) to be able
to better meet the needs of individual customers
(segment of one)
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While the consumer and SMEs benefit from the
wide varieties of financial services and innovations
that help increase service efficiency and improve
accessibility at a lower cost, the BOT will actively
monitor the implementation and development in
the market to ensure financial system stability and
appropriate financial consumer protection.
The BOT has engaged with many stakeholders
including financial institutions and SMEs for over 6
months to discuss and exchange view on regulatory
impediment to doing business as well as financial
access. The BOT, together with the working group
come up with a set of recommendations. This is to
make certain that the stakeholders truly benefit from
the regulatory revision. Data analytic tool has also
been used to help identify existing regulation issues
and obstacles.
Through this process, the BOT has shifted its
regulator mindset to a facilitator mindset which helps
accelerate innovation and shorten time to market
of new financial services and is expected to save
regulatory cost by 1,100 million baht per year. As
for SMEs, in addition to easier access to lending, the
overall collateral valuation expense for SMEs could
be lowered by 500 million baht per year.
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(2.4) Recovery planning requirements Since
commercial bank’s preparedness is necessary for
timely and effective response to a crisis which can
alleviate potential impacts on the economic and
financial stability as well as rebuilding stakeholder’s
confidences, the BOT has issued a Notification and
Guideline requiring commercial banks to develop
recovery plans. Key elements of a recovery plan
include indicators and recovery triggers, recovery
options and communication strategies to ensure
correct understanding of the situation. Domestic
Systemically Important Bank (D-SIBs) and other
locally incorporated banks are required to submit their
first recovery plans to the BOT by June 2019 and June
2020 respectively.
(2.5) Revision on residential mortgage lending
regulations Intensifying competition in residential
mortgage market has increased the willingness of
financial institutions to accept higher level of risks and
to loosen their credit underwriting standards. Searchfor-yield behavior also has surged substantially in
recent periods, reflected by rising share of borrowers
with multiple outstanding mortgages. Such behavior
could be seen as a sign of “underpricing of risks”
among investors clustering in residential real estate
market. In light of these circumstances, the BOT has
tightened existing lending regulation on residential
mortgages to enhance credit standards, dampen
investor demand and encourage a good credit
culture. Altogether, these factors would help to contain
risk buildups in residential real estate market from
spilling over to the wider economy and hence

Media briefing on Macroprudential Policy for Residential
Mortgage Lending, 4 October 2018
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supporting the resilience of the financial system in
the periods ahead. Measures under new regulation
are on down payment or loan-to-value ratio (LTV
ratio) requirement for mortgage and top-up loans,
and evaluation of collaterals.
(3) Enhancing operational efficiency of financial
institutions
(3.1) Financial Institution Regulation Reform
As changing technologies have shifted consumer
behaviors and business direction, the existing
regulatory framework may need to be reformed, in order
to provide opportunities for financial institutions
to explore, develop and adopt new technologies at
a faster pace which could help increase efficiency
and reduce consumer burden in providing financial
service. In this regard, the BOT has applied the
concept of RIA on 2 important areas which are (1)
promoting digital banking and (2) accommodating
SMEs financing. Under RIA project, there are
revisions of regulations related to IT, regulatory
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แนวนโยบายการก�ำกับดูแล
สินเชื่อเพื่อที่อยู่อาศัย

ทำไมตองทำ?

ทำอะไร?

มาตรการนจ้ีะชวยอะไร ชวยใคร?
(Real Demand)
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sandbox, relevant financial services business, and
SMEs lending, as well as financial institution working
process and the BOT approval process, which are
expected to be finished by the first quarter of 2019.
(3.2) Regulations on Peer-to-Peer (P2P) Lending
Platform the BOT has been considering the
Regulations on P2P Lending Platform to determine
criteria, process and requirements on conducting
such business in alignment with the regulation of
the Ministry of Finance. The key objectives are to
encourage the use of innovations in developing the
financial sectors while widening opportunities for
consumers to access funding, as well as offering an
alternative investment to the investor.

Proportion of community classified by financial service
accessibility within 5 kms
Media briefing on Peer-to-Peer Lending Platform,
26 September 2018

(3.3) Regulations on banking channels As
banks have been focusing on using digital channels
to provide financial products and services, the
BOT revised the regulations on banking channels
that increase flexibilities and conform to digital
trend, in order to accommodate banks to efficiently
manage their service channels and promote financial
inclusion. For example, the regulations allow more
types of banking agent and permitted transactions
for banking agent. They also emphasizes the roles
and responsibilities of the board of directors in
approving policies and strategies regarding the
banking channel, including risk management that
can accommodate the change in banking channel
appropriately and the context of fair customer
service. The regulations came into effect on 6 March
2018.
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(4) Financial Sector Development
The BOT has introduced the Financial Sector
Master Plan Phase III (2016 - 2020) with implementation
progress as follows:
(4.1) Promoting electronic financial and
payment services and enhancing efficiency of the
financial system by raising the ceiling of fund
transfer amount via electronic channel (internet and
mobile banking) using account number to facilitate
a more convenience in line with people needs
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(4.2) Facilitating regional trade and investment
connectivity by promoting the use of local currencies
in ASEAN region (CLMV Malaysia and Indonesia).
Currently, retail payment in local currency through QR
code has been enabled as a result of the collaboration
between Thailand and Lao PDR commercial banks.
Additionally, all Thai commercial banks are now
being able to execute Ringgit-Baht and Rupiah-Baht
transactions that would help facilitate trade
settlements in the region.

(5.3) Granting of Credit Using Information(4.3) Developing financial infrastructures which based Lending Process: Financial institutions have
the BOT, commercial banks, Specialized Financial adopted information-based process along with the
Institutions (SFIs), and the Association of Investment use of cutting-edge technology to help making
Management Companies, has collaborativelybeen decisions during the credit approval process to
supporting the development of banking sector small-to-medium enterprises (SMEs). Consequently,
professionals by promoting training and setting the BOT made a revision on the existing rules by
up a registration and a certification system for extending permission to lenders under supervision
traders in the foreign currency and financial markets to assess repayment ability using alternative data
(Treasury Dealer Certification) to build up the in addition to income. The BOT has also made a
standard of treasury dealer. Furthermore, the market cancellation on the credit limit imposed on
conduct regulation is now in effect to enhance the some types of personal loans. Altogether, these
operation of the financial institutions. 		 amendments were made for the purpose of providing
greater financial access to SMEs.
(5) Promoting Financial Access
(5.1) Encouraging financial institutions to
adopt the sustainable banking concept in which
the BOT has organized the first Bangkok Sustainable
Banking Forum in 2018 to raise the banking sector
awareness that would lead to adherence to good
governance and the integration of environmental
and social aspects into the operation of financial
business
(5.2) Launching of Basic Banking Account:
with collaboration from the BOT, 14 commercial
banks under the Thai Bankers’ Association,
Government Savings Bank and Bank for Agriculture
and Agricultural Cooperatives have launched the
“Basic Banking Account”, which aims to provide
greater financial access across low income earners
and elderly individuals.

(5.4) Regulating auto title loans by expanding
the supervisory scope of personal loan regulation to
include auto title loans. This regulatory revision was
triggered by the demand-side survey which revealed
that low income customers often experience an excessive
interest rate charged on auto title loans and a poor
service standard. Consequently, the regulation aimed
to enhance financial access across low income earners
at a reasonable price and with a fair treatment.
(6) Financial Institutions Policies in International
Fora
In order to facilitate financial integration and
intra-ASEAN trade and investment, the BOT has
engaged in the eighth round of negotiations on
financial services liberalization under the ASEAN
Framework Agreement on Services (AFAS).
The BOT has reached a conclusion on Qualified
ASEAN Banks (QABs) negotiation with Malaysia and
Bank of Thailand
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the QABs commitments are expected to be signed
in April 2019. Furthermore, the BOT is currently
negotiating with Indonesia and Myanmar and
conducting research on the Phillipines’ financial
landscape to explore its market potential.

accounting standards and cross-border data sharing
activities. This will be used for drafting a roadmap
to promote regulatory coherence across ASEAN
member states as indicated under the work plan
of the Working Committee on ASEAN Banking
Integration Framework (WC-ABIF).

3.2 Supervision and Examination of
Financial Institutions

The BOT has continuously participated in
various international financial regulation and
supervision fora, for instance, Supervision and
Implementation Group (SIG), EMEAP Working
Group on Banking Supervision, and the Financial
Stability Board Regional Consultative Group for
Asia (FSB RCGA), during which the BOT has been
involved in the discussion of issues that might affect
regional economies and financial stability including
stress testing framework, supervisory assessment
of bank culture behavior and, and cross-border
resolution, and channel for exchange of information
on cybersecurity.
In addition the BOT has cooperated with the
Bank of the Lao P.D.R. to conduct a stocktaking
survey on the implementation status of international
compliance standards, including, Basel III,
84
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The BOT continuously gives priority to the
development of financial institution (FI) supervision.
In 2018, the BOT developed ongoing supervision to
be efficient and responsive to the rapid changes in the
financial and economic context, monitored the FIs’ risk
by conducting close and continuous offsite monitoring
which was supported by the improvement of the IT
systems and database for timely risk analysis and
monitoring. For example, the Market Risk Dashboard
was developed and has been used as a tool for market
risk supervision. Tools for other risks supervision
are being developed as well but the priority is given
to credit risk and asset and liability management. In
addition, the supervision places importance on the
comprehension of FIs’ organizational behavior and
culture, the enhancement of IT and cyber-attack risk
management, as well as Market Conduct supervision
which FIs are required to have in place effective system
in accordance with the BOT standards.
In 2018, the BOT examined and assessed the FIs’
significant activities (SA) such as lending, asset and
liability management, the operation of their business
hubs and affiliated companies, IT system, and regulatory
compliance. FIs’ organizational behavior and culture
were explored with respect to board of director’s
performance and risk culture awareness, so that FIs’
board and management are aware of and understand
risks relevant to the establishment of strategy and
policy as well as mechanism for managing those risks.
In respect of cyber resilience supervision, the BOT
focused on the response and recovery processes for the
purpose of FIs’ readiness to quickly respond and
resolve problems in order to mitigate cyber threat
impact. In addition, the consumer debt relief program
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(Debt Clinic) was driven further to help solve problem of
personal loan and credit card debtors who owed money
to at least two creditors, which is usually difficult to
resolve. The debt clinic is an integrated and comprehensive
one-stop-service to help honest debtors out of debt
cycle. This project has been operated along with
providing financial literacy to the debtors to prevent
the recurrence of an over-indebtedness. The market
conduct of FIs focused on providing sufficient data to
customers for making decision, as well as promoting
competitive neutrality in the Thai financial system.
(1) Financial Institutions Supervision
(1.1) The Development of Ongoing Supervision
Tools The BOT has developed supervisory tools
to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of
ongoing supervision as well as to support proactive
supervision by developing Market Risk Dashboard.
The dashboard, in place since May 2018, is an
online platform, to enable users to access, analyze
and combine large amounts of market data with
different dimensions more quickly. The dashboard
also benefits the examination of trading book and
foreign exchange transactions as well as market
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risk management of individual FIs and the financial
system as a whole. In addition, the BOT is in the
process of developing monitoring system for
credit risk (Credit Risk Dashboard), and assets and
liabilities management (ALM Dashboard). Risk
monitoring indicators for credit risk dashboard has
been completely developed and will be implemented
in January 2019.
(1.2) The Assessment of Organizational
Behavior and Risk Culture (B&C) The BOT has carried
out the B&C project focusing on the assessment
of Board effectiveness and corporate culture that
affects risk culture, organizational transparency, and
all related stakeholders. The pilot project of B&C
survey for 5 largest financial institutions was started
in 2017 and extended to all Thai commercial banks
and 3 key specialized financial institutions in 2018.
At present, the BOT is in the process of analyzing
data collected from questionnaires and interviews
with FIs’ Board and senior management. Moreover,
the text mining technology has been applied to
analyze the Board’s performance from the Board
meeting minutes. The result of B&C survey and
criteria for B&C assessment in the next phase are
expected to be presented in the first quarter of 2019.
(1.3) The Coordination with the Thai Bankers’
Association (TBA) in driving FIs to implement the
Code of conduct In 2017, TBA members signed a
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on the
cooperation in establishing the code of conduct of Thai
Bankers’ Association (TBA Code of Conduct) which
comprised 9 areas. Thereafter, the BOT has encouraged
commercial banks to rigorously and effectively
implement the code of conduct. At present, 5 areas of
the code of conduct, comprising (1) Business Code of
conduct (2) Roles of directors and executives (3) Service
standards (4) Employees and Work environment
and (5) Responsibility to customers, have been
already applied. The 4 remaining topics, which are
(1) Conflict of interest (2) Information management
(3) General Compliance and (4) Business Competition and
Resolution of Disputes, are expected to be implemented
by the end of 2019.
Bank of Thailand
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Sustainable Banking
Developments in the past decades reinforced Thai economic growth and social improvements in several
dimensions. Nevertheless, it was difficult to deny the fact that many problems; for example, environmental
problems, corruption issues, or social inequality concerns, partly resulted from these developments.
Nowadays, the fact becomes a global issue which helps arouse the global attention and then the “sustainable
banking” concept is initiated as a “way” to improve global society in a more sustainable direction in the long
run. The essence of sustainable development is a “foresight” which is focusing not only on today or shortterm benefit, but also the future, the next generation, all stakeholders and overall ecosystem.
As banking supervisor, the BOT views
that the “banking sector”, who is responsible
for allocating “financial resources” or
“capital” to the economy system, is now capable
of and ready to be the leader to drive and
make changes to the Thai society. Moreover,
the BOT encourages Thai financial institutions
to adopt and implement the concept of
“sustainability” in their companies, from
organizational culture to work process
levels. In addition to the benefits to Thai
financial institutions’ business, the sustainable
development also helps remedy social
problems in the long term as “win-win”
attitude, which is the key factor of sustainable
business operation.
Conversely, regardless of sustainability
may turn the business into strategic and
operational risks. In current context, the
more rigid audit as well as the expectation
of the society and the clients is getting more
significant. Social acceptance is regarded as
a license to operate the business.
Although this concept is still in the early
stage, Thai financial institutions recognize
its importance and view that all stakeholders
must cooperate to tackle the structural problem
of Thailand. In the past few years, Thai
banking sector has initiated several beneficial
projects as follows:
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transfer fees. In addition to the mitigation of the
inequity problem and the burden of low income
people, it also helps uplift transparency and
lessen the corruption possibility in the government’s
welfare transfer process.
(2) Basic Banking Account (BBA): BBA is a feefree basic bank account for welfare card holders and
those aged over 65 who have no savings account
in the past because of unaffordability. This is the
beginning of driving sustainable banking in terms
of financial inclusion.
(3) e-Donation project, which is the collaboration
of the Revenue Department, financial institutions,
National ITMX Co.,Ltd., and the BOT, is developed
and launched in order to help facilitate the people to
donate their money via QR-Code scanning. Then, the
donator is able to submit such donation information
to the Revenue Department without keeping the
donation receipts in the paper form. As the donation
information will be recorded in the system, easily
checked and referred to for the purpose of tax
deduction request. This approach helps facilitate
both donators and recipients, increase the
transparency and security, compared to the
conventional way of donatingthe money directly
through temples, hospitals, academic institutions.
For the latter, it is uncertain if the money reaches
the recipients and meets the donation purpose
transparently. Moreover, e-Donation helps uplift the
good governance and decrease national corruption
problem from counterfeit donation receipts which
brought in corruptions in the past.
(1) PromptPay development, which is regarded as
Thailand’s common payment system infrastructure.
It enables people to easily access the financial
services as they can transfer their money free of
charge. Moreover, it is the key accelerator driving
the financial institutions to waive all electronic fund

(4) Encouraging responsible lending among
financial institutions -such as the regulations on
financial institutions supervision for credit card
loans and personal loans in order to solve the
household debt problem. The regulations for
Market Conduct, regulations for uplifting the good
governance of financial institutions’ executives,
Bank of Thailand
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including the ethics for commercial bank operations
must be improved and elevated.
(5) Creating opportunities for debtors with
credit card and unsecured personal loans with
multi-creditors to exit the bad debt cycle by
establishing “Debt Clinic”, which is a one-stopservice national infrastructure.
All these positive developments help Thai
financial system in the big picture be more
effective and transparent. In addition, these
evolutions help the low-income people to easily
access the financial services according to their
specific need, with cheaper price and less debts. In
other words, these measures are a guidance that the
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Thai banking sectors can jointly implement in order
to address and solve the national issues, for the
well-being of Thai people, along with the business
proposition of many organizations. In 2018, the BOT
held “Bangkok Sustainable Banking Forum 2018”
for the 1st time in Thailand. The objective of this
forum is to emphasize the importance of sustainable
banking concept and build the mutual recognition
on what the financial institutions can do and must
push forward in order to create the ecosystem for
the sustainable society, to reduce household debt, to
thoroughly distribute benefits, to lessen corruption
possibility, and to generate friendly condition to the
nature and environment.
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(1.4) Consumer Debt Relief Program CDRP (Debt Clinic) After reaching the first phase
of the project, at the end of 2018, the Debt Clinic
succeeded in helping 1,087 debtors to enter into debt
restructuring program, of which 13 debtors have
already paid off their debt. In 2019, it is expected
that after the amendment of the Emergency Decree
on Asset Management Company becomes effective,
a large number of debtors of non-banks would be
able to join the program, which is considered as
important milestone and is the second phase of the
project. Moreover, in the second phase of the project,
the qualifying criteria will be revised to be more
flexible. The criteria for determining payment ability
will allow restructured debt tenor to be extended up
to 10 years, and the project offering will be revised
for easier understanding and quicker solutions. It
is expected that this second phase of Debt Clinic
will enable honest debtors, with sincere intention
to solve their problems, to get out of the debt cycle
more successfully.
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(1.5) Cyber Resilience Supervision of
Financial Sector Enhancing the Cyber resilience
supervision of the Thai financial sector is one of the
main missions of 3-year strategic plan (2017 - 2019).
The BOT encourages this because cyber resilience
is the significant stability of the modern banking
world. The major actions are (1) preparing financial
institutions to have cyber resilience and have
appropriate IT risk management by developing the
cyber resilience assessment framework that meets
international standards. (2) collaborating with other
Thai financial sector regulators, BOT SEC and OIC,
to have consistent IT risk management and cyber
resilience frameworks. There is a cybersecurity
information sharing and response and recovery
capability enhancement along with development
of staff in the financial sector, business sector and
public sector continuously.

The Financial sector cyber resilience collaboration Group, consists of the Bank of Thailand (BOT), the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), the Office of Insurance Commission (OIC), the Electronic Transactions Development Agency (ETDA) and
the Thai Bankers’ Association organized the Financial Cybersecurity Boot Camp 2018 on 26-28 October 2018.
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The preparation of cybersecurity for Thai financial sectors
Nowadays electronic transaction is growing fast because it helps enhance efficiency and reduce operating costs.
On the other hand, it leads to more risks from cyber threats. In 2018, the World Economic Forum (WEF) ranked
the cyber threat as 1 of the 10 major risks in the modern world. Even though there are risks, it is a matter that
can be coped with.

Cybersecurity occurs in the ecosystem that
encourages financial technology understanding.
Cyber threats are threats in the new ecosystem.
When it comes to the ecosystem, problems cannot
be solved by one person, but it requires the
collaboration of everyone in the ecosystem. This
includes general public, financial institutions,
service and infrastructure providers such as
mobile phone network, which are important
mechanisms for electronic financial services. Regulators
such as the BOT also take part in this ecosystem
and need to see the big picture in order to create an
ecosystem with high cybersecurity standards.
People: Apart from financial literacy, people should
also understand financial technology literacy. This
is considered an essential skill in the modern world,
which people can start from understanding risks to risk
management.
Cybersecurity is important because cyber threats can
occur in all dimensions, not only financial matters. One
must keep up with the threats which often occur in the
modern world. Moreover, “Cyber Hygiene” should be
addressed. Most people think that cybersecurity is the
security of the organization, but actually, it is “hygiene”
that we have to pay attention to, similar to the fact that
we must wash our hands before eating. Cyber hygiene
must be embedded as basic issue.
First, we must understand those risks, and do
not open the door for the thief to trespass in your
house. It is important that you have to protect
your username and password or OTP (One Time
Password) sent to your mobile phone by financial
90
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ยกระดับ cybersecurity
ของภาคการเงินไทย

institutions for verifying the online transaction.
Moreover, people should “set the maximum limit” for
their financial transactions to mitigate loss.
The most important part of the ecosystem is
financial institutions. As the financial service provider,
the financial institutions must have good systems
with high-security standards. Due to several attempts
to penetrate financial institution systems, the BOT
requires financial institutions to adopt 4 key measures
including (1) Prevention (2) Detection (3) Response, and
(4) Recovery.
Response and Recovery measures are the most
important. In the past, people might think about how
to prevent the system from cyber threats so they
focused on prevention and detection. However, because
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various areas, for example, if the system goes down,
how long it should take to recover the system. This is
for all financial institutions to meet high standards.

of the increased cyber risk, the focus is shifted to how
we should respond to cyber threats. The answer is we
must have a fast response process. If the system is
attacked, it must be recovered promptly with accurate
data, not modified data. Regular exercises are required
as preparation for real situations. Those practices are in
line with international standards which the BOT uses for
supervising financial institutions’ cybersecurity.
In addition, in 2018 the BOT issued new regulations on
IT risk management for financial institutions to provide a
clear guideline. The key is the board of directors should pay
attention to making decisions about IT risks, for example,
appropriate resource allocation and policy and guideline
formulation which include protection to the system recovery
process. Furthermore, at least one member of the board is
required to have IT knowledge or experiences.
Central bank In the overall financial system,
central banks must prevent people’s vulnerability which
affects the central system of the country. This is because
the financial system is interconnected. As a result, the
BOT requires financial institutions to improve their IT
security to meet international standards before being
allowed to connect with the central system.
Another important isue is the interconnected
financialsystem. Thus, cybersecurity is not about
competition but cooperation between financial
institutions. Lying at the heart of this idea, financial
institutions should develop the mindset of working
together to strengthen the whole system. Last, year
Thai financial institutions collaborated on many
projects, including setting minimum standards in

Data Another aspect which financial institutions or
agencies with large databases should be concerned is a
customer data breach, which currently happens around
the world. As data system protection is crucial, especially
for sensitive information, therefore, high standards
cybersecurity is needed. In addition, data protection
framework or “data governance”, for instance, storing
data at different places to avoid data breaches so that
thefts have no access to whole individual raw information;
encrypting data into another form or code in order to
protect the raw data. In 2019, the BOT will assess the
data governance of financial institutions to enhance
financial institution systems to be ready to support the
data usage in the digital age.
Data become more important in the digital
world. Some say that data will be more valuable than
gold or oil. In the modern world, various financial
transactions require data, not only financial information
but also behavior information. These should be
considered as customers’ personal information. Thus,
if the financial institution wants to connect these data to
other organizations or allow other organizations to use,
customer’s consent should be obtained before using.
However, customers usually do not read the pop-up
message, but they rend to click accept, and unintentionally
give their consents. This means that the information is
allowed to be used by default. Therefore, everyone must
be aware of their rights of privacy and protection of
personal information while service providers must have
the guideline on data security.
We cannot deny that digital technology is
important for everyone. It is our new lifestyles. Hence,
we shoud adapt ourselves to this digital world, know
technology, understand any risks related to technology,
and be able to manage those risks to use modern
financial technology to increase our potential, reduce our
living costs and create new opportunities for ourselves.
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(1.6) National e-Payment Project The BOT
monitors the service of PromptPay in both business
and systems of 23 Thai financial institutions, specialized
financial institutions and foreign bank branches.
The large and medium-sized commercial banks can
provide money transfer services with account numbers
through PromptPay since 23 June 2018 , which help enhance
the security for using electronic financial services through
mobile phones in the financial transactions and PromptPay
system. In September 2018, PromptPay service
banks and mobile phone service providers signed a
Memorandum of Understanding to develop a system for
verifying the identity of mobile phone users in the process
of applying for PromptPay service through branches and
electronic channels which will begin to serve in early 2019.
(1.7) Supervision on Information Risk
Management The BOT issued IT risk management
notification and guideline which are in line with
international standards for enabling financial institutions
to practice and use as a guideline for IT risk management.
In addition, the event report system has been
developed for financial institutions to report significant
events according to the IT risk management notification
conveniently, quickly and safely since 30 March 2018.
Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) of digital banking
project is to improve the regulation that are not obstacles
for financial institutions in applying new technologies
and innovations. In addition, the BOT participated in
the FSAP assessment of the IT supervision of financial
institutions by assessors from the IMF and World Bank.
Overall, the BOT has passed the IT risk supervision
assessment.
(1.8) Meetings and Clarifications The
BOT held meetings, seminars, and presentations
to exchange views and information on
supervision in order to build an understanding
among the BOT, FIs and other agencies.There
were (1) the presentation to FIs management
on the overall banking industry supervision and key
audit findings in 2017, including the BOT’s examination
approach in 2018 (2) the meeting with senior management
of FIs to discuss on FI’s strategic plan and business
plan (3) the Supervisory College on the supervision of
Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited for the year
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2018 to inform foreign regulators regarding the bank’s
financial position and performance, and to exchange
views on the audit findings of the bank’s head office
and oversea branches (4) the APEC - FRTI Regional
Seminar on Macroprudential Supervision to exchange
views and experiences on the oversight of overall
systemic risk of FIs among foreign supervisory
authorities, representatives from the BOT and the
APEC – FRTI (5) the SEACEN - FSI Regional Seminar
on Corporate Governance of Banks: Evaluating Culture
and Conduct to exchange views and experiences on FIs
corporate governance for effective supervision among
regional central bankers and supervisors and (6) the
presentation to SFIs’ staff to build an understanding of
big data analytics, which will help them in developing
databases and analytic system to enhance the quality of
risk assessing, controlling and monitoring.
(2) Examination of FIs’ Financial Positions,
Performance and Risk Management
In 2018, the BOT examined 33 FIs (including
SFIs) by focusing on significant activities such as
lending, asset and liability management, the operations
of business hubs and affiliated companies of FIs, the
compliance with regulations, measures to prevent Thai
Baht speculation, SME single account, e-Payment, and
SFIs’ execution of mandates.
Furthermore, thematic examinations were
conducted to assess the appropriateness of corporate
loan approval processes of the 5 largest Thai commercial
banks and the Market Conduct on the suitability of financial
products offered to retail customers of 24 FIs (including
SFIs). The Market Conduct examination is a major
part of the BOT’s strategic plan on promoting the
responsibilities and fairness of FIs in offering financial
products and services. In addition, IT systems examination
was conducted to assess IT risk management of 22 FIs
(including SFIs), 5 major electronic payment service
providers, and mobile banking transaction services of
15 FIs. Moreover, the BOT has reviewed the results of
the supervisory stress test of 15 Thai commercial banks,
which indicated that the overall banking system is
resilient. The FIs’ readiness in IFRS 9 implementation
examination was also assessed. It was found that
the overall progress of Thai commercial banks was
satisfactory.
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Number of FIs examined by the BOT in 2018
Financial Institutions
Thai commercial banks / retail banks
Foreign bank branches
Subsidiaries
Finance companies and Credit Foncier companies
Specialized Financial Institutions (SFIs)
Asset management companies
Non-banks operating credit card
business and personal loans
Total

(3) Supervision of Specialized Financial
Institutions (SFIs)
The BOT, in cooperation with the Ministry of
Finance, has proposed to amend Article 120 of the FIs
Business Act B.E. 2551 in order to enhance the effectiveness
of the BOT’s SFIs supervision. The principles of the draft
act were approved by the cabinet on 7 December 2016,
and the act was announced in the Government Gazette
on 21 November 2018, which will be effective from 19
February 2019 onwards. The BOT is in the process of
building necessary infrastructures to support the new law,
including the amendment of related notifications under
the new law and the revision of working procedures such
as appointing SFIs examiners. Furthermore, the BOT has
drafted the second phase of SFIs regulatory framework
related to financial services channels as assigned by the
Ministry of Finance covering 3 topics: Branch operations,
Receiving deposits from the public (specifically, Know
Your Customer: KYC) and using services from business
facilitators to support SFIs business. The framework has been
submitted to the Minister of Finance for further approval.
(4) Supporting and Collaboration on Saving
Cooperative Supervision
The BOT attended the meetings to offer
comments and views on the drafting of the Cooperative Act BE… with the Extraordinary Committee of the
National Legislative Assembly, and participated in
drafting Ministerial Regulations Prescribing Rules for
the Supervision of Savings Cooperatives and Credit
Union. In addition, the BOT has representatives in the
Consultant Committee on Management and Supervision

Number of FIs
15
3
4
6
2
3
33

of Savings Cooperative, and the Subcommittee to
consider Criteria for Resolving the Debt Problem of
Savings Cooperatives. Similarly, the BOT participated
in meetings to consider the criteria and guidelines for
resolving debt problems of the savings cooperative
members, as well as criteria for investment. There
were also meetings among the executives of the BOT,
the Ministry of Finance, the Cooperative Promotion
Department and the Department of Cooperative
Auditing to set up guidelines for cooperative supervision
and the preparations for the new Cooperative Act when
it becomes effective. In addition, the BOT provided
knowledge and training on various aspects of savings
cooperative supervision such as savings cooperative risk
management and internal control, savings cooperative
examination, financial reporting data management, and
the analysis of data obtained from the reports on asset
quality or liabilities.
(5) Information Sharing on FIs Supervision with
Regional Central Banks
Up to the end of 2018, the BOT has signed
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on FIs
supervisorycooperation with foreign supervisory
agenciesin 8 countries, which are India, Malaysia,
Singapore, China, Philippines, Cambodia, Japan and
Indonesia, in order to strengthen the cooperation on
FIs supervisionamong the regulators and supervisors
in the region and to develop supervisory system to be
more efficient and in line with international standards.
Currently, the BOT is in the process of negotiating
drafts of MOU on supervisors’ coordination with 3
other countries, namely Taiwan, Lao PDR and Vietnam.
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4. Payment Systems Stability
The BOT has implemented payment systems policy to enhance the efficiency, mitigate risk and protect
consumers. Moreover, it has strengthened the oversight on payment systems to comply with international
standards. The main activities in 2018 can be summarized as follows:

4.1 Enhancing efficiency in Payment Systems
(1) Promotion and Development of e-Payment
Services
		
		 (1.1) Main activities under the National
e-Payment Master Plan

categorized into registration with 29.3 million
citizen IDs, 16.8 million mobile phone numbers,
71,000 Corporate TAX IDs, and 304,000 e-Wallet
IDs. Accumulated transactions were 1.1 billion
transactions, equivalent to 5.8 trillion Baht. This
number was composed of transfer with Proxy ID
443.79 million transactions which were equivalent
to 1.5 trillion baht, and transfer with bank account
number via PromptPay 680.89 million transactions
which were equivalent to 4.3 trillion baht.
		 In addition, during the second half of 2018,
the BOT and the commercial banks discussed on
raising the ceiling on fund transfer amounts via
online channel, namely internet banking and mobile
banking, in order to facilitate the general public and

		 The BOT has participated in formulating
the government’s National e-Payment Master
Plan, which aims to develop Thailand’s payment
systems into an entire comprehensive e-Payment.
The BOT serves a main role in driving PromptPay
infrastructure and card usage expansion projects.
		 Since PromptPay service was implemented
to serve the general public, the business sector, and
the public sector, the number of registrations and
transactions have continuously increased. As of 31
December 2018, there were 46.5 million registrants,
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small businesses to transfer larger amount
in one transaction. The commercial banks
raised the ceiling on fund transfer amounts
according to risk appetite of each bank,
from the former maximum amount of
50,000 baht per transaction to 699,999 baht
per transaction since October 2018.
		 (1.2) Develop and promote the use
of standardized QR Code for payment and
money transfer
		 The BOT has encouraged the
collaboration the use of standardized Thai
QR Code Payment among international
card schemes (American Express, JCB,
MasterCard, UnionPay International,
and Visa), financial institutions, local
card schemes, and payment service
providers in Thailand to be in line with
EMVCo international standard in order
to create an open and interoperable
infrastructure for financial sector. Also, all
parties are encouraged to jointly establish
business rules and customer protection
and resolutions that are practical for actual
service provision.
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Code to CLMV and other ASEAN countries for better
financial connectivity within the region.
		 Moreover, e-Donation project was launched on 23
July 2019 under the collaboration among the Revenue
Department, financial institutions, National ITMX, and the
BOT. It was expected to improve donation’s experiences
to become more transparent, accurate, and convenient for
tax reduction purpose. Donors can donate through mobile
banking application of associated banks by scanning QR
Code posted by the donee organizations. E-Donation
project run on the PromptPay system using Thai Standard
QR Code.

		 In 2018, the BOT allowed additional 7
QR Payment projects to exit the Regulatory
Sandbox and to operate at a full scale, 3
of which were for QR Payment through
PromptPay (Phase 1) and 4 of which are
for QR Payment for credit card and debit
card (Phase 2), resulting in a total of 15
exited QR Payment projects. The Thai QR
Code Payment for credit and debit card in
Phase 2 will allow additional convenient,
secure, and low-cost payments through
credit and debit card both for domestic
and international uses. Presently, there
are more than 3 million online and offline
merchants that accept payment through
Thai Standard QR Code. The BOT also
supports the expansion of Standard QR
Bank of Thailand
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(2) ASEAN Payment Systems Connectivity
		 (2.1) The Promotion on Adopting the
Interoperable QR Code for Payments
		 The BOT has supported the collaboration
between ASEAN member countries and CLMV
countries to develop the interoperable QR Code
in accordance with the EMV standard for future
interoperability via mobile payment that has gained
the popularity among users in most countries. The
collaboration has been ongoing on central banks
level, commercial banks level, and service providers
level to promote more efficient, innovative, including
secured domestic and cross–border payment
transactions with lower cost, i.e. payment and
remittance. The key importance milestones are as
follows:
		 • Conducting knowledge sharing workshops
on development of interoperable QR Code for
payments, comprehensive risk management
frameworks for payment systems, and supervision
of payment systems and services for CLMV central
banks including Central Bank of Myanmar (CBM),
Bank of the Lao PDR (BOL) and National Bank of
Cambodia (NBC).
		 • Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
on Cooperation in the Area of Financial Innovation
and Payment Systems between BOT and NBC was
signed in February 2019 to support the development
of interoperable QR Code for payment, enhance the
collaboration on payment systems and financial
innovations, encourage the usage of local currency,
and pilot project for interoperable QR Code for
payment. In this regards, BOT is in the process of
initiating the MOU between BOT and other central
banks to further promote cross-border remittance/
payments.
		 • Cross-border linkage via interoperable QR
Code for payments between Thai and Singaporean
service providers for customers to make payments
for goods and services in another country by
scanning interoperable QR Code. This service was
launched in October 2018.
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		 (2.2) The Operations through the Working
Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems
(WC-PSS)
		 The BOT has proceeded through ASEAN
Working Committee on Payment and Settlement
Systems (WC-PSS), in collaboration with the other
central banks in ASEAN, to encourage cross-border
payments via bank and non-bank service providers,
to improve regulatory and oversight framework
facilitating cross-border payments, and to promote
alignment of rules and regulations, in order to foster
safe and efficient alternative payment channels.
		 In 2018, all central banks in ASEAN agreed to
collect information on remittance services and fees
under their jurisdiction and considered to publish
such information on central banks’ channels or
relevant service providers’ channels. This aimed to
promote transparency and customer’s choices in
choosing cross-border remittance services and to
encourage competition among remittance service
providers as well as to drive lower fee level of crossborder remittance. The comparative will start to be
published in 2019.
(3) Development for Improving Payment
Efficiency
		 (3.1) Next-Generation BAHTNET
		 BOT established a 3-year development
blueprint for BAHTNET in respect to the evolving
ecosystem, serving business needs, and supporting
the growing of both domestic and cross-border
digital transactions. The blueprint was based on the
three key principles: Functionality, Interoperability,
and New Technology, in short for FIN.
1) Functionality: enhancing BAHTNET functionality
and strengthening risk management to provide
continuous and secure service. 2) Interoperability:
Increasing the interoperability of the system to
connect with the payment market infrastructure and
facilitate cross-border payment. 3) New Technology:
Enhancing BAHTNET with the flexibility needed
to ensure its capability to interface with innovative
financial services.
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		 (3.2) Implementation for SWIFT Standard
Release 2018
		 The BOT enhanced BAHTNET to
accommodate SWIFT* Global Payment Innovation
to increase efficiency of cross-border payment. The
implementation allowed the Unique End-to-end
Transaction Reference (UETR) to be included in
BAHTNET messages, and carried forward to the
beneficiary’s bank. Hence rapidity, certainty, and
full transparency can be achieved per the need of
financial industry.

* SWIFT : The global provider of secure financial messaging services

DLT Scripless Bond
The BOT, in collaboration with Public Debt
Management Office (PDMO), Thailand Securities
Depository (TSD), Thai Bond Market Association
(ThaiBMA), and Selling Agents that include Bangkok
Bank, Krungthai Bank, Kasikorn Bank, and Siam
Commercial Bank, have initiated a pilot of the DLT
Scripless Bond Project that utilizes Blockchain
technology. The aim is to enhance business process,
establish standard, and eliminate redundant
procedures, time and cost of stakeholders involved
in the process of selling government savings bonds.

		 (3.3) Discontinuing the exchange of Special
Handling Cheques
		 The BOT together with the Thai Bankers’
Association (TBA) decided to gradually discontinue
the exchange of special handling cheques to save 300
million Baht annually. The procedures were revised
to fully increase the efficiency of the cheque clearing
in alignment with the objective of ICAS Working
Group. From February 2019 onward, cheques with
the information corrected must be deposited at the
issuing banks only.
(4) Recent Development in Securities Market
Infrastructure
		 BOT serves as the registrar and paying agent
of government debt securities by keeping records
of information and providing related services such
as bondholder’s profile update, ownership transfer,
pledging and freezing as well as an interest payment
and redemption. Additionally, BOT has a major
role in ensuring that the development of securities
market infrastructure meet the level of international
standard. During 2018, BOT initiated a POC on DLT
Scripless Bond Project, using blockchain technology,
and developed an Automated Paying Agent Service
to streamline the process of the issuers’ payment.
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It has been discovered from the Proof of Concept
(POC) that the project can successfully meet core
business requirements, whilst generating business
values for all relevant parties. These key benefits
are 1) Individual investors are able to receive bonds
within 2 days, from its current period of 15 days.
They can also purchase bonds with their full rights
from any Selling Agent without the purchasing limit
per bank. 2) Selling Agents, TSD, and BOT can reduce
the complexity of their operational processes, which
would lead to cost-saving on the bond industry. 3)
Bond Issuers can monitor and manage bond sales
in real time, increasing competition among Selling
Agents. (Download POC Result via URL : https://www.
bot.or.th/Thai/DebtSecurities/Documents/DLT%20Scripless%20Bond.pdf)

In the next phase, the DLT Scripless Bond project
will be extended to the real-world implementation.
It will initially cover government savings bonds,
which is expected to begin in the early 2020. It will be
extended to cover every type of bond and will pave
the way for the journey in developing Thailand’s
bond market infrastructure in the future.
Bank of Thailand

97

The Roles of FinTech in Thai Financial Sector

Financial Technology (FinTech) has been one
of the key directions in the development of Thai
financial sector. FinTech helps improve financial
service provider’s ability to address customers’
needs, fasten the process with a lower cost, and
enhance robustness and security. These benefits
have urged the Bank of Thailand to encourage the
use of technology to support financial innovation
development as well as to promote an ecosystem
which facilitates the use of technology to improve
financial services concretely while having appropriate
risk management. The Bank of Thailand has led
many initiatives, namely
(1) Support financial innovation creation through
the Regulatory Sandbox* for both banks and nonbank service providers to develop innovative

* Regulatory Sandbox is a test of providing financial services with
FinTech within a well-defined,limited environment, under the
Bank of Thailand supervision.
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financial services through the use of technology at a
faster pace. The Regulatory Sandbox allows service
providers to commence their services in a welldefined, limited environment to contain associated
risks with close supervision and monitoring from the
Bank of Thailand before a full scale launch.
Examples of the technologies that have been
tested in Regulatory Sandbox include:
- Blockchain technology used to facilitate crossborder transfer to become faster and cheaper.
Blockchain is also used to digitize the Letter
of Guarantee issuance for higher security, less
fraudulent risk, reduce time and process of document
handling, and improve document credibility.
- Biometrics such as fingerprint or facial
recognition technology is used for identity
verification and authentication to enhance security
and trustworthiness, and to further facilitate the use
of financial service through digital channels via an
Electronic Know-Your-Customer (e-KTC) process.
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(2) Promote collaboration on financial innovation
particularly for infrastructures that would support
further development of services, namely:
- Establishing Thailand Blockchain Community
Initiative, a collaboration among real and financial
sectors aiming to exchange knowledge on Blockchain
technology and to promote the application of
Blockchain technology for interoperable financial
services in both private and public sectors.
- Developing National Digital Identity (NDID),
a digital infrastructure for identity verification
and authentication through a secured information
exchange mechanism from trusted sources. NDID
will ease financial service usages such as opening
new account or applying for a loan without having to
submit previously-filed documents for new financial
service providers.
- Developing and promoting the use of Thai
Standardized QR Code for payments, adding
alternative payment channels through mobile
payment with various sources of funds including
bank account, credit card, debit card, and e-money.
Small-and-Medium-sized merchants have an easier
and cheaper method of receiving payments which
also reinforce Thai digital economy and lower-cost
international transfer in the future. Currently, More
than 3 million merchants nationwide have placed QR
Code in their stores.
- Developing the proof-of-concept prototype,
using Blockchain technology or Distributed Ledger
Technology (DLT), to develop infrastructure in financial
sector and promote ecosystem to heighten knowledge
and understanding of Blockchain technology and
to explore feasibility of the implementation for real
use cases. The initiatives include Inthanon Project,
interbank wholesale fund transfer via Blockchain, and
DLT Scripless Bond, BOT bonds issuance and sale via
Blockchain.

(3) Promote more understandings of FinTech for
public sector, financial sector, and real sector on both
overall FinTech experiences and specific technology
knowledge through numerous events and seminars
such as the Bangkok FinTech Fair, Blockchain the
Series @ BOT, and Journey of Biometrics in Financial
Services.
From the abovementioned support and development
on FinTech, the BOT envisions that Thai financial
sector will be able embrace the benefit of technology
advancement to improve financial services’ efficiency
so as to precisely address the needs of different
demographic, become a crucial support in people
and businesses’ daily lives, and uplift Thailand’s
competitiveness in a digital era.
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4.2 Risk Reduction in Payment Systems
• Comprehensive Information Security
Management for BAHTNET and ICAS
BOT has prescribed the measures to enhance
the level of information security management for
important payment systems, namely BAHTNET
and ICAS, in accordance with ISO/IEC 27001.
BAHTNET and ICAS host systems have followed the
certification cycles, and they were recertified in 2018.
Furthermore, client workstations are mandated to be
certified with ISO 27001, whereas 94% are already
certified, and all are expected to be fully certified by
mid-2019.
• Settlement Risk Management for Retail
Payment

		 The BOT disseminated e-Payment knowledge
to the public through various channels, namely
the publication of articles through magazines
and journals, as well as the research paper
“Understanding PromptPay: a new way to make
payments and fund transfers” at Puey Ungphakorn
Institute for Economic Research’s website and
presenting discussion paper “The Journey to
Less-Cash Society : Thailand’s Payment System
at a Crossroads” in BOT Symposium 2018, senior
executives’ interviews, holding seminars on payment
and disseminating information through online media
such as BOT’s twitter and facebook. Moreover, the
BOT in collaboration with the Department of Lands
promoted e-Payment by encouraging customers to
pay fees via e-Payment channel under the National
e-Payment as well as PromptPay project through
online media and nationwide land offices.

BOT has strengthened the measure to enhance
the effectiveness and efficiency in reflecting the
potential settlement risk and volatility of electronic
payments. Starting in 2019, the required collateral
for Securities Requirement for Settlements (SRS)
is revised on a monthly basis. Additionally, BOT
monitors the trend of prominent retail payment
adoption continuously, thus future measures will
be implemented as deemed appropriate.

กำรช�ำระเงินทำงอิเล็กทรอนิกส์ (e-Payment)
BUY

ทุกวันนีร้ ะบบการช�าระเงินได้ถกู พัฒนาให้มคี วามสะดวกและรวดเร็ว
ยิง่ ขึน้ โดยใช้สอื่ อิเล็กทรอนิกส์มาช่วยทัง้ ด้านสือ่ ที่ใช้ชา� ระเงินแทน
เงินสด เช่น บัตรเครดิต บัตรเงินอิเล็กทรอนิกส์ รวมถึงช่องทางการ
ช�าระเงินที่ใช้งานง่ายและรวดเร็ว เช่น ผ่านอินเทอร์เน็ต คอมพิวเตอร์
โทรศัพท์มอื ถือ จึงท�าให้ชวี ติ เราสะดวกขึน้ ไม่ตอ้ งเดินทางให้เสียเวลา
สามารถโอนเงินช�าระเงินได้งา่ ย ๆ แค่ปลายนิว้
ท�ำไมเรำควรใช้ e-Payment
แทนกำรใช้เงินสด?

เงินสดเป็นสิง่ ทีเ่ ราคุน้ เคยในการใช้จา่ ยมากทีส่ ดุ จนนึกไม่ถงึ ว่าทีจ่ ริงแล้วการใช้เงินสดนัน้
มีข้อจ�ากัดอยู่หลายประการ เช่น ต้องเตรียมเงินสดให้เพียงพอในการซื้อสินค้า และ
หากยิง่ พกพาจ�านวนมากก็เสีย่ งต่อการถูกปล้น ขโมย หรือหากมองในมุมเจ้าของกิจการ
การรับช�าระด้วยเงินสดอาจถูกยักยอกได้งา่ ยและตรวจสอบได้ยาก รวมถึงเสียโอกาสใน
การขายสินค้าหากมีช่องทางให้ลูกค้าช�าระค่าสินค้าเป็นเงินสดเพียงอย่างเดียว ส�าหรับ
มุมของประเทศนั้น เงินสดมีต้นทุนในการจัดการค่อนข้างสูง เช่น ต้นทุนการผลิต
การขนส่ง การเก็บรักษา การนับคัดและการท�าลาย ถ้าหันมาใช้การช�าระเงินด้วย
e-Payment จะช่วยลดค่าใช้จ่ายในการจัดการได้ 2-3 เท่าเลยทีเดียว

• Development of Exchange Service for Cheque
Data (e-Exchange Service)
1

5

BOT superseded the exchange of thumb drives
among participants with an electronic channel
for cheque image and data. The service increased
continuity and resilience of cheque clearing in the
event of emergency circumstance.

4.3 Consumer Protection

กำรช�ำระเงินทำงอินเทอร์เน็ต
และกำรช�ำระเงินผ่ำนอุปกรณ์เคลื่อนที่
จะสะดวกแค่ไหนหากสามารถท�าธุรกรรมทางการเงิน
ได้ทกุ ทีท่ กุ เวลา เพียงมีเครือ่ งคอมพิวเตอร์ หรืออุปกรณ์
ที่เราสามารถพกติดตัวไปได้ทุกที่ เช่น โทรศัพท์มือถือ
แท็บเล็ต และระบบเครือข่ายสื่อสาร

กำรช�ำระเงินทำงอินเทอร์เน็ต
(Internet Payment)

เป็นบริการที่นอกจากผู้ใช้จะสามารถโอนเงิน ช�าระเงินค่าสินค้าและบริการแล้ว ยัง
สามารถตรวจสอบยอดเงินในบัญชี หรือเรียกดูรายการใช้จา่ ยย้อนหลังได้ โดยสามารถ
สมัครใช้บริการกับธนาคารที่เรามีบัญชีเงินฝากอยู่
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เราสามารถซือ้ สินค้าและบริการกับร้านค้าออนไลน์
ที่มีช่องทางการช�าระเงินผ่านบัตรเครดิตหรือ
บัตรเดบิตไว้บริการลูกค้าได้ โดยผูซ้ อื้ เพียงกรอก
รำยละเอียดกำรช�ำระเงิน เช่น หมายเลขบัตร ชือ่
ผูถ้ อื บัตร วันหมดอายุ หมายเลขรหัส CVV รวมถึง
อาจต้องใส่รหัสผ่ำน OTP* ด้วย และเมื่อช�ำระ
เงินส�ำเร็จจะได้รับข้อควำมยืนยันกำรช�ำระเงิน
ทางหน้าเว็บไซต์ ทาง SMS หรือทางอีเมล
ตามที่ ไ ด้ แ จ้ ง ลงทะเบี ย นไว้ กั บ ธนาคารหรื อ
ผู้ออกบัตร (ในปัจจุบันเราสามารถใช้ e-Money
บางประเภทในการช�าระค่าสินค้าและบริการ
ผ่านทางอินเทอร์เน็ตได้ด้วย)

xxx

หมำยเลขรหัส CVV

XXXX

รหัสผ่ำน OTP

Mobile Payment เปรียบเสมือนการมี
กระเป๋าสตางค์อยู่ในโทรศัพท์เคลื่อนที่ หรือแท็บเล็ต

1. ผ่ำนบริกำร Internet Banking

ส�าหรับการซือ้ สินค้าทางอินเทอร์เน็ต ระบบของร้านค้าบางแห่งจะเชือ่ มต่อ
ไปยังระบบ internet banking ของธนาคาร เพื่อตรวจสอบและอนุมัติ
รายการช�าระเงิน เมือ่ รายการส�าเร็จผูใ้ ช้จะได้รบั การยืนยันการท�ารายการ
ทางเว็บไซต์ ทาง SMS หรือทางอีเมลตามที่ได้แจ้งลงทะเบียนไว้กบั ธนาคาร

2. ผ่ำนเว็บไซต์ ด้วยบัตรเครดิต หรือบัตรเดบิต

กำรช�ำระเงินผ่ำนอุปกรณ์เคลื่อนที่ (Mobile Payment)

เป็นการโอนเงิน หรือช�าระเงินในการ
ซื้ อ สิ น ค้ า และบริ ก ารผ่ า นเครื อ ข่ า ย
อินเทอร์เน็ต ซึ่งผู้ใช้บริการสามารถ
เลือกได้หลายรูปแบบ เช่น

(1) Knowledge dissemination and promotion
of e-Payment

100

จะดีหรือไม่
ถ้าเราหันมาใช้ e-Payment แทนการใช้เงินสดแบบเดิม ๆ และ
รู้จักเลือกใช้ e-Payment ที่เหมาะสม ก็จะเพิ่มความสะดวกให้
เรามากยิ่งขึ้น

SMS

เราสามารถช� า ระค่ า สิ น ค้ า และบริ ก ารผ่ า นเครื อ ข่ า ยของ
ระบบโทรศัพท์เคลื่อนที่ ได้ตามร้านค้าทั่วไป และร้านค้าบน
อินเทอร์เน็ต แต่ต้องลงทะเบียนกับผู้ให้บริกำรช�ำระเงินเพื่อ
เชื่อมโยงบัญชีที่จะช�ำระเงินเข้ำกับโทรศัพท์เคลื่อนที่ หรือ
แท็บเล็ตก่อน อาทิ บัญชีธนาคาร บัญชีบตั รเครดิต (credit card)
และเงินอิเล็กทรอนิกส์ (e-Money)
*OTP (One Time Password) เป็นรหัสที่ใช้ครั้งเดียว ซึ่งผู้ออกบัตรจะส่งให้แก่ผู้ถือบัตรผ่าน SMS
หรือส่งทาง e-mail ตามที่ผู้ถือบัตรได้ลงทะเบียนไว้ เพื่อใช้ในการยืนยันตัวตนความเป็นเจ้าของบัตร
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(2) Measures for consumer protection
		 The BOT in cooperation with the Thai
Bankers’ Association strengthened the Service Level
Agreement for Banking Industry (Industry SLA).
In case of the failure of the transaction transaction
of funds transferred via electronics channel (ATM/
internet banking/ mobile banking) with PromptPay
ID or bank account number, due to a system
disruption, banks must refund to the customers
within 24 hours, formerly within 3 working days.
These SLAs have been effective since 1 October 2018.

4.4 Payment Systems Oversight
(1) Preparation for the Financial Sector
Assessment Program (FSAP)
		 The BOT revised BAHTNET’s risk management
framework in compliance with international
standards namely Principles for Financial Market
Infrastructures (PFMI) in preparation for an
assessment under the Financial Sector Assessment
Program (FSAP) such as preparation for selfassessment report, revision of risk management
for BAHTNET, and continuously cooperating with
relevant parties namely Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), Thailand Securities Depository
Co., Ltd. (TSD), and participants of BAHTNET.
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) and
World Bank conducted the assessment of BAHTNET
during 1-16 November 2018 and the Detailed
Assessments Reports (DARs) will be submitted to
the BOT afterwards.
(2) Enactment of legislation concerning the
oversight of payment systems (Payment Systems Act)
		 Payment Systems Act B.E. 2560 was published
in the Government Gazette on 18 October 2017 and
came into force on 16 April 2018. If any service
providers provide electronic payment services
under the former legislations which shall be
regulated under the Payment Systems Act and
intend to continue providing their payment services,
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such service providers are required to apply for
licenses from the Minister of Finance (MOF) or
the registration from the BOT, as the case may be,
within 120 days from the date that the MOF issues
notifications.
		 In 2018, the MOF and the BOT issued rules
and regulations under the Payment Systems Act (21
issues), which consisted of Notification of the MOF
(2 issues) and Notification of the BOT (19 issues).
The regulations comprised of supervision of highly
important payment systems, designated payment
systems, designated payment services and other
relevant regulations. Under the Payment Systems
Act, the supervisory framework is based on 5
principles, which are risk management and security,
financial status, governance, customer protection
and promotion of efficiency and competitiveness.
		 In addition, the BOT coordinated with the
MOF and the Ministry of Digital Economy and
Society to process the revocation of relevant former
legislations (3 issues), including Notification of
the Ministry of Finance: Business that Requires a
Permit According to Section 5 of the Notification
of the Revolution Council No. 58 (Business of
Electronic Money Card), Royal Decree Regulating
on Electronic Payment Services B.E. 2551 (2008) and
Royal Decree Regulating on Electronic Payment
Services of Specialized Financial Institutions B.E.
2559 (2016). Both of the Ministries revoked such
former legislations on 16 April 2018.
(3) Application for License and Registration
to undertake designated payment systems and
payment services business
The BOT considered license application and
proposed to the MOF to grant 232 licenses to 105
business providers of designated payment systems
and payment services under Payment Systems Act
B.E. 2560 (2017). These business providers comprised
100 existing business providers (223 licenses) who
undertook the designated payment systems or
payment services business before the Payment
Bank of Thailand
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Systems Act came into effect, and were granted approval or registration under the Royal Decree Regulating on
Electronic Payment Services Business B.E. 2551 (2008), and 5 new business providers (9 licenses).
		 Additionally, the BOT considered to grant registration certificates to 3 business providers of electronic money
service with limited uses (for specific goods or services / within the same location or vicinity / for goods or services
of the same business group). These business providers comprised 2 non-banks and 1 state enterprise.

4.5 BOT’s Payment System Services
(1) BAHTNET (Bank of Thailand Automated High-value Transfer Network)
		 At the end of 2018, BAHTNET had a total of 63 participants, consisting of 59 direct participants and 4
associate participants. Classifying by financial institution; there were 19 Thai commercial banks, 11 foreign
bank branches, 7 finance and securities companies, 7 specialized financial institutions, government entities
and other institutions, and 10 BOT’s internal departments. Throughout 2018, 2 institutions was permitted to
be a participant of BAHTNET service as the settlement agent for domestic debit card and VISA local debit
card payment, while 2 participants requested for service termination.
		 Over a period of five years, the volume of fund transfer via BAHTNET has been continually on the
rise. In terms of volume, there were 4.5 million transactions in 2018, a 5.5 percent increase from 2017. In terms
of value, the total value was 850.9 trillion Baht, a decrease of 4.4 percent from 2017.
BAHTNET Funds Transfer 2014-2018
VolumeBAHTNET Funds

Value
(Trillion Baht)

Transfer 2014-2018

5.0

1000
Value
(Trillion900
Baht)

Volume
4.5
5.0
4.0

1000
800
900
700

4.5
3.5
4.0
3.0

800
600
700
500

3.5
2.5
3.0
2.0

600
400
500
300

2.5
1.5
2.0
1.0
1.5
0.5
1.0
0.0

400
200
300
100

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Value (Trillion Baht)
Volume (Million transaction)

3.4
2014
758
3.4

3.6
2015
790.8
3.6

4.0
2016
874.1
4.0

4.2
2017
890
4.2

4.5
2018
850.9
4.5

Value (Trillion Baht)

758

790.8

874.1

890

850.9

0.5

Volume (Million transaction)
0.0

Source: Payment and Bond Department, Bank of Thailand
Source: Payment and Bond Department, Bank of Thailand
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		 Additionally, the foreign exchange settlement for USD is handled in the nature of Payment versus
Payment (PvP USD CHATS) i.e., THB is settled in BAHTNET and USD is settled in Hong Kong’s USD CHATS
simultaneously. In 2018, the volume of PvP USD CHATS reached up to 2,390 transactions with a total value
of 4.79 trillion Baht, an increase from 2017 by 25.4 percent and 8.4 percent respectively.
(2) ICAS (Imaged Cheque Clearing and Archive System)
		 At the end of 2018, there were 36 member banks, consisting of 19 Thai commercial banks, 11 foreign
bank branches, and 6 specialized financial institutions. The total number of bank branches (including subbranches) was 9,607.
		 Over a period of five years, the total volume and value of interbank cheques cleared through ICAS
have declined. In 2018, the total volume of interbank cleared cheques was 63.3 million with the total value
of 35.03 trillion Baht. The volume of interbank cleared cheques decreased by 3.80 percent from the previous
year, in line with the decline in value of 2.36 percent. Compared to last year, as a proportion of total interbank
cleared cheques, the ratio of interbank returned cheques and interbank returned cheques due to insufficient
funds were slightly increased from 0.53 percent and 0.29 percent to 0.54 percent and 0.30 percent, respectively.

Total Interbank Cleared Cheques

Interbank Returned Cheques

Volume

Value (Billion Baht)

74,000 ,000
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Interbank Returned Cheques due to Insufficient Fund
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Source: Payment and Bond Department, Bank of Thailand
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“PromptPay” is the new payment platform of the country which
is available to all sectors, including the government sector, the
business sector or the general public. It serves as “financial
infrastructure” essential for moving toward digital economy.
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5. Banknote Issuance and Management
5.1 Banknote
Sufficient supply of clean and secure banknotes in circulation
The net value of banknotes issued into circulation in 2018 increased by 50,075 million baht, equivalent to the
value of securities transferred to the currency reserve account. At the end of 2018, assets in currency reserve
account were valued at 1,859,884.7 million baht, an increase by 2.76 percent from the previous year.

Assets in Currency Reserve Account as of 31 December 2018
Description
1. Foreign Currencies
2. Foreign Securities
Total

Value (Million Baht)
527,292.0
1,332,192.7
1,859,484.7

Share (%)
28.4
71.6
100.0

Banknote Production Total production was at 2,198 million notes, an increase by 28.9 percent from 2017.

Banknote Production in 2018
Denomination (Baht)
Volume
(Million notes)/1

1000
381

500
61

100
606

50
224

20
926

Total
2,198

Remarks : 1/Includes 55 million notes for the Commemorative Banknotes in Remembrance of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej

New Series of Banknotes In 2018, the BOT produced
and issued five denominations of series 17 banknotes,
which were 20 baht, 50 baht, 100 baht (issued on 6th
April 2018), 500 baht, and 1000 baht (issued on 28th
July 2018), as circulating banknotes.
Counterfeit banknotes There were 7,178 counterfeit
banknotes (1.3 part per million or 1.3 ppm) detected and
seized in 2018.
The BOT also produced other security products.
There were 131 million pieces of revenue stamps and
3.5 million pieces of Visa sticker.

5.2. Research and development (R&D)
R&D projects mainly focused on counterfeit
deterrent features, security inks, substrates, counterfeit
detecting devices, and machinery. The R&D
projects also supported banknote production with
modern technologies. In 2018, four projects were
successfully completed.
Bank of Thailand
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ธนบัตรชุดแรกในรัชกาลที่ 10 ชนิดราคา 1000 บาท
ได้รับรางวัล The Best New Banknote Award
จากที่ประชุมนานาชาติว่าด้วยการพิมพ์สิ่งพิมพ์มีค่า High Security Printing Asia 2018
ณ กรุงฮานอย ประเทศเวียดนาม
รางวัลนี้มอบให้กับธนบัตรที่มีการออกแบบโดดเด่นยอดเยี่ยม
ด้วยเทคนิคที่ซับซ้อน และมีเทคโนโลยีต่อต้านการปลอมแปลงพิเศษ

5.3 Banknote Issuing and Management
Banknote management system and efficiency improvement In 2018, the BOT continued to improve
efficiency of the banknote management system. The BOT promoted the cost reduction of banknote
management through the study of resource sharing with commercial banks and other stakeholders. Moreover,
the BOT implemented several projects including the automation development plan and data analytic approach
to promote organizational flexibility and agility.
Organizational excellence program through Thailand Quality Award – TQA Internal process improvements
in various areas were implemented under the TQA criteria framework and received higher score from the
assessment compared to the year 2017.
Human Resources Development Human Resources Development plans were applied to enhance the
employee potential for multi-skills capability. Job rotation and cross-functional assignments were conducted
throughout the organization to promote efficiency, flexibility and agility.
Cost Efficiency The cost efficiency and awareness program was executed to increase cost-efficiency as
well as employees’ cost consciousness. This plan aimed at effective cost management in banknote production
and operation.
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6. Safeguarding the Public Interest
Fair customer treatment is one of the basic rights for Thai people. The BOT has reflected this principle in
BOT’s goal of consumer protection strategy. In 2018, BOT operated various activities as follows:

6.1 Financial Consumer Protection
The BOT has put in place market conduct
regulation that requires financial service providers
to enhance their end-to-end customer service
processes in 9 major areas in order to ensure 4 fair
customer outcomes “Not forcing, Not misleading, Not
disturbing, Not taking advantage”. In 2018, The BOT
conducted examination on sale process of retail
products to monitor service providers’ improvement
of service processes, and to obtain examination
results as input for market conduct risk rating
which will be launched in the mid of 2019. In case
that there were concerns about misconduct during
examination especially one that could affect vast
majority such as telesales, the BOT would immediately
provide recommendations to service providers for
prompt correction and improvement. Moreover,
the BOT also conducted target examination on 4
retail-based specialized financial institutions on
insurance sale process and customer privacy.
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In order to support customers with sufficient information for making decision as well as to promote fair
competition among Thai financial institutions, the BOT disseminated data on basic retail products including
deposits, debit cards, credit cards, personal loans, and housing loans through Financial Consumer Protection
Center website (www.1213.or.th) and BOT website (www.bot.or.th). The disclosure of hire-purchase will
be launched in 2019. Furthermore, the BOT and service providers jointly developed standard template for
reporting financial services problems such as complaints and whistle blowing which would be helpful for
root cause analysis, and publicly disclosed so that customers could compare service quality among providers.
The BOT fined service providers for forcing customer to buy insurance from specific company, and also
disclosed the fine on BOT website as part of service quality disclosure.
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The BOT planned to expand market conduct regulation coverage to specialized financial institutions,
nano-finances, and asset management companies. Regarding this, the BOT opened for hearing from all service
providers, and revised the regulation with an aim to give force to such regulation in 2019.

1

วัฒนธรรมองค์กร
และบทบาทหน้าที่
ของกรรมการและ
ผู้บริหารระดับสูง

9

การปฏิบัติงาน
และแผนฉุกเฉิน

2

การพัฒนา
ผลิตภัณฑ์และ
การจัดกลุ่มลูกค้า

8

การควบคุมภายใน
และการตรวจสอบ
การปฏิบัติงาน

3

การบริหารจัดการ

9 ระบบ

7

การจ่าย
ค่าตอบแทน

4

การแก้ ไขปัญหา
และการจัดการ
เรื่องร้องเรียน

กระบวนการขาย

6

การดูแลข้อมูลลูกค้า

5

การสื่อสาร
และให้ความรู้
พนักงาน

6.2 The Promotion of Financial Literacy
The BOT emphasized promoting financial literacy to the general public on various topics such as financial
planning and financial frauds, on continuous basis through both online and offline channels; for instance,
Facebook, website, newspaper and magazines to protect financial consumers. Various media which are
suitable for each target group were used, such as infographic, VDO, article and booklet. In 2018, the BOT
highlighted the content of digital literacy to be in line with a significantly rising number of digital banking
users. In addition, the BOT increased communication channels via those of the strategic partners to promote
financial literacy more widely and provide the public with more access to financial knowledge
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6.3 The Promotion of Financial Literacy to Gen Y
The BOT has promoted financial literacy to Generation Y by focusing on 2 groups, namely vocational
college students and first jobbers. The main objective of this strategy was to shape their financial behavior
by equipping them with necessary financial capability such as financial planning, saving discipline, and
debt management. For the vocational college students, the BOT organized a financial literacy competition
project ‘Fin. Dee We can do!!!’. The contest aimed to provide vocational college teachers and students with
real-life experiences in which they could apply financial knowledge to tackle with financial issues in their
context. This experiential learning would keep them to retain appropriate financial behavior as they realized
the benefit of ‘good practices’. In 2018, there were 17 vocational colleges from all regions participated in this
contest. Sixteen proposals from 11 colleges were sponsored with seed money to pursue their proposals. The
output from those projects, including learning media, activities, and teaching materials, were applied to
approximately 1,000 students in total. However, the ultimate outcome was the empirical evidence to
convince participating institutions the necessity and benefit of financial literacy. As a result, after the contest
had ended, the participants continued those projects in their colleges and some even introduced their project
to other colleges within their network. Lessons learned from this competition was concluded to develop an
‘execution model’ or a prototype toolkit to promote financial literacy to vocational college students across
the country and to improve the next season contest.
For first jobbers aged not more than 30 years old, the BOT conducted a pilot project “Salaryman Can
Do”. The project consisted of a series of workshops on financial planning, debt management, and activities
to encourage saving habits. In 2018, the total number of participants was 1,886 from 45 organizations in both
public and private sectors nationwide. Lessons learned from the project will be taken into account for the
further project expansions in 2019.
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Fair customer treatment (Market Conduct)
is basic rights for all Thai people
“Fair customer treatment is basic rights for all Thai people” is a phrase that reflects direction of BOT’s
mission towards enhancing financial institutions’ service standards.

Realizing the significance of Market Conduct, the BOT has enhanced and expanded the mandate of Financial
Consumer Protection and Market Conduct Department in 2016, as well as prescribed Market Conduct as one
of 12 BOT 3-year Strategic Plan (2017 – 2019). The BOT aims to foster fair customer service environment
among Thai financial institutions (FIs) and also to encourage consumers to exercise their rights as well as to
make appropriate decision. To achieve such goals, not only robust supervision framework is required but
FIs themselves also need to set priority to service improvement. Besides, providing sufficient information
to consumers will drive more market force in fair service competition.
In 2018, the BOT encouraged disclosure of useful information for consumers’ decision making. Financial
service providers developed their sales documents for retails products such as deposits, debit cards, credit
cards, personal loans, housing loans, and hire-purchase to provide thorough information as follows:
(1) Product catalogue: providing customers with all choices of products to prevent forced-sale.
(2) Sales sheet: summarizing importation information, pros and cons of product for customers’ clear
understanding before making decision.
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(3) Application form, terms & conditions: containing key- concern conditions. Service providers also have
to separate marketing consent from other kinds of consent to support customers’ independent decision making
(4) Billing statement, Receipt: identifying significant details of payment, for example, loan outstanding,
principle and installment payment, related fees and charges, etc.

Besides sales documents development, the BOT has disseminated data on basic retail products through
Financial Consumer Protection Center website (www.1213.or.th) and BOT website (www.bot.or.th) so that
consumers can browse through products available in the market before making decision as well as updating
themselves with products’ detail, terms and conditions. Moreover, the BOT has also published information
on service providers’ service quality which is penalties for non-compliance with regulation on both BOT and
service providers’ websites so that consumers can incorporate such information for proper decision. In 2018,
the BOT fined 2 financial institutions for forcing customers to apply for insurance from specific insurance
companies, and published such information on BOT website. The BOT would further disclose service
providers’ complaint data as part of service quality disclosure in 2019.
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Fin. Dee We can do!!!
The Vocational College Students’ Showcase
on Financial Management
Financial literacy is one of crucial life skills. Well financially literate persons could soundly manage their
financial affairs which result in their financial well-being. Therefore, the BOT has addressed the promotion
of financial literacy as one of its 12 strategic plans. Promoting financial literacy goes beyond providing
knowledge, as it requires a lifelong learning and practices to enhance appropriate financial behavior.

For younger audiences, financial literacy is no less
important than technology literacy, linguistics, and
othernecessary skills. In response to this, the BOT began
with Generation Y who would play an important
part for the country’s future development. This
target group was identified by analyzing big data
from the National Credit Bureau. Findings suggested
that indebtedness began at an early age, and still
continued even after retirement. Therefore, building
financial resilience and financial literacy would
be a top priority to equip the young generation
with necessary skills which enable them to handle
unexpected financial difficulties soundly.
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colleges”. This principle would create a sense
of engagement, ownership, passion to drive the
project, and most importantly, the willingness
to adopt and continue the project even after the
competition was concluded. The BOT, on the other
hand, would facilitate each project as a coach to
bring out the fullest potential of those participants
who would be ‘Change Agents’ in their institutions.

The BOT started to implement this strategic plan
with promoting financial literacy among vocational
college students. ‘Fin. Dee We can do!!!’, a competition
on financial literacy project, was introduced in 2018.
This project provided vocational college students
and teachers with the opportunity to learn how to
apply financial knowledge to their real-life context.
Those students and teachers proposed ideas on
how to rectify or prevent financial problems within
their community by disseminating financial literacy
through various means of learning such as activities,
games, seminars, and group work. Consequently,
they could build an ecosystem to enhance proper
financial behavior, both vertically within their
colleges and horizontally across other colleges. This
was in accordance with the core principle “created
by vocational colleges, for the benefit of vocational
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The BOT, in collaboration with strategic partners
such as Office of the Vocational Education Commission,
Foundation of Virtuous Youth, and The Thai Bankers’
Association, launched the ‘Fin. Dee We can do!!!’
pilot project across 17 vocational colleges
nationwide. Fundamental financial skills, such
as Sufficiency Economy philosophy, personal
finance, and business finance, were provided
to those participating institutions. Subsequently,
16 proposals from 11 institutions were
qualified to receive seed money in order to pursue
their projects. Positive changes on financial
behavior among the students within the participating
institutions were observed after the competition
was concluded. For instance, they, more than being
in the past, actively plan and regularly save the money for their future needs. Moreover, the participating
institutions continued the projects such as
incorporating financial literacy in the curriculum.
Some institutions introduced their project to other
colleges in their network.
The BOT gathered feedback and opinions from the
participants including vocational college executives,
teachers, and students to analyze lessons learned
from this competition. This would be an important
information to develop an ‘execution model’ or a
prototype toolkit to promote financial literacy to
vocational college students across the country and
to improve the next season contest.
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7. The Bank of Thailand’s Participation in International
Organizations and the International Fora
Cooperation among central banks and with
international organizations has grown its importance
amidst global economic and financial volatilities in
2018, driven by trade tensions, Brexit, and monetary
policy normalization in major industrialized
countries. Meanwhile, technological progress
blurred the boundary between national, regional and
global economic systems. Central banks around the
globe need to closely monitor these developments
while strengthening and preserving domestic
economic and financial stability as well as overseeing
and developing an efficient financial system in order
to promote trade, investment, and financial services.
In the past year, the BOT Governor and
executives actively participated and exchanged
views with other central banks and international
organizations in various international and regional
fora as well as bilateral meetings.

7.1 The Bank of Thailand’s Membership
in Global International and Regional
Organization Cooperation
(1) Association of Southeast Asian Nations
(ASEAN) The BOT participated in the ASEAN
Finance Ministers’ and Central Bank Governors’

Meeting (AFMGM) in April 2018 in Singapore to
monitor the progress of ASEAN Working Committees
on financial cooperation. The progress of this
cooperation has been substantial and includes the
following:

(1.1) Banking Liberalization This is to
encourage competition and more financial products
that well-suit consumers’ demand, as well as
to facilitate trade and investment in the
region. For example, on Qualified ASEAN Banks
(QABs), Thailand has completed negotiations with
Malaysia and has been negotiating with Indonesia
and Myanmar. The BOT has also been studying
rules and regulations relevant to market access to
the banking sector in the Philippines. Moreover,
members also aim to enhance regulatory standards
and coherence in the ASEAN banking sector to
ensure financial system stability in the region.
(1.2) Financial Services Liberalization The
objective is that ASEAN financial institutions
are able to provide cross-border services and
to increase the variety of their financial
products, which will, in turn, better respond
to customers’ needs. Currently, members have been
negotiating the 9th Package of Commitments on
Financial Services under the ASEAN Framework
Agreement on Services (AFAS). Members have
Bank of Thailand
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also completed negotiations for the 8th Package of
Commitments on Financial Services under the AFAS,
in which the negotiations for QABs would legally
come into effect. Furthermore, members have also
concluded negotiations for the ASEAN Trade in
Services Agreement (ATISA), which will supersede
AFAS in the future, and is awaiting the signing
process. The ATISA will enhance the standards and
quality of ASEAN’s liberalization process, increase
the coverage of services, foster transparency and
improve foreign investors’ confidence in the service
sector.
(1.3) Capital Account Liberalization This is
to achieve a freer flow of capital in the region by
gradually removing restrictions on foreign exchange
transactions. Members have been drafting individual
CAL plans for further capital account liberalization in
accordance with each country’s readiness, monitoring
the levels of development of the members’ capital
account regime as well as participating in the enhanced
policy dialogue to share experiences on safeguard
measures on financial services in order to promote
financial stability coordination. Members have also
been continuing to promote the use of local currencies
to support trade and direct investment within ASEAN.
(1.4) Payment System Development This aims
to promote integrated, efficient and secure retail
payment systems that facilitate cross border financial
transactions. For example, Thailand and Singapore
have been exploring possibilities of linking their
Real-Time Retail Payment Systems (RT-RPS) between
PromptPay and PayNow. Also, members have been
promoting alignment of rules and regulations as well
as competition to lower fees for remittance services
(1.5) Financial Inclusion This is to promote
financial inclusion for all ASEAN citizens. Members
completed guidance notes on financial inclusion as a
reference to develop infrastructure, support financial
innovation and increase financial service access
channels. Moreover, members have exchanged their
information on the access to financial services via
a web-portal of ASEAN Working Committee on
Financial Inclusion (WC-FINC).
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(1.6) Capacity Building of Member Countries In cooperation with the Asian Development
Bank (ADB) and the South East Asian Central
Banks Research and Training Centre (SEACEN),
technical assistance has been provided and learning
roadmap has been developed for each of the working
committees in order to support ASEAN Financial
Integration.
(2) Association of Southeast Asian Nations +
China, Japan and Korea (ASEAN+3) In recent years,
the ASEAN+3 members have further strengthened
the operational readiness of the Chiang Mai Initiative
Multilateralisation (CMIM) to ensure the effectiveness
of CMIM as the main regional financial safety net
for the ASEAN+3. In 2018, ASEAN+3 members in
cooperation with ASEAN+3 Macroeconomic
Research Office (AMRO) developed the enhanced
Economic Review and Policy Dialogue (ERPD)
Matrix as a surveillance tool for monitoring economic
activities in the region. Furthermore, the CMIM
activation process was revised to be more aligned with
the International Monetary Fund (IMF), particularly
during the need for members to request financing
support from both CMIM and IMF. This also included
establishing cooperation with the IMF, especially on
early information sharing platforms during peace
and crisis times.
(3) Bank for International Settlements (BIS) In
2018, the BOT Governor attended the BIS Annual
General Meeting and Bi-monthly Meetings to
exchange views and experiences with other member
central bank governors on policy issues to safeguard
financial stability amidst global risk factors, such as
monetary policy normalization, capital flow volatility
and global trade tensions.
In addition, since 2017, the BOT Governor has
chaired two of the BIS sub-meetings: 1) the Asian
Consultative Council (ACC) , where governors from
the Asia-Pacific region exchange views and offer
guidance to the BIS Asian Office on its banking
and research functions; and 2) the Central Bank
Governance Group (CBGG), which discusses
governance issues such as independence of central
banks in policy-making, human resource management,
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The Meeting of Central Bank Governance Network, 20-21 September 2018

communication strategies with the general public,
with a view to enhancing policy effectiveness.
(4) The Executives’ Meeting of East Asia-Pacific
Central Banks (EMEAP) The discussions in the
past year centered on central bank challenges in
conducting monetary policy within the context of
globalization, with tightened financial conditions,
and elevated private debts. In addition, the rapid
development of innovation in financial technology
(FinTech) and its profound impact on financial
markets continued to gain attention from members.
Although FinTech could enhance the efficiency and
convenience of financial services, it could also pose
new risks and challenges including cybersecurity
issues.

(5) International Monetary Fund (IMF) The BOT
has actively engaged with the IMF by providing our
views on its policy advice, analytical frameworks
as well as surveillance assessments. The BOT has
emphasized the key objective of the monetary policy
conduct, which is to preserve long-term financial
stability through a flexible combination of policy
tools. During the 2018 Annual Meetings of the
International Monetary Fund and World Bank Group
in Bali, Indonesia, the BOT’ governor expressed the
collective view of ASEAN central banks to the IMF’s
Managing Director, emphasizing that the IMF’s policy
recommendation framework should be adaptable
to the context and challenges faced by emerging
market economies (EMEs). In particular, policy

The 2018 Annual Meetings of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank Group in Indonesia,
10-14 October 2018
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advice of the IMF should be more flexible on the
combination of policy tools that policymakers choose
to deploy in dealing with market volatility and
capital flow management as warranted by
country-specific circumstances.
(6) The South-East Asian Central Banks
Research and Training Centre (SEACEN) In
2018, The year that the BOT governor chaired
the SEACEN Board of Governors, SEACEN’s
curriculum was improved to enhance the
knowledge of central banks in the region to be able to
keep up with today’s changes in various dimensions,
including cryptocurrency and cybersecurity. Also,
the BOT hosted the “SEACEN-FSI Course on
Corporate Governance of Banks”, aiming to develop
the potential of Central Banks in effectively monitoring
and regulating financial institutions.

Institutions exchanged their views under the theme
“Digital Technologies, Financial Systems, and
Central Bank Policy”, the areas in which central banks worldwide have given much attention to, particularly the impact of financial
techniques such as cryptocurrency on monetary policy
formulation and central bank operations.

7.2 The Bank of Thailand’s Multilateral and
Bilateral Agreements
(1) Free Trade Agreements (FTA) Free Trade
Agreements (FTA) would help reduce barriers to
international trade and investment and expand
market access for businesses. The BOT involved
in the negotiation of the ASEAN Trade in Services
Agreement (ATISA), which was already concluded
(details in 7.1(1) (1.2)), and the Regional Comprehensive
Economic Partnership (RCEP) Agreement. The
BOT involved in the preparatory process for the
Thailand-Sri Lanka FTA as well as the process of
assessing feasibility for Thailand to take part in the
Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for
Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP).
(2) Promotion of the use of Local Currencies

SEACEN-FSA Course on Corporate Governance of Banks,
11-14 September 2018

The BOT supported SEACEN’s researches by
participating in a collaborative research project called
“Household Debt in SEACEN Economies”. This project
was conducted together with other SEACEN central
banks to study the experiences of each country as well
as the impact of household debt on private consumption
and economic stability.
Furthermore, the BOT also hosted SEACEN-BIS
High-Level Seminar and the 17th Meeting of the
SEACEN Executive Committee (Deputy Governor
Level) during 14-16 September 2018 in Bangkok
where central banks’ executives, thought leaders
and representatives from International Financial
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(2.1) Local Currency Settlement Framework
between Bank Indonesia (BI), Bank Negara
Malaysia (BNM) and Bank of Thailand (BOT) BI
and the BOT officially launched the Local Currency Settlement Framework to support trade and
investment on 2 January 2018. This framework is
designed to promote the usage of the Thai Baht
and Indonesian Rupiah in their bilateral trades.
Furthermore, the BOT and BNM have also cooperated
in expanding the scope of transactions within the
framework from trade in goods and services to
include direct investment as well. These frameworks
will help lower businesses’ transaction costs, which
will support trade and investment between Indonesia,
Malaysia, and Thailand. Furthermore, it will also
lower FX risks as a result of less reliance on major
currencies which tends to be more volatile.
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The Bank of Thailand and OMFIF co-hosting high-level seminar on “Shaping the Future of Central Banks” in October 2018

The Bank of Thailand and the Milken Institute co-hosting high-level roundtable discussion on “The Future of Finance” in March 2018
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(2.2) Signing of Memorandum of Cooperation
(MOC) between Ministry of Finance of Japan and
the Bank of Thailand The cooperation aims to
encourage the use of local currencies and to promote
the use of direct quotation between the Japanese Yen
and the Thai Baht as well as to allows the currencies
to be traded in the interbank currency market
through Reuters trading platform.
This is to support financial institutions’ ability to
manage FX risks arising from the fluctuation of hard
currencies and to promote the use of local currencies,
which can help the private sector to lower businesses’
transaction costs as well as to improve trade and
investment between the two countries.
(2.3) Signing of the 4th revision of Bilateral Swap
Agreement (BSA) between Bank of Japan (acting as
the agent for the Minister of Finance of Japan) and
the Bank of Thailand This is to support a short-term
liquidity shortage and a balance-of-payments crisis.
This facility would complement the existing regional
financial arrangements as well as help strengthen
financial cooperation between Japan and Thailand.
This agreement allows the Japanese Yen to be used
to support short-term liquidity shortage and a
balance-of-payments crisis as well as encourages
the use of local currencies for trade and investment.
(2.4) Cooperation with the People’s Bank of
China (PBC) to promote the use of local currencies
The Bank of Thailand (BOT) and the People’s Bank of
China (PBC) signed the Extension and Amendment
Agreement to extend the Renminbi - Thai Baht
Bilateral Swap Agreement (BSA) for a period of three
years, starting from December 2017, to facilitate
liquidity of the Chinese Renminbi and Thai Baht.
In addition, BOT and PBC cooperatively expanded
the scope of direct quotation between Chinese
Renminbi and Thai Baht in the China Foreign
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Exchange Trade System (CFETS) from Yunnan
Province to be nationwide since 5 February 2018.
This cooperation aims to enhance the number of
players and liquidity of Chinese Renminbi and Thai
Baht in the market in order to reduce the cost of
foreign exchange and boost the use of local currencies
in cross-border trade and investment.

7.3 The Bank of Thailand’s International
Relations
(1) Greater relationship with India Strengthening
cooperation in financial and equity market sectors
serves as another channel to promote international
trade and investment between Thailand and
India. This is in line with the BOT 3-Year
Strategic Plan (2017 - 2019). In 2018, BOT enhanced
the bilateral network through country visits and
experience sharing between high-level executives
and the private sector in Mumbai. The visit
focused on financial technology, digital economy,
and financial inclusion. The outcome of the visit
was beneficial for developing National e-Payment
infrastructure, and fostering public-private sector
cooperation in creating a digital platform with safe
and convenient access for the people.
(2) Bilateral Meeting with other central banks
In 2018, the BOT had bilateral meetings with the
National Bank of Cambodia and the Bank of Lao
P.D.R. in February and November, respectively.
Both central banks’ executives discussed issues
of mutual interests, including recent economic
development and financial cooperation i.e. the
possibility of cross-border payment cooperation
in both countries, the promotion of the use of local
currencies for bilateral trade and investment, as well
as bilateral cooperation on capacity building.
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CLMVT Bankers’ Leadership Program 2018 on Innovation in Financial Services, 4-8 October 2018

Furthermore, BOT had the bilateral meeting with
Bank Indonesia and Hong Kong Monetary Authority
in March and July, respectively in order to promote
the finance and economic cooperation. The discussion
explored further collaboration and exchange
information in the areas of promoting the use of
local currencies for trade and investment between
Thailand and Indonesia, the possibility of retail
payment linkages between Thailand and Hong
Kong, financial technology (Fintech) and
Cybersecurity. This cooperation aimed to enhance
the sustainability of economic development in the
future.
(3) Technical cooperation with the neighboring
countries The BOT put great emphasis on
continuous support on technical cooperation with
Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, and Vietnam
(CLMV) through various capacity building
programs, in the form of study visits, training
courses, resource persons, scholarships, and
secondment programs on a bilateral
basis. The areas of the technical cooperation
covered a range of topics, from Macroeconomic
Management, Financial Market Development, Capital

Flows, and Foreign Exchange Management,
Financial Technology and Payment System
Development, Banking Supervision and Central
Bank Operations especially on Risk Management.
The BOT also closely collaborated with other
development partners such as the IMF Capacity
Development Office in Thailand (CDOT), the
Asian Development Bank (ADB), and the SEACEN
Center in providing the aforementioned capacity
development programs.
In addition, the BOT in collaboration with the
Thai Bankers’ Association organized the 2nd CLMVT
Bankers’ Leadership Program under the theme
of “Innovation in Financial Services”. The
program aimed at providing a platform for high-level
executives in the financial industry of Cambodia, Lao
PDR, Myanmar, Vietnam and Thailand (CLMVT)
to share and learn from each other’s experiences,
especially on designing a dynamic financial system
to foster and nurture growth under technological
disruption, which would help enhance the efficiency
of designing financial development strategy for
each country. Moreover, stronger networking
between high-level executives would be enhanced to
support greater financial connectivity and sustainable
economic growth in this region.
Bank of Thailand
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8. Regional Offices of the Bank of Thailand
The BOT has three regional offices: the Northern Regional Office, the Northeastern Regional Office, and the
Southern Regional Office. They play an important role in supporting monetary policy implementation by
monitoring and analyzing regional economies, investigate facts, conduct in-depth research and exchange
information with key economic sectors in their respective regions and coordinate with government and
private organizations. They also serve to foster understanding of the BOT’s roles and to obtain feedback
from stakeholders. Moreover, they supervise the financial sector and foreign exchange, promote financial
literacy and handle complaints from financial service consumers. Major activities conducted by the Regional
Offices in 2018 include:

8.1 Organizing Business Liaison Program
(BLP), monitoring key agricultural commodity

conditions, studying the impacts of government
measures and major events on the regional
economies and hosting annual symposiums on the
current issues of digital economy.

Regional Offices’ Business Liaison Program
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8.2 Supporting collaboration with neighboring
countries (Myanmar, Southern
China, Laos PDR and Cambodia)

8.3 Networking and
academic knowledge sharing

The Meeting between the BOT and Ministry of Industry and Commerce Lao PDR

with local authorities, private
sector, educational institutions
and international organizations

รายงานแนวโน้มธุรกิจภาคใต้

SOUTHERN REGION BUSINESS OUTLOOK REPORT

ไตรมาสที่ 4 ปี 2561

รายงานแนวโน้มธุรกิจภาคตะวันออกเฉียงเหนือ
NORTHEASTERN REGION
BUSINESS OUTLOOK REPORT
ไตรมาสที่ 4 ปี 2561

สรุปภาพรวมภาวะธุรกิจไตรมาสที่ 4 ปี 2561 และแนวโน้มธุรกิจไตรมาสที่ 1 ปี 2562
ภาพรวมธุรกิจภาคใต้ ไตรมาสที่ 4 ปี 2561
ภาวะธุรกิจภาคใต้ทรงตัวจากไตรมาสเดียวกันปีก่อน โดยภาคการผลิตยังคงหดตัวตามคาสั่งซื้อยางพาราแปรรูปที่ลดลง
จากความกังวลต่อผลกระทบของสงครามการค้าระหว่างสหรัฐฯ-จีน ประกอบกับสต็อกยางจีนที่ทรงตัวอยู่ในระดับสูง และ
เศรษฐกิจจีนที่เริ่มชะลอตัว ด้านคาสั่งซื้อ ไม้ยางพาราแปรรูปลดลงจากการบังคับใช้กฎหมายสิ่งแวดล้อมในจีนเป็นหลัก สาหรับ
การผลิตอาหารทะเลแช่เย็นแช่แข็งลดลงตามปริมาณวัตถุดิบที่ตึงตัว โดยเฉพาะวัตถุดิบกุ้ง ด้านการผลิตน้ามันปาล์มดิบลดลง
จากปริมาณผลผลิต ปาล์มน้ามัน ที่ลดลง และแนวโน้ม ราคาที่ลดลงต่อเนื่อง ขณะที่การบริโภคภาคเอกชนค่อนข้างทรงตัว
เนื่องจากกาลังซื้อของกลุ่มฐานรากยังไม่เข้มแข็ง อย่างไรก็ดี แม้ว่าภาคการผลิตจะหดตัว แต่ภาพรวมธุรกิจยังได้รับปัจจัยบวก
จากภาคการท่องเที่ยวที่สามารถขยายตัวได้ ตามกลุ่มนักท่องเที่ยวมาเลเซีย ยุโรป รัสเซีย และอินเดียที่เพิ่มขึ้นเป็นสาคัญ อีกทั้ง
ผลกระทบจากเหตุการณ์เรือล่ม ที่ จ.ภูเก็ต เริ่มมีแนวโน้มฟื้นตัว นอกจากนี้ ภาคอสังหาริมทรัพย์ ยังสามารถขยายตัวได้ ตาม
กาลังซื้อที่ยังดีต่อเนื่องของกลุ่มลูกค้ารายได้ปานกลาง-สูง
การจ้างงาน
ภาพรวมการจ้างงานทรงตัว จากไตรมาสเดียวกันปีก่อน โดยธุรกิจส่วนใหญ่ยังไม่มีแผนเพิ่มจานวนแรงงาน เนื่องจาก
แรงงานส่วนใหญ่ที่มีอยู่เพียงพอต่อการทาธุรกิจ ประกอบกับการแข่งขันสูง ทาให้ผู้ประกอบการส่วนใหญ่หันมาเน้นการเพิ่ม
ผลิตภาพแรงงานมากกว่าการเพิ่มจานวนแรงงาน
ต้นทุนและแนวโน้มราคา
ภาพรวมต้นทุนหดตัวเล็กน้อยจากไตรมาสเดียวกันปีก่อน ตามการหดตัวของราคาวัตถุดิบในภาคการผลิต อีกทั้ง ธุรกิจ
ส่วนใหญ่มกี ารบริหารต้นทุนมากขึ้น ในขณะที่แนวโน้มราคาขายทรงตัวจากการแข่งขันสูง และกาลังซื้อครัวเรือนที่ยังไม่เข้มแข็ง

ภาพรวมเศรษฐกิจและแนวโน้ม

ภาคการผลิตและส่งออก
ภาคการค้า

ภาคบริการ
ฝ่ายนโยบายโครงสร้างเศรษฐกิจ
ธนาคารแห่งประเทศไทย สานักงานภาคตะวันออกเฉียงเหนือ

(เมื่อเทียบกับไตรมาสเดียวกันปีก่อน)
ไตรมาสที่ 4 ปี 2561
ไตรมาสที่ 1 ปี 2562
2561

หดตัว
หดตัวเล็กน้อย
ทรงตัว
ขยายตัวเล็กน้อย
ขยายตัว

ภาคอสังหาริมทรัพย์
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9. Internal Excellence
9.1 Knowledge Building and Academic
Networking
The BOT places the importance on building
body of knowledge and fostering academic
network to support the BOT’s policy formulation
as well as its thought leadership role regarding
important economic and development issues. Puey
Ungphakorn Institute for Economic Research (PIER),
along with its academic alliances, carried out various
activities to achieve this goal as follows:
Building and disseminating body of knowledge:
In 2018, PIER published 22 full discussion papers, 23
aBRIDGEd articles that digested economic researches
for a wider audience, and eight short articles in
ThaiPublica online column. The work were from both
internal and external researchers and economists.
The published papers and articles covered a
broad range of topics, which were not limited to
only issues concerning economic and financial
policies, but also issues that were of interest to the
public, such as e-payment and the role of banking
agent. In addition, PIER released short video clip
summarizingresearch findings and implications
in Facebook page and disseminated knowledge
through articles in newspapers.
PIER periodically organized Economic
Seminarsas platforms for researchers to disseminate
academic works, as well as Press Briefing with the
aim of connecting academia with the wider public
and providing channels for two-way communication
in which the media could ask questions on issues
that were of interest to the public. PIER also gave
lectures to other organization such as Social Security
Office and Housing Finance Association sharing
know-how and experiences in analyzing big data
and doing research based on granular data.
Research funding and grants:
• Continually providing financial support,
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in collaboration with the Thailand Research Fund
(TRF), to the ongoing Townsend Thai Data Project for
the development of household-level panel database
(monthly micro data) and the conduction of related
researches based on this database.
• Awarding 2018 Puey Ungphakorn Institute
for Economic Research grants to five projects
covering various fields such as money market, credit
market, and export sector.
Creating national academic platform The
BOT and PIER held an annual BOT Symposium
under the theme of “The Future of Money, Finance,
and Central Banking” on 24-25 September 2018,
which welcomed general participants, and did not
limit to only researchers and academics. The 2018
Symposium focused on studying the appropriate
role of central banks amid technology challenges in
the digital era. Six research studies were presented,
and guest speakers from both government and
private sectors shared their perspective and
discussions. Examples of issues explored were
electronicpayment system, inflation dynamics, financial stability policy, and central bank communication.
Building domestic and international academic
networks
(1) PIER, in collaboration with the Faculty
of Economics, Khon Kaen University, organized
annual Research Workshop during 21-22 June 2018
at BOT Northeastern Region Office in Khon Kaen.
The workshop brought together the BOT and nonBOT economists to share knowledge and exchange
new research with the objective of supporting quality
research creation and strengthening research
community.
(2) PIER organized three field-specific
workshops titled “Financial Stability Networking
Seminar”, “Banking and Financial Stability Policy
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Forum, and “Workshop on Driving Thai Agriculture
with Technology”. These seminars and workshops
served as platform for exchanging knowledge,
experiences and perspectives on specific issues and
included participants ranging from government
officers, private sectors, to retail entrepreneurs and
farmers.
(3) Encouraging external researchers to attend
the visiting fellowship program for better collaboration
among BOT researchers and researchers from other
organizations such as University College London
and Chulalongkorn University.
(4) Collaborating with outside organizations
to study various economic policies and policy
implementation such as crop insurance policy and
health insurance policy.
(5) Participating as guest speakers and presenting
research papers in international conferences and
academic events held by other central banks,
universities, and organizations such as Federal
Reserve Bank of Boston, Bank for International
Settlements (BIS) and the central banks of Australia,
New Zealand, and Japan.

9.2 Information Technology Management
and Data Management
Changes of disruptive technologies that have
impacts to economics, financial landscape as well as
internal operations are ongoing challenges that the
BOT supervises and manages. The BOT not only
promotes the new innovations in financial service
landscape, but also strengthens the capability of
protection and response to IT risks and cyber threats.
Furthermore, the BOT extends the coverage of
data analytics system for strategic insights via new
data acquisition and visualization, also cooperates
with government sector to conform to the national
initiatives of digital economy.
Information Technology
The BOT has implemented projects aligning
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with the 3-Year strategic roadmap. Therefore,
enhancing the IT infrastructure to handle new
challenges of financial system infrastructure and new
technology developments and cybersecurity risks.
Moreover, the BOT has extended the capability of
data management system and data analytics usage
for financial institution supervision, payment, as
well as, internal management.
Key achievements in 2018 can be summarized
as follows.
(1) IT Security: Enhancing the security for all
endpoints of critical system and mobile workers
to enable more secured environment and effective
management. In addition, the BOT also separated
zones according to business requirements for
effective access control of resources. The security of
the SWIFT-related systems were also enhanced by
conforming to latest CSP updated by SWIFT.
In addition, the BOT also increased the ability
to detect cyber threats by adopting threat intelligence
services for better threats detection, thus enabling
extensive reporting of assessments and action plans
for executives. As for the personnel readiness,
employee awareness campaign was continuously
conducted through online training and cyber safety
day event, as well as the staff readiness periodic
checks. Cybersecurity cooperation with the leading
central banks, the EMEAP group, was done by
exchanging knowledge and information to enhance
the BOT’s IT security. (Cyber Security Incident
Response Process - CSIRP) was also developed and
rehearsed for cyber emergency response.
(2) IT Infrastructure: Improving the IT
infrastructure capacity to be ready for modern
technologies by focusing on performance, stability,
availability for internal operations and public
services, while providing better flexibility for
operation management under, either normal or
crisis situations. Client platform was also enhanced
for better security and more efficient management.
The BOT also developed a private cloud service
automation network for better manageability of the
critical infrastructure.
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The Future of Money, Finance, and Central Banking
(BOT Symposium 2018)
“We are in a constant state of flux, like the river that never flows back. But the river is still a river. Amid
evolving economy and innovations, central banks as stewards of economic and financial stability must
continue to be the pillar of the nation, adhere to integrity, and create stability for the country.”

Above is the speech of the BOT governor, Dr. Veerathai Santiprabhob at BOT Symposium 2018. The BOT
Symposium is held annually as an academic platform to encourage open discussion on the issues related to
policy making. On the occasion of the Bank of Thailand’s 75th Anniversary, the 2018 Symposium revisited the
roles of the central banks, by both looking back at the evolution of the financial system and looking ahead to
more challenges in stabilizing the economy and financial system in the digital and advanced-technology era.
The 2018 BOT Annual Symposium was hence organized under the theme “The Future of Money, Finance,
and Central Banking” on 24-25 September 2018. The Symposium presented studies from both internal and
external researchers addressing various questions, for example, how the move toward a less-cash society
and the global trends in e-payment impact Thailand’s retail payment landscape and the role of a central
bank; how inflation dynamics have changed under a more connected world economy with complex financial
system and booming e-commerce, and its implication on price stability; how to incorporate financial stability
considerations into monetary policy framework while balancing a tradeoff between financial and price
stability; and how the public can perceive and predict the direction of monetary policy based on the content
of BOT’s communication through various channels.
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Guest speakers, panelists, and participating experts also shared their perspectives and discussed
policy recommendation on issues such as the lessons learned from the past financial crises, the role of law
in financial innovation, and various ways the digital finance can offer more financial access to underserved
people.
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The workshop on “Driving Thai Agriculture with Technology” which encouraged exchange of knowledge, experiences and
perspectives among government officers, private sectors, retail entrepreneurs and farmers.

		 In addition, the BOT upgraded and
enhanced the platform for receiving data, processing
and storing large data for economic, financial and
payment information to work faster, more stable,
reducing the risk of system disruption, and supporting
more data volumes. Open Data API technology was also
introduced to facilitate the exchange of important
micro economic information to the external
stakeholders. Moreover, BOT created the new
infrastructure of debt instruments by using Distributed
Ledger Technology (DLT) and also developed system
for linking with Linkage Center system in accordance
with the government policy framework.

(3) Application: The BOT enhanced the
efficiency and extended the capabilities of BOT’s
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applications to achieve the intended goals which can
be summarized as follows.
		• Financial Market Operations: The financial
market systems and accounting systems were
modified to work in accordance with the new Dealing
Room System (DRS). The scope of the Emergency
Liquidity Assistance System (ELA) was expanded
to support transactions under statutory section 41
and 42 in order to provide liquidity assistance to
financial institutions under unusual circumstances.
		• Payment and Banknote Management:
The BOT developed a proof-of-concept system for
applying Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) for
the sale of scripless savings bonds (DLT Scripless
Bond Project) and the decentralized RTGS for
the interbank payment (Inthanon Project). The
Automated Paying Agent Service was upgraded to
reduce the operational risk and processing time. In
addition, the BAHTNET system was upgraded to
comply with the SWIFT Standards Release 2018.
New e-Exchange Service was also developed for
exchanging cheque information and images for ICAS
systems’ emergencies case. For Banknote Management
System (BMS), the system was upgraded to align
with the new automation working process for
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increasing the efficiency of the stock banknotes
management and processing under the same
standard in every banknote operation centers.
		• Financial Institution Supervision and
Foreign Exchange Control Supervision Technology
system was developed for continuous supervision
of financial institutions (Ongoing Supervision),
consisting of dashboards of market risk, credit risk,
as well as monitoring system for important issues
of financial institutions. Likewise, Electronic Money
Changer system was developed to support the money
exchange service business for better efficiency
and “Ease of Doing Business”. Besides, Exchange
Control Approval and Reporting System (ECARS)
was upgraded to comply with Licensing facilitation
Act, B.E.2558 (2015)
		 • Data and Information Developing
information systems to monitor the risk of savings
cooperatives, with data linkage between the
cooperative sector and the financial institution sector,
helped enabling risk assessment to be more accurate
and faster. Moreover, the BOT also developed the
financial product comparison tables for business
and general public through the website “1213”, to
allow end users to receive complete, clear and easy
to understand information such as personal loans,
debit cards, credit cards. Information dissemination
for entrepreneurs and the Open API were also
developed for publishing the Time Series of financial
economic statistics.
Data Management
The BOT pushes forward the 3-Year Strategic
Plan (2017 – 2019) rolling out activities on priority
issues: improvement of data quality on coverage,
accuracy and timeliness; review of the BOT’s data
governance framework to ensure effective management
of big data as well as compliance with national
and international data laws and regulations; and
enhancement of data and academic collaboration
with external organizations. Key implementations
throughout the year are as follows.

(1) Leveraging data usage The BOT
enhanced its data usage and (big) data analytics
extensively to support policy formulation and
analysis of agent behaviors. In addition, the
BOT improved the quality of certain indicators
such as Farm Income Index, and developed new ones
for credit quality measurement and employment.
Short articles, known as “Stat Horizon” were
published to share knowledge of data with the
public, and promote the widely use of data for
evidenced base analysis.
Data analytics: the BOT stepped up its data
usages and in-depth analysis to support both policy
formulation and internal excellence. The data analytics
projects included: (1) use Internet search technology
such as Google Trend and Google Correlate to help
monitor economic conditions; (2) develop leading
indicator of Thai Baht using machine learning technique;
(3) analyze employees’ health profiles/records; (4)
explore minutes of commercial banks using text analytics
to help understand behavior and culture of the banks;
(5) analyze BOT’s notifications using text analytics
as part of the Regulatory Impact Analysis (RIA);
and (6) use text analytics to improve operational
efficiency of statistics compilation such as classification of
government expenditures.
Economic indicators development: new
indicators were developed to enhance analysis
and monitor financial and economic conditions
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Signing Ceremony of Project Inthanon for testing the use of Central Bank Digital Currency in the sandbox

such as early warning indicators of credit risk and
Employment Revenue Index (ERI) from bulk
payment data. Some indicators were improved to
adjust their quality. For example, Used Car Price
Index (UCPI) was adjusted to reflect the structure
and trend of a second-hand car market.
Meanwhile, Farm Income Index was improved
by adding production cost to capture farmers’
real income. Lastly, Manufacturing Production
Index (MPI) was developed with components to
reflect the current structure of industry. Moreover,
Stat Horizon articles were published on BOT’s
website to provide benefits for the public especially
on data usage and data analysis of financial and
economic conditions. The articles were related to the
topics of “Payment Data Stylized Facts and Private
Consumption Indicators”, “Tracking Formal
Employee Salary from Payment Data” and
“Condominium Occupancy Rate in Bangkok and
Its Vicinity from Electricity Meter Data Analytics”.
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(2) Strengthening Data governance The BOT
undertook a thorough review of data governance
framework to align closely with data privacy and
protection law at the national and international
levels.Beginning with economic and financial data
management, the revised data governance framework
aimed to comply with standards and satisfy
users’ diverse needs and tried to strike a balance
between micro data usage and data protection. Data
masking process was in place to anonymize all
sensitive data and Personally Identifiable Information
(PII), all of which would be stored in secure platform
that allowed convenient access and use. Furthermore,
Data Leak Prevention (DLP) framework was studied
and it led to a pilot implementation on sensitive data
going in and out of the BOT high-level committee
meetings. On data quality assurance, the BOT
implemented an error detection method over
statistical data and economic indicators to ensure the
accuracy before publishing. The BOT also provided
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data governance’s online compliance lesson to foster
awareness about data usage in the organization. In
2019, the BOT will launch service system to ease
procedure for internal data request and access. The
system will also have helpful functions for tracking
requests and monitoring access rights.
(3) Expanding data cooperation In 2018, the
BOT signed the Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) with several organizations such as Real Estate
Information Center (REIC), Social Security Office
(SSO), Thai Customs, Trade Policy and Strategy
Office (TPSO) and Legal Execution Department in
order to enhance data usages and academic research
cooperation. Moreover, the BOT also increasingly
expanded scope of data to tackle and solve problems
more effectively. For example, the BOT obtained
more credit information from National Credit
Bureau (NCB) to expand personal credit consumption
loan data, employment data from SSO to efficiently
analyze the stability in labor market, farmers’ credit
and farmers’ subsidies data from Ministry of
Agriculture and Cooperatives to study behavior
and welfare of farmers, data from e-Marketplace
platform provided by financial institution, and
quarterly e-commerce survey from National
Statistical Office (NSO).
The BOT revised some datasets such as those
on corporate and SMEs loan rate in order to capture
more accurately the cost of interest rate at firm level.
The reports of payment data were revised to accord
with the Payment System Act (B.E. 2560). The BOT
also adjusted foreign exchange datasets to accord
with Foreign Exchange Regulation Reform and
measures to prevent Thai baht speculation, as well
as to monitor the impact of persistent capital inflows.
Furthermore, some datasets were being reviewed
to accord with international standards on D-SIBs,
ongoing supervision and TFRS 9.
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(4) Enhancing access to financial and
economic data The BOT expanded financial and
economic data on API technology continuously. The
deployment of automated and connected processing
helped enhance ease of accessing and exchanging
data. The BOT also shared the knowledge and
experiences of enabling an API with NSO. Moreover,
the BOT provided financial health program on BOT
Website for corporates to gain beneficial business
information. However, the BOT contributed to many
projects in setting up national data centers. For example
in the Public Data Bureau project, the BOT contributed
the “SME Intelligence Information” scheme with
Ministry of Finance and State Enterprise Policy
Office as well as the “National Data Ecosystem”
scheme with Ministry of Digital Economy and
Society. These data centers provided many benefits
including not only abundant data, but also data
integration and data linkage of the country.
The BOT cooperated with various organizations
in order to improve statistical data and indicators.
Moreover, the BOT transferred academic knowledge
including data analytics with many organizations
such as the Office of Industrial Economics, Office
of the National Economic and Social Development
Council, Ministry of Commerce, Thai Customs,
Ministry of Tourism and Sports, Social Security
Office and National Statistical Office. In 2018, the
BOT participated in academic forums by proposing
the study of “Compilation of Service Production
Index” in The 1st CLMVT Conference on Economic
and Trade Indices at Ministry of Commerce in
Thailand. Another proposal was the study of
“Payment Data: Stylized Facts and Private
Consumption Indicators” in the International
Conference on Applied Statistics (ICAS) 2018
organized by faculty of science and technology,
Prince of Songkla University, Pattani Campus.
The BOT also hosted the visitors from Ethiopia
in the workshop on overview of BOT’s role in the
compilation & dissemination of economic & financial
statistics.
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Data Collaboration:
The Heart of Making Policy
“Data is the new oil” explains how much the data is important in this modern world. Data becomes a
significant tool for analyzing and making better policy decision. Therefore, it is one of the very valuable
resources like oil which human found out how to take advantage in the first time.

For this reason, the BOT cooperates with
various organizations in order to contribute
abundant knowledge of economic and financial
analysis more widely and deeply. This also helps
policymakers to implement an evidence-based
policy which rapidly responds to economic changes
in this environmental volatility. After development
of data infrastructure, the BOT and those
organizations have conducted a lot of research which
are common interest and mutual benefits.
In 2017, the BOT acquired financial data of Thrift
and Credit Cooperatives and SMEs loan data from
commercial banks and special financial institutions.
Furthermore, the BOT signed the Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) with National Science
Technology and Innovation Policy Office (STI) and
National Credit Bureau (NCB). Moreover, the BOT
continuously acquired data and signed the MOU
with many organizations for data exchange and
academic collaboration in 2018 as follows:
132
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• Real Estate Information Center, Government
Housing Bank: real estate data and sentiment data
were acquired to monitor economic conditions in the
industry.
• Social Security Office, Ministry of Labor: social
security data and labor-related data were use to assess
business and to analyze the development of Thai labor
market.
• Thai Customs, Ministry of Finance: expansion of
data exchanging both import-export data and foreign
exchange data in order to monitor economic situations
and capital flows under Exchange Control Act (B.E.
2485).
• Legal Execution Department, Ministry of
Justice: bankruptcy information was acquired to
accurately examine qualification of persons who
managed the financial institutions according to Financial
Institution Business Act (B.E. 2551).
• Trade Policy and Strategy Office, Ministry of
Commerce: trade and economic data were applied to
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analyze trade and investment situation as well as to
make a policy decision.
Those data are integrated to expanding information
coverage and perspective. These not only create new
analysis but also conduct thoroughly research to
strengthening an evidence-based policy.
For example, the study of Thailand’s household
debt from NCB’s data shows that Thais begin
to have debt earlier in their lives and hold debt
longer until they are old as well as median debt per
borrower is increasingly high. These results lead to
implementing the regulation of personal loan and
credit card services which can solve the problem
effectively. For another study, import-export data from
Thai Customs can help the BOT better understand
exporters’ invoicing behaviors across the country.
Data collaboration between the BOT and various organizations not only fosters internal excellence, but also
contributes and supports Thailand’s data ecosystem.
These data can help the BOT make sound policy
decisions and finally it will sustainably elevate the
well-being of the Thai people.
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9.3 Human Resources Management and
Organization Development
To enhance the potential of staffs and strengthen
engagement at all levels including the leverage from
diverse experiences of staffs to drive the organization
strategic plan to meet future challenges, the BOT
enhanced the working process of each function and
human resources management as follows:
(1) External recruitment procedure was refined
in order to attract candidates in executive position
and specific specialist especially in the field of
Financial Technology, Data Analytics, IT Security and
research. Contractual employment was employed
to offer competitive and flexible compensation
scheme according to potential and experience.
(2) Young generation with high potential
was progressively recruited via internship
program and hiring PhD graduates from particular
fields. The BOT’s values, so called 5-Key Behaviors
comprising with Integrity, Visionary, Openness,
Agility, and Outcome-Oriented, were used as critical
tool to assess high quality candidates.
(3) Regarding a long-term strategic staffing
plan, the BOT prepared the well-rounded talents in fulfilling both functional and professional
competencies as a succession planning scheme for
being the future leaders.
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(3.1) The BOT equipped their executives and
staffs with knowledge and skillsets to cope with
the constantly changing situation in the disruptive
environment and to drive the BOT strategic plans as
well as to nurture their attitudes and behaviors that
aligned with the BOT’s 5 keys behaviors by promoting
learning and development through various channels
and approaches which consisted of learning from
experiences such as secondment, squad, learning and
knowledge sharing with others such as mentoring
and coaching, along with the classroom learning
to broaden essential knowledge and expertise for
central bank such as Financial Technology, Digital
banking, Cybersecurity, and so on.
In addition, the BOT focused on succession
planning to prepare the future leaders both in terms
of quantity and quality to be ready to replace all
positions for head of department level and higher
and supported the development of high potential
staffs according to their Individual Development
Plan (IDP) to construct the leaders with management
skills in both people and work aspects. Besides, the
BOT developed the Leadership Development Project
to promote noble leader role model.
In 2018, the BOT organized the Leadership
Boot Camp, in cooperation with Mae Fah Luang
Foundation under Royal Patronage, which enabled
the BOT’s leaders to strengthen their leadership
skills directly from their real experiences with local
community leaders in Nan and Chiangrai. The main
objective was to develop their abilities to engage
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ค่านิยมร่วม (Values) ของ ธปท.

team members and unleash their potential. The
target participants were deputy director and
assistant director levels.
To promote knowledge sharing culture, topics
of interest across the BOT were continuously shared
in Brown Bag Talks. Also, the BOT occasionally
organized Inspirational Talks to spread inspiring
stories from people of different professions.

(3.3) The BOT scholarships were continuously
granted both in local and international academic
institutions. In 2018, subject of studies was
extended to promote the BOT’s future mission which
focused on Artificial Intelligence, Data Science,
Data Analytics, Cybersecurity, Human Computing
Interaction, Innovation and Technology
Management. Also, increasing number of scholarship
was advocated to corporate social responsibility
objective.

(3.2) Enhancing internal mobility strategies by
launching the Internal Job Market System. This tool
empowered employee to apply for job rotation from
their personal interest, in order to gain greater lateral
exposure, acquire different skill sets, and develop
diverse experiences.

(4) The BOT continuously focused on the 5-Key
Behaviors which were work culture, aligning with
the BOT’s core values, by promoting the BOT wide
awareness in terms of executives being the role
model, adopting them into daily work and conveying
their significance throughout the organization.
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ประเภททุน ธปท.
ทุน ธปท. สามารถแบ่งกลุ่มหลัก ๆ ได้เป็น 2 กลุ่ม คือ
1. ทุนการศึกษาเพื่อการสรรหาและพัฒนากลุ่มศักยภาพ เพื่อเป็นก�ำลังส�ำคัญในการขับเคลื่อนยุทธศาสตร์ของ ธปท.
ที่ผ่านมาจะเน้นการให้ทุนในสาขาวิชาเศรษฐศาสตร์ และการเงินเป็นหลัก เนื่องจากเป็นวิชาหลักในการด�ำเนินงานของธนาคารกลาง
ปัจจุบันได้เพิ่มจ�ำนวนทุนที่เน้นในด้านเทคโนโลยี ซึ่งก�ำลังเป็นที่นิยมในปัจจุบัน ทั้ง Artificial Intelligence, Data Sciences, Innovation และ
Cybersecurity เป็นต้น
ระดับปริญญาตรี
l

ทุนธนาคารแห่ง		
ประเทศไทย (ม.ปลาย)

l

ทุนวิวัฒนไชยานุสรณ์
(สาขาวิชาเศรษฐศาสตร์
การเงิน บัญชี 		
คอมพิวเตอร์ คณิตศาสตร์
หรือกฎหมาย)

ช่วงเวลาสมัคร

เปิดรับสมัคร
เดือนกันยายน

ระดับปริญญาโท และเอก

ช่วงเวลาสมัคร

l

ทุนธนาคารแห่งประเทศไทย
(ทุนแข่งขัน หรือทุนบุคคลทั่วไป
ระดับปริญญา)

เปิดรับสมัครเดือนพฤศจิกายน

l

ทุน Dr. Peuy Ungphakorn 		
Centenary Scholarship
(London School of Economics
and Political Science : LSE)

เปิดรับสมัครเดือนตุลาคม
(ต้องได้รับการตอบรับ
จากมหาวิทยาลัยก่อนสมัคร)

l

ทุนตามแผนพัฒนาพนักงาน
รายบุคคล (IDP) *

เปิดรับสมัคร
ช่วงไตรมาสแรกของปี

* (Individual Development Plan : IDP) เป็นทุนเฉพาะพนักงาน ธปท.
2. ทุนการศึกษาเพื่อสร้างบุคลากรที่มีคุณภาพให้แก่สังคมและประเทศ
ธปท. ให้ความส�ำคัญกับการให้ทุนพัฒนาบุคลากรของประเทศ โดยเฉพาะสาขาวิชาที่เกี่ยวข้องกับงาน ธปท.
ระดับปริญญาตรี
l

ทุน ดร.ป๋วย อึ๊งภากรณ์

l

ทุนปริญญาตรี ปี 2 - 4
สถาบันการศึกษาในประเทศ

l

ทุน BOT Challenge & 		
Experience

ช่วงเวลาสมัคร
เปิดรับสมัครเดือนกันยายน

ระดับปริญญาโท และเอก

ช่วงเวลาสมัคร

ทุนปริญญาโทเศรษฐศาสตร์
(หลักสูตรภาษาอังกฤษ)
ในประเทศ

ติดตามการสมัคร
ที่มหาวิทยาลัย

เปิดรับสมัครช่วงไตรมาสที่ 3

เพือ่ สนับสนุนการเป็นองค์กรแห่งการเรียนรู้ และการพัฒนาตนเองอย่างไม่หยุดนิง่ ธปท. ยังเปิดโอกาสให้พนักงานทีป่ ระสงค์จะไปศึกษาต่อ
ในสาขาวิชาที่เป็นประโยชน์ด้วยทุนส่วนตัว หรือได้รับทุนจากสถาบันภายนอกแบบไม่มีเงื่อนไข สามารถลาศึกษาต่อและกลับมาท�ำงาน
หลังจบการศึกษาได้ โดยยังคงมีสถานะเป็นพนักงานเช่นเดิม
สามารถติดตามรายละเอียดทุนการศึกษาเพิ่มเติมได้ที่
BOT Website : https://bit.ly/2cLaNea
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Audit Committee Report
The Bank of Thailand Audit Committee (the AC) comprises five non-executive members, appointed
by the Bank of Thailand Board (the Board): three members are from the Board and the other two are
external experts. The AC members and their terms of office are as follows;
1. Mr. Suthad Setboonsarng, a Board member, who
serves as the Chairman (serving as an AC member
during November 26, 2015 – August 29, 2018 and
as the Chairman since August 30, 2018);
2. Miss Jaruvan Hengtrakool, a Board member
(since May 25, 2017);
3. Mr. Manas Jamveha, a Board member (since
August 30, 2018);
4. Mrs. Danuja Kunpanitchakit, a non-Board
member (since February 27, 2014);
5. Mr. Sorasit Soontornkes, a non-Board member
(since October 1, 2017).
During 2018, the term of the Chairman; Mr.
Charlee Chantanayingyong, has been completed
(serving as an AC member during October 1, 2015
– May 24, 2017 and as the Chairman during May
25, 2017 – June 20, 2018).
The AC functions as an efficient mechanism of the
Board to oversee the BOT operations in order to ensure
that the BOT carries out its functions in accordance
with good governance principles, appropriate risk
management system, effective internal control, and
the independence and objectivity of internal audit.
The execution of the AC’s duty is governed by scope
of authorities, roles, and responsibilities stipulated by
the Audit Committee Charter as well as additional
assignments from the Board.
In 2018, the AC emphasized on the achievement
of the BOT Strategic Plan’s objectives, the assessment
and key performance indicators, cyber security
issues, the conduct of performance audit, the human
resource development plan, as well as the adoption
of digitalization and data analytics in auditing to
assure the efficiency and effectiveness of the BOT’s
operational processes in achieving the strategic goals.
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This year the AC held 11 meetings, inclusive of a
meeting at the Northern Region Office, along with
the visit at the Office of Banknote Operation and a
private cash center in Chiang Mai province. Apart
from such meetings, the AC had met twice with
the BOT Governor, twice with the Risk Oversight
Committee (ROC), twice with external auditors from
the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand
(SAO), and once with all staff members of the BOT’s
Internal Audit Group (IAG).
The task carried out and reviewed by the AC in
2018 can be summarized as follows:

1. Review of Financial Statements
The AC reviewed the financial statements
undertaken by the BOT, namely, financial statement
of the BOT, of Currency Reserve, and of Banknote
Issuance Business. The AC viewed that the overall
process of accounting and preparation of financial
statements of all three entities was under prudent
and effective internal control. In all material aspects,
financial statements fairly presented financial
condition and operational performances, maintained
reliability and observed generally accepted accounting
principles, appropriate accounting practices for central
banks, as well as relevant regulations. Information
disclosure was also adequate and appropriate.

2. Supervision of Internal Audit
The AC reviewed audit reports submitted in line
with the 2018 IAG annual audit plan and was of the
view that the IAG has carried its task effectively;
hence, it was able to provide added value to BOT.
The AC provided guidance for the application
of performance audit and the importance of the
information technology risk as well as the preparation
for legal changes.
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T he AC reviewed and approved the annual audit
plan and annual budget for 2019 including the IAG’s
Human Resource Development Plan which highlights
the programs aiming at developing auditing
capabilities, specifically in performance audit and
IT auditing skill, through secondment program and
IT co-sourcing. In addition, the AC also encouraged
internal auditors to earn relevant qualified certificates
and supported the use of automation system in
auditing processes.
The AC annual meeting with IAG staff members
was held to provide an opportunity for sharing
information, strengthening mutual relationship, and
understanding each other’s roles. In this meeting,
the AC gave valuable guidance on internal audit
work responsive to rapid changes and rising risk
environment. Additionally, the AC encouraged all
staff to initiate new ideas to achieve the objectives set
forth, apply the digitalization and data analytics, as
part of internal audit, and increase consulting services.

3. Coordination on the Risk Management
In 2018, the AC and the ROC held two joint
meetings in order to exchange views on the BOT’s
enterprise risks, risk management and annual audit
plan. During the joint meetings, both committees
emphasized on IT/cyber risk in financial sector, the
BOT’s financial statements and the preparation for
new coming laws that would affect the BOT and its
supervised financial institutions. The coordination
between the AC and the ROC helps ensure the
efficiency and effectiveness of overall enterprise risk
management.

4. Meetings with the BOT Governor
In 2018, the AC met with the BOT Governor
twice. The topics of discussion included 1) major
audit findings, 2) the review of audit plan for the
second half of 2018, and 3) scope and annual audit
plan for 2019.

5. Meetings with the External Auditor (SAO)
The AC met with the external auditor twice, to
acknowledge the external auditor’s comments and
suggestions on accounting practices and preparation
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of BOT financial statements, and on the information
disclosure as per financial reporting standards. In
addition, the AC has been continuously following
up on the annual audit fee issue according to the
Organic Act on State Audit B.E. 2561.

6. Reporting of the Work of the AC
The AC prepared its work report and submitted
it to the Board and the Ministry of Finance on a
quarterly basis, in accordance with the provisions of
BOT Act B.E. 2485, as amended by BOT Act (No. 4)
B.E. 2551 Section 55.

Summary of the AC’s Opinion
In an effort to fulfill its responsibilities based on
scope and authority as per the Audit Committee
Charter, the AC endeavored to do its best in
applying knowledge, ability, and skills of individual
committee members towards conferring independent
and impartial opinions and recommendations to the
Board, the BOT Management and BOT officers, while
taking into account interests of all stakeholders. The
AC has received good cooperation from both the BOT
Management and the audited departments. As such,
the audit recommendations had been discussed and
pursued successfully.
Overall, the AC concluded that the Board, the BOT
Management, and the BOT officers were committed
to performing their duties in a professional manner,
in order to achieve the BOT’s objectives, especially
the Strategic Plan, and accorded importance to
good governance to foster effectiveness, efficiency,
transparency, prudent risk management, and
an effective internal control system. The BOT’s
operations complied with the relevant laws, rules, and
regulations, while the audit results were beneficial,
in accordance with best principles, ensuring that the
BOT’s operational processes efficiently accomplish
goals, objectives and vision set forth.
(Mr. Suthad Setboonsarng)
Chairman, Audit Committee
Bank of Thailand
January 2019
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139

Good governance is everyone’s duties. As part of an organization,
all must be responsible for the outcomes
of their own actions or neglects.
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Mission and financial statements of the Bank of Thailand
Before reading the financial statements of any organization, it is essential to understand the organization’s
missions. As a central bank, the BOT’s mission differs from that of business sectors. Likewise, the central
bank’ financial statements are distinct and contrast significantly with those of other businesses.

1. Mission of the Central Bank
the BOT’s mission are in 2 aspects:
(1) Preserving the economic stability
Section 7 of the Bank of Thailand Act, B.E. 2485 (as amended in B.E. 2561) stipulated that “…to carry on
such tasks as pertain to central banking in order to maintain monetary stability, financial institution system
stability and payment systems stability”, in other words, the overall financial and economic stability. Like
other central banks around the world, the BOT’s mission is to maintain economic stability internally and
externally. Internal stability refers to preserving the value of Thai baht and Thai assets from being depreciated
by inflation and preventing an economic bubble or vulnerabilities in the financial system which may lead
to a financial crisis in the future. Meanwhile, external stability refers to speculating the value of Thai baht
movement to be in compliance with the economic fundamentals and not excessively volatile, maintaining the
purchasing power of the Thai economy in the global market, ensuring a low level of external debt, as well as
ensuring an adequate amount of international reserves to cushion the impacts from volatilities in the global
financial market and capital market.
(2) Printing and issuing banknotes in the economic system
Section 14 of the Currency Act, B.E. 2501 (as amended in B.E. 2545) stipulated that “…the BOT has
sole rights to print, manage, and issue banknotes...” Thai Baht and Thai banknotes shall be accepted when
the implementa tion of the monetary policy and macroeconomic policy is reliable. In addition, Section 16
prescribed that “…No banknotes shall be issued unless there is an immediate exchange between any assets
with equal value...” Therefore, when printing and issuing banknotes, the BOT has to hold foreign assets
of equivalent value to the amount of issued banknotes, in accordance with Section 26 of the Currency Act,
“For the purpose of maintaining the stability of the currency, the BOT shall maintain a currency reserve,
hereinafter to be called the ‘Currency Reserve.”
Both aspects of the mission are interconnected, and are considered fundamental factor which are essential
for the economic system to expand stably and sustainably.

2. The Bank of Thailand and the Currency Reserve accounts
To carry out both aforementioned aspects of the mission, it is required by law that the BOT shall divide
its account into two, namely:
(1) The Bank of Thailand Account is the account associated with the mission to maintain economic
stability. When reading a brief BOT account, the Asset column consists of international reserves in the
form of foreign currencies, making up to 85 percent of the total assets, while the remaining assets are Thai
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government bonds. On the right-hand side, the Liabilities column mainly consists of the BOT bonds from
the implementation of monetary policy to maintain economic stability, deposits from financial institutions
and government. All liabilities are in Thai baht.

(2) The Currency Reserve Account is the account associated with the mission to print and issue banknotes.
The Asset column consists of a total 100 percent of assets in foreign currencies being held for the issuance
of banknotes, as specified by law. Meanwhile, the Liabilities column consists of banknotes in circulation in
the form of Thai baht. In other words, the banknotes in circulation in the economic system are considered
the central bank’s liabilities.

Consequently, the central bank’s financial statements are recorded with imbalance between assets
(in foreign currencies) and liabilities (in local currency) and are likely to change easily in accordance with
foreign exchange volatilities.

3. Distinctive characteristics of the central bank’s financial statements
Characteristic 1 Assets and Liabilities are currency mismatch
The central bank’s financial statements differ from those of private sectors in the way that most central
banks’ assets are foreign assets or international reserves, while their liabilities are in local currencies of
each country. In case of the BOT, liabilities in the form of Thai baht include both banknotes and debt securities
issued by the BOT to manage liquidity and maintain the country’s financial stability. Therefore, the distinctive
Bank of Thailand
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characteristic of the central bank’s financial statementsis that assets and liabilities are currency mismatch,
making an annual asset valuation of foreign currencies become mandatory in order to prepare the financial
statements in the form of Thai baht. The revaluation can be compared to the calculation of the value of foreign
currency assets to their value in Thai baht if all foreign currency assets were liquidated at this moment.
In fact, the central bank does not dispose all foreign assets every year-end for the revaluation, but
instead holds them in accordance with the principle to ensure sufficient and available international reserves
to carry out its mission. Particularly when volatilities occurred in international capital flows or the current
account, most of profits or losses shown in the financial statements represent “revaluation profit or loss,”
also known as “unrealized loss/gain.”
The annual revaluation means that changes in foreign exchange rate significantly affect the calculation
shown in the financial statements, especially when there is a high proportion of foreign assets. For
example, at the end of 2018 the BOT had international reserves approximately 240,000 million USD. Should
the value of Thai baht depreciates one baht, 240,000 million THB of unrealized gain will occur immediately.
In contrast, should the value of Thai baht appreciates one baht, 240,000 million THB of unrealized gain will
occur immediately.

Revaluation profit or loss does not affect the BOT’s capacity to conduct its mission at all because the
BOT has ensured the amount of 240,000 million USD of international reserves to cushion against external
volatilities. Therefore, if loss is observedin the central bank’s financial statements for a certain period of
time, it is not a matter of concern because it may stem from the revaluation. When speculating the BOT’s
previous financial statements, it is likely to find profits in some years and losses in others, mainly due to the
consequence of the revaluation.

Characteristic 2 International reserve management aims to maintain its long-term value in the form
of foreign currencies run
The central bank’s mission is to ensure the economic stability, which requires the foresight rather than a
concentration on momentary economic changes. The international reserve management does likewise. The central
bank invests in assets with long-term high value to facilitate risk diversification appropriately, even though there
might be short-term volatilities. The main focus in international reserve management is yields in the form of
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“foreign currencies” because ultimately the central bank has to ensure the availability and adequacy of international
reserves. However, the preparation of financial statements takes place within a timeframe of one year, resulting
in the difference in terms of timeframe and the consideration of yields from managing international reserves.
In addition, typical international reserve management involves the revisions of investment proportion to be
in line with the global financial and economic changes to facilitate risk diversification and leverage investment
yields. Profit/loss recognition occurs after sales of a certain type of instrument. Previously, it was recorded as an
unrealized loss/gain. Therefore, such recording numbers reflects the recognition of unrealized loss/gain from
previous revaluations, rather than selling or purchasing foreign assets in pursuit of speculation.

Characteristic 3 The central bank’s liabilities differ from private sectors’ liabilities
Private sectors’ liabilities, arising from either spending or investing, is for private benefit, while the central
bank’s liabilities are for public benefit. The BOT’s liabilities are caused by (1) printing an adequate amount of
banknotes in circulation for the economic system and (2) maintaining the economy stability, the value of Thai
baht, and Thai people’s assets from being depreciated. These are regarded as public goods which facilitate the
economic system to grow. The central bank’s liabilities are not meant for the benefit of any specific group of
people, any corporate, or not even the BOT itself. In fact, they are liabilities caused by carrying out the mission
which benefits the Thai society as a whole.
The first portion of the central bank’s liabilities is banknote circulated in the economic system. Banknotes
are regarded as a medium of exchange agreed upon by people in the society as legal tender. The peculiarity of
banknotes is that even when given banknotes by a complete stranger, one can trust in their value and accept their
exchange. This became the starting point of various economic activities, for example, trading and exchanging
of goods or services. The second portion is the financial institutions’ deposits at the central bank. They are also
considered the central bank’s liabilities because the central bank acts as an intermediary in the financial institution
system. Financial institutions use the deposit accounts provided by the central bank to pay one another and
manage their own liquidity.The third portion is government deposits or treasury reserve. It is regarded as
the central bank’s liabilities from cash flow management by the government in a different period of time.
The last portion is liabilities resulted from carrying out the mission to safeguard the economic and financial
stability. During the period of excessive liquidity in the financial system, the central bank issues debt securities or
government bonds to absorb such excessive liquidity and store at the central bank. On the contrary, the central
bank redeems government bonds and releases liquidity when that the economy requires higher liquidity.
What happened in the last ten years? And where did the central bank’s increasing liabilities come from?
By looking at the economic cycle during the last ten years, since the global economic crisis in 2009, the central
bank of major industrial countries, e.g. USA, the European community and Japan, began to implement an
accommodative monetary policy which was conducive for economic recovery. These central banks injected
a large amount of capitals into the global financial system, resulting in a capital influx in emerging markets,
including Thailand. The global financial and capital markets became volatile, and the country’s internal affairs
was challenged by political turmoil and natural disasters. Furthermore, despite a low level of investment in
the Thai economy, exports indicated a good sign of development and tourism achieved the leap-frogging
advancement. The number of tourists increased from 15 million ten years ago to 38 million in 2018. Subsequently,
during the last ten years Thailand has gained approximately 200,000 million USD of an unprecedentedly high
surplus.
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What happened in the last ten years? And where did the central bank’s increasing liabilities come from?

Amidst these challenging circumstances, how did the BOT carry out its mission? In the context of a rapid
capital influx, an unprecedentedly high current account surplus, and weakening domestic investment, altogether,
were factors that exerted downward pressure on Thai baht to be appreciated against other foreign currencies.
When the movement of Thai baht was inconsistent with economic fundamentals, the BOT took action by selling
Thai Baht in exchange for purchasing foreign currencies in order to slow down the effect of Thai Baht appreciation.
This means that the BOT allowed the liquidity of Thai baht into the financial system. However, excessively high
level of liquidity might lead to an economic bubble in the real estate sector, causing asset prices to accelerate and
become unaligned with fundamentals, and long-term financial instability. Therefore, the BOT had to accommodate
liquidity absorption by issuing debt securities to maintain the economic stability. Carrying out such mission
caused the BOT’s liabilities to rise in accordance with the hike of international reserves.
The BOT’s increasing liabilities were resulted from the central bank’s missions to foster the stability and
sustainability of the Thai economy to be in line with potential growth, to maintain an appropriate exchange
rate from extreme volatilities or unexpected appreciation, and to prevent long-term financial instability. The
liabilities which were caused by the aforementioned debt securities costed the BOT interest payable burdens,
in the meantime the BOT gained interest receivable from foreign reserves management. In the past, Thailand’s
interest rate was higher than other countries, so the interest payable rate stood much higher than the interest
receivable rate. At present, Thailand’s interest rate became lower than other countries, and the BOT started
to have interest receivable more than interest payable.
The difference between interrest receivable and interrest payable

Unit : million THB
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Characteristic 4 Profitability is not the central bank’s mission
The central bank is a nonprofit organization whose key mission is to maintain the stability of the
financial economy, so profit or loss shown in the financial statements does not reflect the accomplishment of
the central bank in carrying out its mission. Unlike, the private sector whose key mission is to speculate. Their
accomplishment is measured by profit or lossin the financial statements.
The central bank is an organization that implements public policies, but it does not mean that the central
bank is unaware of the effect of policy legislation on financial statements. The central bank is obliged to maintain
economic and financial stability by implementing policy tools carefully and cost-effectively.
Loss in the central bank’s financial statements are not something new. In fact, many a central bank, for
example, Switzerland, Singapore, Australia, Israel, Chile, has a record of loss in its financial statement. Moreover,
loss does not affect the potential to carry out the central banks’ mission, as long as the central bank’s policy
implementation is reasonable and suitable for maintaining the country’s economic stability, and trustworthy by
various sectors, including the general public, businesses, local and foreign investors. Previously, the number
shown on the BOT’s financial statements reflected losses. The financial market and investors were still confident
in the BOT’s operations, which reflected in the event whenever the BOT issues bonds, investors’ demand to bid
is greater than the number of bonds available.
Net performance of the Bank of Thailand for the years 2010-2018
million THB

Net performance of the Bank of Thailand for the years 2010-2018

The coherence between economic conditions and the central bank’s financial statements is often in reverse
direction. That is, in the years the growth of Thai economy was considered stable (e.g. in 2017-2018 Thai
economy expanded by approximately 4 percent), the Thai baht was generally appreciated, and as a result, there
were losses shown in the BOT’s financial statements. Loss, in this sense, refers to the loss caused by revaluation
and interest payable from issuing debt securities to maintain economic stability.
On the contrary, the years that the BOT’s financial statements recorded profit did not guarantee economic
soundness or benefits to the people. For example, in 2011, there was a devastating deluge, a minimal growth
of Thai economy by only 0.8 percent, the weakening of global economy, and the depreciation of Thai baht, but
the BOT’s financial statements recorded more than billion THB’s worth of profit. Likewise, in 2015, Thailand
suffered low economic expansion due to political turmoil, deceleration in Chinese economy and depreciation of
Thai baht, yet the BOT’s financial statements recorded more than 90,000 million THB of profit.
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The Bank of Thailand’s 2018 financial statements
1. Financial economic context in 2018
The year 2018 is another year the world economy faced many challenges, including the uncertainties in
international trade, an unprecedentedly high level of debt global-wide, the hike in policy interest rate issued by
the central banks of many countries, as well as geopolitical risks around the world. These factors led to volatilities
in the financial and capital markets year-round, and emerging markets with economic instability suffered the
capital outflows and severe depreciation.
Even though the global economy encountered extreme and unpredictable volatilities, overall the Thai
economy was stable. When compared to other emerging markets, Thailand’s financial system remained strong.
The Thai baht, purchasing power and the asset value of the Thai people were not depreciated because of
low inflation rate. The Exchange rate appeared stable relative to other major currencies. Thailand’s external
stability was strong, especially firm international reserves, constantly high surplus, and low external debt. These
altogether served as a bumper and immunity to alleviate impacts from external volatilities, ensuring the Thai
economy to expand continually in line with potential growth.

2. Financial statements of the Bank of Thailand accounts in 2018
The Bank of Thailand’s account in 2018 showed 153,168 million THB of net loss, which decreased from
last year, mainly due to unrealized loss from revaluation. In contrast, interest income from foreign asset
management was higher than interest payable for the first time in many years of implementing the monetary
policy. The details are as follows:
2.1 Operation according to the mission to maintain economic stability
In 2018, 18,776 million THB of net interest income was recorded positive.
This was driven by interest income from foreign asset management, which
was higher than interest expense from the implementation of monetary
policy. The numbers shown here have improved gradually over previous
years in responding to the rise of interest rates in the global financial
markets. On the contrary, Thailand’s policy interest rate stayed lower
than several countries and even lower than the US’s policy interest rate.
2.2 Financial performance of international reserve management
and others In 2018, 95,834 million THB of net loss was resulted from
the realization of previous revaluation loss (in 2017) as loss occurred
when some foreign assets were liquidated, through the adjustment of
investment proportion in accordance with major changes in the global
financial economy for better risk diversification and higher yields. For
example, the reduction of asset possession in certain currencies and
the addition of Chinese RMB to correspond with the prominent role of
Chinese economy in the global economic system and correspond with
the IMF’s decision to add RMB into the SDR basket of currencies for the
first time in 2016.
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In this respect, most losses arose because the cost of foreign assets in Thai baht, which were bought years
ago, became higher than the value in Thai baht when the assets were sold after Thai baht appreciation. This kind
of loss is considered the recognition of loss, which was recorded as part of unrealized loss from the revaluation
and was recorded as net profit/loss in the financial statements last year.
2.3 Results of valuation 76,110 million THB of net loss was unrealized loss which arose from the revaluation
of international reserves in Thai baht. This year Thai baht was appreciated in comparison to major currencies,
especially EUR, RMB and GBP which were depreciated due to the economic decelerate in these three counties.

3. Financial statements of currency reserve account in 2018
In 2018, the financial statements of currency reserve account showed 30,024 million THB of net loss, which
were lower from last year. The losses were resulted from the revaluation of foreign assets in currency reserve
account (-50,208 million THB). However, yields from international reserve management for holding banknote
circulation remained intact. The details are as follows:
สรุปภาพรวมงบการเงิ
วน) ของบั
ญชี ธปท.
และบัญชีbanknotes
ทุนสํารองเงินตรา 19,453 million THB of net interest
3.1 Operations according to the
missionน (เฉพาะส
to print
and
issue
หนวย: ลานบาท
income arose from international reserve
managementบัญfor
holding
which yielded generous
รายการ
ชีธนาคารแห
งประเทศbanknote
บัญชีทุนสํารองเงิcirculation
นตรา
ไทย
returns. The cost of banknote1. กํprinting
reduced due to the decline
of banknote
issuance
าไร/ขาดทุนสุทธิป 2561
-153,168
-30,024
 การดําเนินงานตามพันธกิจ

+19,453

+18,776

3.2 International reserves(การรัmanagement
731 million THB of net profit arose from trading assets
กษาเสถียรภาพเศรษฐกิจ หรือand
การพิมพothers
และ
นําธนบัตรออกใช)
in foreign currencies
-95,834
+731
 การบริหารเงินสํารองระหวางประเทศ
และรายการอื่น

-76,110
-50,208
3.3 Results of valuation 50,208
million
THB of net loss arose
from the revaluation
of international reserves
 ผลจากการตี
ราคา (Valuation)
2. กําไร/ขาดทุนสะสม
-880,221
+763,854
in currency reserve account into Thai baht, due to the depreciation of most foreign currencies in comparison to
Thai baht.
Summary
of financialstatements
statements (partial
only)only)
Summary
of financial
(partial
of theofBank
of Thailand
Accountand
and Currency
Reserve
AccountAccount
of the Bank
Thailand
Account
Currency
Reserve
Items
1. Net profit and loss in 2018

 Duties and missions
(Maintaining economic stability or
printing and issuing banknotes)
 Managing International reserves
and others

 Valuation
2. Net accumulated profits and losses

Bank of Thailand
Account
-153,168
+18,776

Unit: million THB
Currency Reserve
Account
-30,024
+19,453

-95,834

+731

-76,110
-880,221

-50,208
+763,854

4. Are losses on financial statements a matter of concern?

Summary of financial statements (partial only) of the Bank of Thailand account and Currency
reserve account

The majority of losses in 2018 were resulted from the revaluation of foreign assets in Thai baht, although
the operations according toUnit:themillion
mission
to preserve economic stability have improved continually for several
THB
years. Net income was recognized in 2018. The operations according to the mission to print and issue banknotes,
Items | Bank of Thailand account | Currency reserve account
likewise, consistently generated
income.
1. Net profit and loss in 2018

The central banks of many countries, for example, Switzerland, Singapore, Australia, Israel, and Chile, have
experienced losses as well. Yet, losses do not affect their potential to carry out the central banks’ mission in any
way, as long as the policy legislation is reasonable and reliable. With respect to the BOT, the financial market
and investors were still confident in the BOT’s operations. This reflected in the event whenever the BOT issues
bonds, investors’ demand to bid is greater than the number of bonds available.
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(TRANSLATION)
AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Bank of Thailand Board
Opinion
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand has audited the financial
statements of the Bank of Thailand, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2018, the statement of income and statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion, the above
mentioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Bank of Thailand as at December 31, 2018, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai
Financial Reporting Standards and the Bank of Thailand Act.
Basis for Opinion
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand conducted the audit in
accordance with the State Audit Standards and Thai Standards on Auditing. The State
Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s report.
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand is independent of the Bank of
Thailand in accordance with the State Audit Standards issued by the State Audit
Commission and the Thailand Federation of Accounting Professions’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements,
and the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand has fulfilled other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The State Audit Office of the
Kingdom of Thailand believes that the audit evidence the State Audit Office of the
Kingdom of Thailand has obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion.
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Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and the auditor’s report in the annual report. Management will
provide the annual report to the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand after
the date of this auditor’s report.
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and the State Audit Office of the
Kingdom of Thailand will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with the audit of the financial statements, the State Audit Office
of the Kingdom of Thailand’s responsibility is to read the other information identified
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or the State Audit
Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
When the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand reads the annual
report, if the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand concludes that there is a
material misstatement therein, the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand is
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and the
Bank of Thailand Act, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Bank of Thailand’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing matters
related to going concern as applicable, and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank of
Thailand’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s objectives are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with the State Audit Standards and Thai Standards on Auditing will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s audit in
accordance with the State Audit Standards and Thai Standards on Auditing, the State
Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand exercises professional judgment and
maintains professional skepticism throughout the audit. The State Audit Office of the
Kingdom of Thailand also:
 Identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designs and
performs audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtains audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the
State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
 Obtains an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank of Thailand’s internal control.
 Evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by management.
 Concludes on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank of Thailand’s ability to
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continue as a going concern. If the State Audit Office of the Kingdom
of Thailand concludes that a material uncertainty exists, the State
Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand is required to draw attention
in the auditor’s report of the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of
Thailand to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the State Audit Office of
the Kingdom of Thailand’s opinion. The State Audit Office of the
Kingdom of Thailand’s conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report of the State Audit Office
of the Kingdom of Thailand. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Bank of Thailand to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluates the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
The State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand communicates with those
charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control if the State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand
identifies during the audit.

(Signed)
(Mr. Prajuck Boonyoung)
Auditor General

(Signed)
(Ms. Chitra Mekapongpanh)
Director of Financial and Procurement Audit Office No. 5

State Audit Office of the Kingdom of Thailand
March 27, 2019
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
Note

2018

2017

ASSETS
Cash and Deposits
Reserve Tranche and Special Drawing Right Holdings
Investment in Securities
Loans
Premises and Equipment
Other Assets
Total Assets

4
5
6
7
8
9

540,283,724,301
72,037,893,030
3,914,953,603,942
1,417,696,021
6,521,534,736
300,166,566,616
4,835,381,018,646

1,026,945,795,474
65,926,425,061
3,341,596,798,180
13,290,234,552
6,962,035,468
376,089,167,679
4,830,810,456,414

10
11
12
13
14

555,623,352,580
43,744,692,234
578,910,000,000
4,537,253,830,824
290,269,832,756
6,005,801,708,394

356,116,008,574
45,127,731,516
559,259,000,000
4,523,046,646,562
363,712,505,656
5,847,261,892,308

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Deposits
Special Drawing Right Allocations
Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements
Debt Securities Issued by the Bank of Thailand
Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
As at December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
Note
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (Continued)
Equity
Initial Capital
Statutory Appropriation
Reserve for Stabilization of Profit Payable
to the Government
Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve
Accumulated Losses
Net Loss for the Year
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

2018

2017

20,000,000
27,307,931,128

20,000,000
27,307,931,128

624,075,747
(241,093,823,236)
(880,220,698,008)
(77,058,175,379)
(1,170,420,689,748)
4,835,381,018,646

624,075,747
(164,983,727,289)
(807,603,942,044)
(71,815,773,436)
(1,016,451,435,894)
4,830,810,456,414

15
16
17
18

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

0.00

(Mr. Veerathai Santiprabhob)
Governor

(Mrs. Chanatip Jariyawiroj)
Senior Director, Finance and Accounting Department
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
Note
Income
Interest Income
Fee
Others
Total Income
Expenses
Interest Expense
Net Losses on Foreign Exchange
Net Losses on Sale of Investments
Personnel Expenses
Others
Total Expenses
Net Loss

19

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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2018

2017

108,535,549,485
560,814,711
922,501,705
110,018,865,901

65,878,349,581
516,725,180
1,920,618,896
68,315,693,657

89,759,297,823
65,619,342,175
17,933,784,372
5,152,640,978
8,611,975,932
187,077,041,280
(77,058,175,379)

80,964,404,040
43,734,134,566
4,782,517,456
5,079,556,281
5,570,854,750
140,131,467,093
(71,815,773,436)
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
2018
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Loss
Items that might be reclassified subsequently
to Profit or Loss
Change in Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to Profit or Loss
Actuarial Loss
Total Other Comprehensive Loss
Total Comprehensive Loss

2017

(77,058,175,379)

(71,815,773,436)

(76,110,095,947)

(197,103,592,431)

(800,982,528)
(76,911,078,475)
(153,969,253,854)

(1,768,428,126)
(198,872,020,557)
(270,687,793,993)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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20,000,000

27,307,931,128

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Total Comprehensive Loss
Balance as at December 31, 2018

Net Loss transferred to Accumulated Losses

-

20,000,000

Balance as at January 1, 2018

Changes during the Year

27,307,931,128

20,000,000
27,307,931,128

-

-

27,307,931,128

-

-

20,000,000

Statutory
Appropriation

Total Comprehensive Loss
Balance as at December 31, 2017

Net Loss transferred to Accumulated Losses

Changes during the Year

Balance as at January 1, 2017

Initial
Capital

624,075,747

-

624,075,747

624,075,747

-

-

624,075,747

Reserve for
Stabilization of
Profit Payable to
the Government

(76,110,095,947)
(241,093,823,236)

-

(164,983,727,289)

(164,983,727,289)

(197,103,592,431)

-

32,119,865,142

Assets and
Liabilities
Revaluation
Reserve

Bank of Thailand
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(800,982,528)
(880,220,698,008)

(71,815,773,436)

(807,603,942,044)

(807,603,942,044)

(1,768,428,126)

(80,807,332,038)

(725,028,181,880)

Accumulated
Losses

(270,687,793,993)

-

(745,763,641,901)

Total

(77,058,175,379)
(77,058,175,379)

71,815,773,436

(71,815,773,436)

(153,969,253,854)
(1,170,420,689,748)

-

(1,016,451,435,894)

(71,815,773,436) (1,016,451,435,894)

(71,815,773,436)

80,807,332,038

(80,807,332,038)

Net Profit (Loss)
for the Year

Unit : THB
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
2018

2017

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Loss
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net Cash
Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses
Gain on Disposal of Premises and Equipment
Write Off of Work in Progress
Net Loss on Sale of Investments
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Loss from Non-cash Foreign Assets and Liabilities
Cost Averaging
Gain on Forward Contracts under Resale
Agreements
Net Increase in Accrued Revenues
Net Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Expenses
Net (Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses
Cash Received on Interest Income
Cash Paid on Interest Expense
Loss from Operation before Changes in
Operating Assets and Liabilities

(77,058,175,379)

(71,815,773,436)

751,959,535
(4,919,034)
13,865,480
17,933,784,372
(108,535,549,485)
89,759,297,823

733,306,079
(1,265,134,154)
16,600,457
4,782,517,456
(65,878,349,581)
80,964,404,040

1,280,745,190

16,129,570,525

(26,327,335)
(34,245,461)
(121,385,098)
5,751,057
(76,035,198,335)
104,536,887,014
(63,869,735,756)

(39,106,529)
(26,592,641)
234,976,788
(5,068,747)
(36,168,649,743)
69,895,736,216
(54,937,108,619)

(35,368,047,077)

(21,210,022,146)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Bank of Thailand
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Unit : THB
Note
(Increase) Decrease in Operating Assets
Foreign Deposits
Reserve Tranche and Special Drawing Rights Holdings
Loans
Other Assets
Increase (Decrease) in Operating Liabilities
Deposits
Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements
Debt Securities Issued by the Bank of Thailand
Other Liabilities
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

2018

2017

265,750,943,080
(8,347,892,309)
11,827,071,408
15,183,843,507

(272,409,058,335)
837,604,450
98,677,228,728
(6,190,111,081)

199,512,263,834
19,651,000,000
(12,484,275,651)
(11,562,051,559)
444,162,855,233

68,972,646,500
248,953,000,000
326,043,707,569
(7,254,410,712)
436,420,584,973

(84,426,928,892)
25,451,000,000
(9,708,901,139,220)
9,090,749,211,344
(293,419,091)
4,930,912
(677,416,344,947)
8,213,341,239
(225,040,148,475)
548,351,275,565
323,311,127,090

(103,843,439,780)
39,112,000,000
(6,721,473,949,929)
6,369,337,036,336
(1,047,267,627)
1,283,394,492
(416,632,226,508)
(29,631,007,068)
(9,842,648,603)
558,193,924,168
548,351,275,565

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Purchase of Domestic Securities
Proceeds from Sale of Domestic Securities
Purchase of Foreign Securities
Proceeds from Sale of Foreign Securities
Purchase of Premises and Equipment
Proceeds from Disposal of Premises and Equipment
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve on Cash
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year

4

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Bank of Thailand
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
1. General Information
The Bank of Thailand (the BOT) was established by the Bank of Thailand Act, B.E. 2485 as
amended (the BOT Act). The BOT’s objectives are to carry out central banking functions to
maintain monetary stability, financial institutions system stability and payment systems stability.
2. Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements
The financial statements of the BOT have been prepared in accordance with Section 54 of the
BOT Act, stipulating that accounts of the BOT shall comply with generally accepted accounting
principles, except for matters which the BOT Board deems necessary and appropriate to follow
generally accepted practices of other central banks. Generally accepted accounting principles refer
to Thai Financial Reporting Standards under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547, including
guidelines promulgated by the Thailand Federation of Accounting Professions.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards requires the BOT Management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, thus actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized prospectively.
The financial statements are the accounts of the BOT, not including those of the Currency
Reserve, the Note Issuance Business and the Financial Institutions Development Fund (FIDF),
and have been prepared under historical cost basis unless otherwise disclosed in Note 3
(Summary of Significant Accounting Policies).
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
3.1 Revenue and Expenses Recognition
3.1.1 Interest revenue are recognized on a time proportion basis using effective yield
method unless otherwise disclosed. Other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis.
3.1.2 Interest expenses are recognized on a time proportion basis and other expenses
are recognized on an accrual basis. The expense caused by negative interest rates on foreign
deposits is presented as a part of interest expense.
3.2 Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Recognition
Unrealized gains or losses from revaluation of assets and liabilities of the BOT are
presented in the Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve under the equity section as prescribed
under Section 16 of the BOT Act.
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3.3 Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Thai Baht at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At year-end, assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are revalued into Thai Baht at the exchange rates prevailing
on the reporting date, in accordance with the BOT’s guideline. Unrealized gains or losses from
revaluation of foreign assets and liabilities are presented in the Assets and Liabilities Revaluation
Reserve under the equity section.
Gains or losses from foreign currency transactions are recognized in the statement of
income when the position of each foreign currency is decreased. Whenever the position of any
foreign currency increases during the day, the cost of such foreign currency is calculated by
using the weighted average cost (WAC) method. WAC is also used as the cost of the same
foreign currency sold on the same day. This accounting policy is consistent with the practices of
other central banks, and is prescribed by the BOT Board by virtue of the BOT Act.
3.4 Derivatives
Derivatives are used to manage international reserves and hedge risks arising from
fluctuation of bond price, exchange rate, or interest rate. All derivatives are presented at fair
value, and are revalued to Thai Baht at the exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date.
Unrealized gains or losses from changes in the fair value are presented in the Assets and Liabilities
Revaluation Reserve under the equity section, and are recognized in the statement of income when
the contracts are early terminated, right exercised, contracts expired, or cash margin are settled.
3.5 Foreign Exchange Swap Contracts
Foreign exchange swap contracts are used for the purpose of liquidity management.
Foreign exchange swap is an agreement to simultaneously exchange one currency against another
with two different value dates. The outstanding claims and obligations are revalued to Thai Baht
at the exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date, and net value changes are presented in
the statement of financial position. Unrealized gains or losses from revaluation of the outstanding
obligations are presented in the Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve under the equity
section. Differences between the spot and forward exchange rates are treated as interest income
or interest expense on a time proportion basis.
3.6 Investment in Securities
Domestic securities are held to maturity for the purpose of monetary policy
implementation and are stated at amortized cost.
Foreign securities, including those managed by external fund managers, are held for
the purpose of international reserve management and are stated at fair value. Unrealized gains
or losses from revaluation are presented in the Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve under
the equity section, and are recognized in the statement of income on disposal.
cost basis.
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The cost of securities sold during the year is calculated based on the weighted average
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3.7 Loans
Loans are stated at carrying balances of principals. The accrued interests are included
in “Other Assets”.
3.8 Premises and Equipment
Land is stated at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation.
Buildings and equipment are capitalized when their useful lives are over one year.
The depreciation is calculated by using the straight-line method, based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets, as follows:
Type of Assets
Useful Life
Buildings, Temporary Buildings and Improvements
5-20 years
3-15 years
Equipment
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of the assets are reviewed at
each financial year-end.
3.9 Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. The amortization
is allocated by using the straight-line method over five years.
3.10 Heritage Assets
The BOT holds some antique objects which are considered heritage assets, such as
antique coins, banknotes, and textiles which have been acquired through purchase or donation.
They are held and maintained for the purpose of preservation and exhibition at the BOT’s
museum, not for central bank’s function. Since 2005, purchased antiques have been recorded
as assets at acquisition prices and presented under “Other Assets”. The BOT does not record
the antiques received from donation as assets. A registry containing detail of all the items held at
the museum is used for control purposes.
3.11 Securities Borrowing Facility
The BOT borrowed debt securities from specialized financial institutions and/or
juristic persons, as prescribed by the BOT, and issued the BOT debt securities as collateral. The
BOT has conducted securities borrowing facility transactions to enhance the efficiency of
monetary policy implementation as well as to foster the development of money market and debt
securities market in Thailand.
The securities borrowing facility fee is recognized in the statement of income.
The borrowing amount is disclosed in “Commitments and Contingencies”. When the BOT sold
the borrowed debt securities under repurchase agreement, the amount of claim on debt securities
under repurchase agreement is presented in “Other Assets” and the amount of obligations to
return debt securities is presented in “Other Liabilities”.
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3.12 Post-employment Benefits
3.12.1 Defined Contribution Plans
The BOT’s Rules and Regulations for Provident Fund stipulated that the BOT
and employees who are members of the provident fund make contributions to the provident
fund in accordance with the prescribed conditions. This provident fund is registered under the
Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The contributions paid to the provident fund, made by the BOT,
are charged as expense in the statement of income.
3.12.2 Defined Benefit Plans
Defined benefit plans include pension plan, as prescribed by the BOT’s Rules and
Regulations for Pension Fund, and post-employment medical plan, as prescribed by the Rules and
Regulations for Medical Care.
The obligations under defined benefit plans are calculated by using actuarial
valuation method, the Projected Unit Credit Method, and are presented at present value as
employee benefit obligations. The BOT recognized all related expenses in the statement of income
and all actuarial gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income in the period occurred.
4. Cash and Deposits

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash
75,332
75,407
Domestic Demand Deposits
3
4
Foreign Demand Deposits
247,976
472,940
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
323,311
548,351
Foreign Time and Special Deposits
216,973
478,595
Total
540,284
1,026,946
Foreign Time Deposits are held for international reserve management purposes rather than
for the short-term cash commitment purpose.
5. Reserve Tranche and Special Drawing Right Holdings

Unit : Million THB
2017
2018

Reserve Tranche
Quota Subscribed in International Monetary Fund (IMF) 144,809
Less: IMF Current Account No. 1
(14,007)
Promissory Notes Payable to IMF
(103,042)
27,760
Special Drawing Right Holdings
44,278
Total
72,038
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149,387
(24,482)
(104,424)
20,481
45,445
65,926
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6. Investment in Securities

Bank of Thailand

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017

Domestic Securities - Stated at amortized cost
Government Bonds
Total Domestic Securities
Foreign Securities - Stated at fair value
Treasury Bills and Short-term Debt Securities
Treasury Bonds and Long-term Debt Securities
Investment in Equities
Investment in Asian Bond Fund
Total Foreign Securities
Total
7. Loans

405,561
405,561

349,562
349,562

603,265
2,831,775
54,412
19,941
3,509,393
3,914,954

472,570
2,499,394

20,071
2,992,035
3,341,597

Loans to financial institutions for flood

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
11,541
-

Loans to the IMF under the NAB
Total

1,418
1,418

1,749
13,290

The loans to financial institutions for flood have been provided in accordance with the
Emergency Decree on Financial Aids for Person Damaged by Flood, B.E. 2555.
The loans to the IMF under the New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB) is the commitment
with the IMF as mentioned in Note 21.8.1.
8. Premises and Equipment

Unit : Million THB
2018
Cost

Opening
Balance

Land
2,193
Buildings
5,236
Equipment
4,641
Work in progress
671
Total
12,741

Increases

325
366
272
963

Accumulated Depreciation

Decreases

48
754
802

Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Increases

Decreases

Closing
Balance

2,193
5,561
4,959
189
12,902

3,218
2,561
- .
5,779

211
437
- .
648

47
- .
47

3,429
2,951
- .
6,380

Net

2,193
2,132
2,008
189
6,522

Bank of Thailand

165

8. Premises and Equipment (continued)

Unit : Million THB
2017

Cost
Opening
Balance

Land
2,200
Buildings
4,806
Equipment
3,882
Work in progress 1,115
Total
12,003

Increases

Decreases

454
902
972
2,328

7
24
143
1,416
1,590

Accumulated Depreciation
Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Increases

Decreases

Closing
Balance

2,193
5,236
4,641
671
12,741

2,998
2,320
- .
5,318

240
377
- .
617

20
136
- .
156

3,218
2,561
- .
5,779

Net

2,193
2,018
2,080
671
6,962

Depreciation expenses for the year 2018 and 2017 were THB648 million and THB617 million,
respectively.
The BOT board approved the sell of land in Surat Thani, Nakhon Ratchasima, and Rayong amounted to THB273 million, as a result, these lands were reclassified as “Other Assets”.
9. Other Assets
Quota Subscribed in the IMF - THB
Claim on Debt Securities under Repurchase Agreement
Accrued Income
Subscription in Other Organizations
Others
Total

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
117,049
128,906
139,331
207,570
24,287
20,278
1,487
1,534
18,012
17,801
300,166
376,089

The item “Others” as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to THB18,012 million and
THB17,801 million, respectively. They included the net balances of intangible assets (computer
software and systems) amounted to THB217 million. Their balances comprised a beginning
balance amounted to THB1,653 million, additions amounted to THB82 million, disposals
amounted to THB6 million and accumulated amortization amounted to THB1,512 million.
Amortization expenses for the year 2018 were THB104 million.
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10. Deposits
Non Interest-Bearing Deposits
Government
Financial Institutions
Others
Interest-Bearing Deposits
Total

Bank of Thailand

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
382,454
141,915
7,780
532,149
23,474
555,623

184,107
130,207
14,129
328,443
27,673
356,116

The interest-bearing deposits facility is an instrument to facilitate end-of-day liquidity
adjustment of financial institutions, and serves to ensure appropriate money market interest rate
for the transmission of monetary policy, as well as for the development of the money market.
11. Special Drawing Right Allocations
The IMF’s member countries are allocated Special Drawing Right in proportion to their
subscriptions in the IMF. As at December 31, 2 0 1 8 and 2017, the BOT was allocated the balance
of SDR970 million, which was equivalent to THB43,745 million and THB45,128 million, respectively.
12. Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements
The outstanding balances of the securities sold under repurchase agreements in
the domestic market as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were THB578,910 million and
THB559,259 million, respectively.
13. Debt Securities Issued by the Bank of Thailand
Bank of Thailand Bonds
Remaining Maturity:
- 1 year or less
- over 1 year
Less: Held by the BOT
Other BOT Debt Securities
(Remaining maturity less than 1 year)
Total

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
2,457,494
1,010,073
(65,333)
3,402,234
1,135,020

2,278,482
756,357
(11,292)
3,023,547
1,499,500

4,537,254

4,523,047
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13. Debt Securities Issued by the Bank of Thailand (continued)
The BOT has issued BOT bonds and BOT debt securities to be used as monetary policy
instruments as well as to foster the development of money market and debt securities market in
Thailand. In 2018, the interest paid on BOT bonds and BOT debt securities amounted to
THB47,019 million and THB23,481 million, respectively. The interest paid is presented as part of
interest expense.
BOT bonds held by the BOT resulted from the repurchase of BOT bonds to facilitate
liquidity management in the money market.
14. Other Liabilities
IMF Current Accounts No. 1 and 2
Promissory Notes Payable to the IMF
Obligations to Return Debt Securities
Net Liabilities from Foreign Exchange Swaps
Employee Benefit Obligations
Accrued Expenses
Others
Total

Unit : Million THB
2017
2018
14,007
24,482
103,042
104,424
139,331
207,570
12,882
8,413
7,832
7,290
7,770
8,239
5,406
3,294
290,270
363,712

Employee Benefit Obligations as at December 31, 2018 included the obligation from pension
plan amounted to THB5,129 million and the obligation from post-employment medical plan
amounted to THB2,703 million. Changes in the present value of the employee benefit obligations
are presented as follows:
Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
Employee Benefit Obligations as at January 1
7,290
5,795
Current service cost
138
131
Interest cost
135
141
Benefit paid and transferred during the year
(532)
(545)
Actuarial loss
801
1,768
Employee Benefit Obligations as at December 31
7,832
7,290
The Significant Actuarial Assumptions
Average discount rates
Average rate of increase in salaries
Medical cost trend growth rate
Mortality
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6.50%
2.00%
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15. Statutory Appropriation
In 2002, THB165,000 million was transferred from the Special Reserve Account of
the Currency Reserve to the BOT in accordance with the Emergency Decree on the Partial Transfer
of Assets from the Special Reserve Account, B.E. 2545 in order to compensate for
the accumulated losses and to enhance the stability of the BOT. The residual amount, after
deducting the accumulated losses of THB27,308 million was presented as Statutory Appropriation.
Since 2002, there has been no movement in this account.
16. Reserve for Stabilization of Profit Payable to the Government
As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding balance of the Reserve for Stabilization of Profit
Payable to the Government was THB624 million. This reserve was accumulated from net profit
after appropriation for the year 1990 - 1996 in order to maintain the profit payable to the government.
The Ministry of Finance (MOF) gave consent to the profit appropriation rule. The balance of this
account could be transferred as additional public revenue upon request by the MOF. Since 2002,
no profit appropriation has been made to this account.
17. Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017

Unrealized Losses from Foreign Exchange Revaluation of
Assets and Liabilities
(256,078)
Unrealized Gains (Losses) from Price Revaluation of Investments 15,924
Unrealized Gains (Losses) from Revaluation of Derivatives
(931)
Unrealized Gains (Losses) from Revaluation of Forward
Contracts under Resale Agreements
(9)
Total
(241,094)

(160,123)
(5,087)
223
3
(164,984)

Subject to Section 13 (2) of the BOT Act, the Assets and Liabilities Revaluation Reserve is
established to accumulate gains or losses derived from the revaluation of the BOT’s assets and
liabilities.
18. Accumulated Losses
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding balances of Accumulated Losses were
THB880, 221 million and THB807,604 million, respectively. Changes to the Accumulated Losses
are set out in the statement of change in equity.
For the year 2018, the losses were due to foreign exchange losses and interest payments on
liquidity-absorption monetary policy operations which were conducted in accordance with the roles
and responsibilities of the BOT to maintain economic stability. The accumulated loss has no impact
on the continued operation of the BOT.
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19. Other Expenses
Losses from Derivatives
Depreciation and Amortization
External Fund Manager Management Fees
Others
Total

Unit : Million THB
2018
2017
5,419
2,553
752
733
848
756
1,529
1,593
8,612
5,571

Losses from derivatives were mainly from futures contracts which were used to enhance
the efficiency of international reserve management and to reduce the interest rate and bond price
risks.
20. Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
The key management personnel of the BOT refers to the Governor, Deputy Governors, and
members of the Boards and committees established under the BOT Act who have responsibility for
planning, directing and supervising the activities of the BOT. In 2018 and 2017, total remuneration
paid to key management personnel were THB62 million and THB61 million, respectively.
21. Commitments and Contingencies
As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding commitments and contingencies of the BOT
were as follows:
21.1 Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts
The BOT had net outstanding obligations to buy foreign currencies equivalent to
USD837 million and to sell foreign currencies equivalent to USD840 million, which will be due in 2019.
Furthermore, the BOT had the outstanding obligations under resale agreements to sell
Japanese Yen equivalent to USD3 million, which will be due in 2019 - 2020.
The fair values of such forward contracts were presented in Note 9 (Other Assets) or
Note 14 (Other Liabilities).
21.2 Foreign Exchange Swap Contracts
The BOT had net outstanding obligations under foreign exchange swap contracts to
buy foreign currencies equivalent to USD61,565 million and to sell foreign currencies equivalent
to USD29,333 million, which will be due in 2019.
The net outstanding of such foreign exchange swap contracts was presented in Note 14
(Other Liabilities).
21.3 Foreign Exchange Option Contracts
The BOT had net outstanding obligations under foreign exchange option contracts to
buy foreign currencies equivalent to USD766 million and to sell foreign currencies equivalent to
USD255 million, which will be due in 2019.
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21.4 Futures Contracts
The BOT had net outstanding obligations under bond futures contracts to sell bonds
equivalent to USD974 million, which will be due in 2019 - 2020. Furthermore, the BOT had
outstanding obligations under interest rate futures contracts to sell USD130 million, which will
be due in 2019 - 2022.
21.5 Mortgage Backed Securities (To Be Announced - TBA)
The BOT had net outstanding obligations to buy mortgage backed securities (TBA)
equivalent to USD377 million, which will be due in 2019.
21.6 Securities Borrowing Facility
The BOT had outstanding obligations to return the borrowed debt securities, due in
2019 - 2032, amounting to THB144,971 million, which will be due in 2019 - 2032. Borrowed debt
securities sold under repurchase agreements are presented in Note 9 (Other Assets) and Note 14
(Other Liabilities).
21.7 Other Agreements with Central Banks
21.7.1 The BOT has been part of the ASEAN Swap Arrangement (ASA), which
provides liquidity support among ASEAN member countries since 1977. Under the ASA, the BOT
is obliged to contribute up to USD300 million and may request up to 2 times its contribution, or
USD600 million. In 2017, the BOT renewed the ASA for two years, which will remain in effect until
November 16, 2019. In 2018, neither the BOT nor its counterparties activated the arrangement.
21.7.2 The BOT, together with the Ministry of Finance of Thailand, have been parties
to the Chiang Mai Initiative Multilateralisation (CMIM) Agreement since March 24, 2010, which
provides liquidity support to ASEAN member countries, China, Japan and South Korea. The
Agreement was amended on July 17, 2014 to enhance the effectiveness of the financing mechanism.
That is, should a CMIM member face potential or actual financial difficulties, the BOT is obliged
to contribute up to USD9,104 million. The BOT may also request up to 2.5 times of its contribution
amount, or USD22,760 million. In 2018, neither the BOT nor its counterparties activated the
agreement.
21.7.3 The BOT and the Bank of Japan (the BOJ), acting as agent for the Ministry of
Finance of Japan, signed the Amendment and Restatement Agreement of the fourth Bilateral
Swap Arrangement (BSA) on July 23, 2018. This BSA aims to provide financial support when a
country experiences actual or potential financial difficulties. This BSA would also strengthen
bilateral cooperation by reinforcing the stability of financial markets and further facilitate growing
economic and trade relations between the two countries. Under this BSA, the BOT and the BOJ
can make swap transactions in their local currencies (i.e. Thai Baht and Japanese Yen, respectively)
against US dollars. This amendment additionally enables the BOT to swap its local currency
against the Japanese Yen. The size of the facility is up to USD3,000 million for the period of
three years. In 2018, neither the BOT nor the counterparty activated the arrangement.
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21.7 Other Agreements with Central Banks (continued)
21.7.4 The BOT has renewed the Chinese Yuan/Thai Baht Bilateral Currency Swap
Arrangement (BSA) with the People's Bank of China (PBC) with an aim to facilitate the use of
local currencies in bilateral trade and direct investment settlement between the two countries.
The BSA will make available a swap line with an amount of CNY70,000 million, or equivalent to
THB370,000 million, and will be effective for three years from December 22, 2017. In 2018, neither
the BOT nor its counterparties activated the arrangement and none of the financial institutions
in Thailand has applied for the swap line usage.
21.8 Commitments with the International Monetary Fund (IMF)
The BOT, with the consent of the Finance Minister, has commitments with the IMF
as follows:
21.8.1 New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB) amounted up to SDR340 million, which
will expire on November 16, 2022. The IMF made partial calls on the NAB from the BOT as
presented in Note 7 (Loans).
21.8.2 The Note Purchase Agreement (NPA) under the 2016 bilateral borrowing
framework, amounted up to USD4,000 million, which will expire on December 31, 2019 and can
be extended for one year, subject to the BOT’s consent.
21.9 Contingent Liabilities on Lawsuits
As at December 31, 2018, the BOT was involved in certain legal actions and claims
arising from the ordinary course of business amounting to THB623 million. All cases are
in process of court trial. However, the estimated amount of these claims, if the final judgment
is made, will not have any material adverse effect on the BOT’s financial position and operations.
22. Risk Management at the Bank of Thailand
The Enterprise Risk Management Department (ERM) is a core unit responsible for
implementing BOT’s risk management framework and ensuring adherence to the principle of
good governance. Internal risk management process is under the supervision of Risk Management
Committee (RMC) and Financial Risk Management Sub-Committee (FRMC) of the BOT. In
addition, Risk Oversight Committee (ROC), with members drawn from non-executive directors
of the BOT Board as well as external experts appointed by the BOT Board, is responsible for
overseeing the BOT’s overall risk management policy to assure that the BOT Board is kept
informed of key risks that may have potential significant impact on the BOT.
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22.1 Financial Risk Management
22.1.1 The BOT’s Financial Risks
The key financial risks for the BOT are as follows:
22.1.1.1 The BOT’s assets are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk as they are
mostly denominated in foreign currencies as a result of monetary and exchange rate policy
implementation to ensure a stable financial environment. The BOT’s liabilities, on the other hand,
are mostly denominated in Thai Baht.
22.1.1.2 Interest rate risk emerges when the interest rate in domestic market,
resulting from the conduct of monetary policy, is different from the interest rate in foreign
markets where the BOT invests.
22.1.2 Financial Risk Management of International Reserves
Management of international reserves takes into consideration financial
security, liquidity, return, and risk management. Investment of the international reserves in
foreign assets has inherent financial risks, namely market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The main objectives of financial risk management of international reserves consist of:
a. Preserving the value of the international reserves when measured in terms
of major currencies, and
b. Ensuring that financial risks of the international reserves are within
an acceptable level, and that such risks are well diversified.
approaches:

Financial risks of the reserves are managed in accordance with the following

22.1.2.1 Market risk is the risk of loss due to changes in the market value of
assets or currencies. Risk factors that lead to market risk are interest rate risk, incurred from
investment in fixed-income securities, foreign exchange rate risk, incurred from investment in foreign
currencies, and equity price risk, incurred from investment in equities.
The BOT manages market risk by setting the benchmark investment
portfolio, in which asset and currency allocations are set in accordance with optimal risk/return
trade-off, according to each portfolio’s objectives, and within the BOT Board’s risk tolerance limit.
In addition, limits, such as tracking error limits, are set to ensure that risks from active management
are within an acceptable level.
The benchmark investment portfolio is constructed by standard
methodology, to obtain optimal asset and currency compositions which yield the highest return
at a given total risk level. The BOT also performs risk analysis by carrying out stress-tests to
estimate potential impacts of various market scenarios on the reserves.
22.1.2.2 Credit risk is the risk that the BOT’s counterparties or the issuers
of the securities held by the BOT may default or may be unable to fulfill their financial obligations
to the BOT. It includes the risk of deterioration in the value of securities from the downgrade of
issue or of credit rating of issuer.
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22.1.2 Financial Risk Management of International Reserves (continued)
The BOT controls credit risk by setting minimum credit rating and
exposure limits, including:
(1) Minimum Credit Rating, which is set for counterparties and
issuers to limit the credit value-at-risk to a low level.
(2) Aggregate Credit Exposure Limits, which are set for
counterparties and issuers in the form of deposit-equivalent exposure in aggregate.
(3) Individual Credit Exposure Limit, which is set for each
counterparty based on its credit rating. The limit may also be reduced based on indicators of
potential credit downgrading.
(4) Sovereign Credit Limits, based on country credit ratings, are also
used as constraints in portfolio benchmark construction.
22.1.2.3 Liquidity risk is the risk of loss arising from the inability to liquidate
assets at a reasonable price within the specified period.
The management of liquidity risk focuses on setting appropriate
levels for illiquid assets based on the BOT’s needs, and the cost-benefit comparisons between
the returns from liquidity premiums and the costs of liquidation.
22.2 Integrated Operational Risk Management
The BOT has implemented operational risk management tools and procedures in line
with international standards. To ensure successful achievement of its mandates, the BOT
established Enterprise Risk Management Policy and continued to improve its operational risk
management arrangement in response to changing environments. Key BOT’s operational risk
management tools are:
(1) Control Self-Assessment (CSA): The BOT requires all departments to annually
conduct the CSA in order to identify and assess risks associated with their operations and
initiatives. These risk assessment results, in turn, assist the departments in improving efficiency
and effectiveness of their processes.
(2) Key Risk Indicators (KRIs): The tools are employed to monitor the BOT’s material
risk exposures. Key risk results together with the respective outlooks are reported to the RMC on a
quarterly basis, in order to establish corrective or preventive controls correspondingly.
(3) Operational Risk Incident Reporting: The BOT required any department incurring
the loss and the responsible departments to report a loss incident or a near-miss event through
the in-house Risk Management System (RMS). The RMS serves as a database for risk events
which will be used for analyzing and identifying appropriate controls to prevent future
occurrences.
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22.2 Integrated Operational Risk Management (continued)
(4) Business Continuity Management: In 2018, the BOT is in the process of enhancing
its business continuity management system to be in compliance with ISO 22301: 2012 Business
Continuity Management Systems. In this regard, the BOT established the BOT’s Business Continuity
Management Policy to describe objectives and framework for establishing a Business Continuity
Management System (BCMS) within the BOT. Furthermore, the BOT conducted exercises to test
its Business Continuity Plan (BCP) every year. The exercises encompassed scenarios such as a
major Information Technology (IT) disruption, a fire, a bomb threat and included an annual calltree exercise. These exercises help to ensure the BOT’s readiness in responding to any
contingencies and being able to carry out its mandates in times of emergency and crisis.
In addition, the BOT strengthened operational risk management by putting forth both
compliance risk management and IT risk management as follows:
(1) Compliance Risk Management: The BOT issued an internal regulation on
compliance risk management, set up database on BOT-related legislations and developed
compliance KRIs to ensure that the BOT’s operations adhere to applicable laws and regulations.
In addition, the scope of financial risk compliance has been expanded to enhance the operational
risk compliance aspect of reserve management and monetary operations.
(2) Information Technology Risk Management: The BOT established IT risk
management policies and framework, identified, analyzed, and monitored IT risks; and continued
to enhance the BOT’s capabilities to effectively protect, detect, and respond to IT risks and cyber
threats as well as to comply with IT-related regulations and standards. In 2018, key actions taken
included establishing data governance framework and conducting Cyber Security Incident Response
table-top exercise, which not only assessed BOT’s internal readiness, but also coordination across
the banking and financial sector.
23. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
23.1 Fair Values Hierarchy of Financial Assets and Liabilities
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair values were presented as follows:
Unit : Million THB
2018
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
Financial Assets
Foreign securities
2,067,159
1,442,234
3,509,393
Derivative assets
200
848
- .
1,048
Total
2,067,359
1,443,082
- . 3,510,441
Financial Liabilities
Derivative liabilities
93
790
883
Resale liabilities
- .
22
- .
22
Total
93
812
905
.
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23.1 Fair Values Hierarchy of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Unit : Million THB
2017
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
Financial Assets
Foreign securities
1,823,393
1,168,642
2,992,035
Derivative assets
69
260
- .
329
Total
1,823,462
1,168,902
2,992,364
.
Financial Liabilities
Derivative liabilities
18
87
105
Resale liabilities
- .
37
- .
37
Total
18
124
142
23.2 Fair Values Hierarchy
Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in the active markets for identical assets and
liabilities that the BOT can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 - calculated by pricing models which are widely used in the market, and
inputs are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - calculated by pricing models, and inputs are unobservable for the assets or
liabilities.
23.3 Valuation Methods and Techniques used in Fair Value Measurement
Fair values of foreign securities are based on market prices published by a widely
recognized market price provider. Normally, the price providers take into account liquidity of
the securities as well as liquidity of the securities markets in determining the valuation methods.
For fair values of liquid securities, providers will directly use the prices quoted by groups of
designated dealers. For fair values of illiquid securities or illiquid markets, in absence of credible
market quotes, providers will carry out calculation using a pricing model with market prices
input from comparable assets or liabilities.
For derivatives instruments, fair values are measured by using valuation techniques
such as cash flow discounting and models generally adopted in the market. Observed market
data such as interest rate and exchange rate are used in the calculation.
24. Approval of the Financial Statements
On March 27, 2019, the BOT Board authorized the issuance of these financial statements.
_________________________________________
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The Bank of Thailand Board
as of 31 December 2018
Chairman
Deputy-Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Secretary
Assistant Secretary

Mr. Porametee
Mr. Veerathai
Mr. Paiboon
Mr. Mathee
Mr. Ronadol
Mr. Thosaportn
Mr. Lavaron
Mr. Suthad
Mr. Sethaput
Miss Jaruvan
Mr. Lersuk
Mr. Manas
Mr. Pruettipong
Mrs. Sureeratana

Vimolsiri
Santiprabhob
Kittisrikangwan
Supapongse
Numnonda
Sirisumphand
Sangsnit
Setboonsarng
Suthiwart-Narueput
Hengtrakool
Chuladesa
Jamveha
Srimachand
Luckananit

Mr. Veerathai
Mr. Paiboon
Mr. Mathee
Mr. Ronadol
Mr. Woraporn
Mrs. Chantavarn
Miss Nawaporn
- vacant Mr. Jaturong
Mrs. Supawadee
Mr. Somboon
Mr. Titanun
Miss Vachira
Mrs. Wajeetip
Mr. Pruettipong
Miss Siritida

Santiprabhob
Kittisrikangwan
Supapongse
Numnonda
Tangsaghasaksri
Sucharitakul
Maharagkaga

The Bank of Thailand Executives
as of 31 December 2018

Governor		
Deputy Governor, Corporate Support Services and Banknote Management
Deputy Governor, Monetary Stability		
Deputy Governor, Financial Institutions Stability		
Assistant Governor, Human Resources and Organization Development Group
Assistant Governor, Corporate Strategy and Relations Group
Assistant Governor, Planning and Budgeting Group		
Assistant Governor, Information Technology Group		
Assistant Governor, Supervision Group		
Assistant Governor, Internal Audit Group		
Assistant Governor, Banknote Management Group		
Assistant Governor, Monetary Policy Group		
Assistant Governor, Financial Markets Operations Group
Assistant Governor, Financial Institutions Policy Group		
Assistant Governor, Management Assistance Group		
Assistant Governor, Payment Systems Policy and Financial Technology Group
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